
Date Published:5 August 2019     

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee

Tuesday 13 August 2019 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES Stephen Bace

2  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS Stephen Bace

3  CALL-IN OF CABINET DECISION (Pages 1 - 162)

The Chief Executive has received notification that five members wish
to call in the decision made by the Cabinet on 24 July 2019
on the Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire.

The signatories to the call-in are:

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Lesley Williams
Cllr Rachel Smith
Cllr Eva Ward
Cllr Kate Haigh

Membership –  Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-Chairman), Cllr Andrew Gravells, 
Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chairman), Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, 
Cllr Shaun Parsons and Cllr Steve Robinson

Added Members - 

Co-Opted Member - 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

meeting, please contact:
Stephen Bace, Senior Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny Team)
:01452 324204/fax: 425850/e-mail: stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


1

 ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
13 August 2019

Call-in of Cabinet decision taken on 24 July 2019

Future provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire

1 Background

1.1 This decision has been called in, in accordance with the Council’s constitution.  
The following information is attached to the report:
Appendix 1 – Call-in notice
Appendix 2 – Cabinet Decision Statement 24 July 2019
Appendix 3 – The report considered by the Cabinet on 24 July 2019

1.2 The Constitution sets out the call-in procedure rules. Any decision which is the 
responsibility of the Cabinet, but not yet implemented, can be called-in within a 
prescribed timescale. Call-in should only be used in exceptional circumstances 
and be invoked only when there is evidence to suggest one or more of the 
prescribed grounds have been satisfied.

1.3 On 24 July 2019 the following five members called in the Cabinet decision:
 

Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Cllr Lesley Williams
Cllr Rachel Smith
Cllr Eva Ward
Cllr Kate Haigh

2 Decision by the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

2.1 Whether the committee agrees, wholly or partially with any of the grounds set 
out in the call-in notice.

2.2 Which of the options set out in paragraph 3.4 of this report is to be adopted 
and, if any, what qualifications, comments, modifications and/or alternatives 
are to accompany that decision.

3 Call-in procedure

3.1 The first stage in the process is for the committee to decide whether it agrees, 
wholly or partially with the grounds for call-in.

3.2 The call in notice states that the matter contravened is:

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2

 (Call in Procedure rule 3.3) In making the decision, the Cabinet, Leader 
of Council or Cabinet Member took account of an irrelevant matter or 
failed to take account of a relevant matter.

 (Call in Procedure rule 3.4) The Cabinet, the Leader of the Council or a 
Cabinet Member or Officer under delegated powers acted contrary to 
the Cabinet Procedure Rules, the Access to Information about the 
County Council’s Formal Business and/ or the principles of decision 
making set out in Part 2, Article 7.02 of the Constitution

o (Part 2, Para 7.02.3) – They should take proper consultation with 
others.

o (Part 2 Para 7.02.8) – They should be properly reasoned and 
alternatives that are discounted should be identified and the 
reasons for their rejection explained adequately. 

3.3 If the committee does agree with the grounds for call-in then members will 
need to consider the report presented at the Cabinet meeting on 24 July 2019 
(Appendix 3), the Cabinet Decision Statement for that meeting (Appendix 2)  
and the response from the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning.

Page 2



3

3.4 The following options are available to the committee:
3.4.1 Support the decision without qualification or comment (in which case it can be 

implemented immediately without being considered again by the Cabinet, 
Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member). 

3.4.2 Make adverse comments regarding the process when set against the guiding 
principles for decision-making, but no adverse view on the decision itself (in 
which case it can be implemented immediately, with the committee’s 
comments being set out in a report and considered by the Cabinet, Leader of 
the Council or Cabinet Member).

3.4.3 Propose modifications to the decision or an alternative to the decision to 
achieve the same effect (in which case the implementation is delayed until the 
Cabinet, Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member has received and 
considered a report of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee 
and decided how to proceed).

3.4.4 In exceptional circumstances (which shall be determined by the Adult Social 
Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee and recorded in the minutes) 
arrange for the full Council to review or scrutinise a decision and decide 
whether or not to recommend the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or Cabinet 
Member to reconsider the decision and/or consider an alternative decision 
recommended by full Council.   If full Council does not recommend the 
Cabinet, Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member to reconsider the decision 
and/or consider an alternative decision, the called in decision may be 
implemented immediately. If full Council does recommend the Cabinet, Leader 
of the Council or Cabinet Member to reconsider the decision and/or consider 
an alternative decision the called in decision shall not be implemented until the 
Cabinet, Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member has considered the 
recommendation of full Council and decided how to proceed.

3.4.5 In the event the decision is further considered by the Cabinet or Cabinet 
Member, the Cabinet or Cabinet Member may do any of the following and the 
reasons for its or his choice will be published and reported to the next meeting 
of the committee.
1 Confirm the called-in decision without modification.
2 Confirm the called-in decision with modification.
3 Rescind the called-in decision, take the alternative decision 

recommended by full Council or (if considered appropriate) propose a 
new one. 

3.4.6 If the Committee does not agree with the grounds for call-in, then the Cabinet 
decision stands.

Page 3



4

Response from Cllr Roger Wilson, the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning

Context

Closing a care home, under any circumstances, always needs to be handled with 
sensitivity given the impact it has on residents, their families, staff and the wider 
community. We do not do this lightly. However, it is important to note that any call-in 
looks at concerns with the administrative process of a decision – not at the reasoning 
behind it. 

Consultation

Engagement and consultation are processes that are used to share information, 
acquire new information and test ideas as part of change management. Consultation 
involves engagement with people, engagement is not necessarily consultation unless 
specified as such. 

Previous consultation has been undertaken as part of the Older People’s Care Home 
Strategy, which was approved by Cabinet in June 2019. This included the wider 
community, older people in care homes and those living in their own homes. 
The Strategy clearly states:

 the Council’s intention to reduce the number of people in permanent care and 
increase the range of services in the community and

 the council will discuss with residents and their families the closure of residential 
only care homes and care homes that cannot provide an appropriate 
environment to meet the care needs of older people.

Due to the nature of the proposals, we then sought professional advice from the 
Consultation Institute who are experts in public and stakeholder engagement and 
consultation for the public, private and voluntary sectors and who supply services to 
over 300 UK public bodies.  

The Institute advised that with decision making deadlines being tight there was the 
need to act swiftly to:

i. Avoid prolonging the uncertainty, and,
ii. Undertake an engagement exercise to:

a. explain draft proposals, the case for change, Council’s understanding of actual 
and potential impacts, impact mitigation measures, and, 

b. give residents, their relations and carers the opportunity to discuss and debate 
proposals and suggest alternatives, as part of an opportunity to influence 
thinking, before the Council decides whether to close the homes.

The Institute advised that engagement was needed because, though there had been 
earlier consultation around strategy, there had not been specific work with interested 
parties on a locality basis. 

Page 4



5

They suggested that we call a group together in each home comprising residents, 
families, staff and carers, representation from an equality specialist/representative 
body, representation from the care market and that these groups should have a 
discussion, led by an independent facilitator.

The Institute further advised that following such an engagement exercise, and 
depending on what is learned, the Council would need to decide if a consultation was 
needed. They cautioned that if the Council decided to consult it must appreciate the 
Gunning 1 requirement, that ‘consultation must be at a formative stage’, the risk 
being that consulting on one option or on something already decided could induce a 
predetermination challenge. 

We followed this advice and commissioned ASV and Evolving Communities as the 
independent representatives.  We were also mindful that good practice in situations 
such as home closures is to take action speedily as a lengthy process creates 
anxiety.  

In addition to those discussion groups, we have offered and arranged other meetings 
with residents, families and staff, many of whom have had 1:1 discussions with the 
officer leading on this. This is so that we can understand the impact on every 
individual. 

No consultation has commenced about these two homes yet – purely engagement, 
as advised by the Consultation Institute.  Consultation on the impact of closures will 
follow Cabinet’s decision. 

The first ground of the call-in is therefore not proven.

Due Regard Statement:

The call-in is inaccurate.  The Due Regard Statement (DRS) for this Cabinet decision 
was published at 3.30pm on Friday July 19th 2019, not on July 24th.  My Cabinet 
colleagues and I read it before the meeting and it was specifically referenced by the 
Leader in his summing up before Cabinet approved the recommendation. The 
Cabinet Report itself also details the findings set out in the DRS.  

There is no legal requirement to produce a DRS so the requirements of the Access to 
Information are not in play, nor does it have any role in the council’s constitution. It is 
our local practice to produce a DRS to demonstrate compliance with the Public 
Sector Equality Duty, which is part of the Equality Act 2010.  Discussing and 
understanding the needs of those people with protected characteristics will be part of 
individual conversations we will have with residents and their families. There is no 
legal or constitutional obligation on the council to produce a DRS, nor, consequently, 
is there any obligation to publish one, or to do so by a specific time.  

The second ground of the call-in is also not proven.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Cabinet Decision Statement – Wednesday 24 July 2019

Published - Wednesday 24 July 2019

Gloucestershire
County Council

Agenda
Item Decision Portfolio 

5  FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT 2019/20 

Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, gave an update on the 
year-end forecast for the 2019/20 County Council’s Revenue and 
Capital Budgets

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position as at the end of 
May 2019 for the 2019/20 financial year as showing a net 
£2.956 million overspend against the revenue budget of 
£429.661 million.

2. Note the one off transfer of £0.028 million to GFRS from the 
Transformation Reserve to subsidise travel on a targeted 
basis for key stage 2 and 3 children across Gloucestershire.

3. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of 
May 2019 of £1.147million overspend against the current 
budget of £121.537 million

4. Approve the addition of £1.147 million to the Highways 
capital budget funded from a variety of sources as outlined 
in the body of the report.

5. Note the allocation of £1.209 million from the approved 
carriageway resurfacing budget to specific schemes as 
outlined in the body of the report.

Leader of the Council

6  TO CONSIDER THE FUTURE PROVISION OF CARE 
HOMES IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE AND THE RELEVANT 
CONSULTATION 

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, 
(Commissioning), sought approval for the proposed closures of 
Southfield House Care Home, Stroud, and Wyatt House Care 

Adult Social Care, 
(Commissioning)

Page 11



Home, Stroud and to undertake consultation on the impact of the 
closures.  

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

1. Approve the closure of Southfield House Care Home, 
Stroud.

2. Agree that any capital receipts arising from the disposal of 
Southfield House Care Home will be ring-fenced for future 
developments for older people in the County.

3. Delegate authority to the Director of Integration, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning, to:   

                  
i) Consult with residents and families of Southfield 

House Care Home on the impact of and 
arrangements for the closure of the care home.

ii) Facilitate moving the residents to an alternative care 
home that will meets their needs.

4. Approve the closure of Wyatt House Care Home.

5. Agree that any capital receipts arising from the disposal of 
the properties will be ring-fenced for future developments 
for older people in the County.

6. Delegate authority to the Director of Integration, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning to:   

                  
i) Consult with residents and their families of Wyatt 

House on the impact of and arrangements for the 
closure of the care home.

ii) Facilitate moving the residents to an alternative care 
home that will meet their needs.

7  DELIVERY OF STRUCTURAL MAINTENANCE WORKS 
2020-2022 

Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, 
sought approval for the procurement and award of a contract for 
the delivery of structural maintenance works from April 2020.  

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 

Highways and Flood

Page 12



Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Lead Commissioner, Highways Authority, to:

1. Carry out a public procurement law compliant competitive 
tender process for the delivery of a two year single provider 
contract for the delivery of structural maintenance works 
commencing 1st April 2020, and 

2. Award such contract (following the conclusion of the said 
competitive tender process) in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Highways and Flood, to the preferred 
provider(s) evaluated as offering the Council best value for 
money for delivery of the required works.

In the event that the preferred provider is either unable or 
unwilling to enter into that contract with the Council then the 
Lead Commissioner, Highways Authority shall be 
authorised to award such contract to the next willing highest 
scoring suitably qualified provider.

8  CHILDREN AND FAMILIES CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
UPDATE 

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, (Cabinet Member for Economy, Education 
and Skills), sought approval to approve changes to the approved 
Children and Families Capital Programme. 

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Approve changes to the Children & Families Capital Programme as 
set out in the published decision report, to approve: 

1. A new scheme for the provision of additional places at 
Prestbury St Mary’s C of E Primary School, funded by the 
transfer of £0.270 million from the approved basic need 
provision, and 

2. An additional £0.206 million developer s106 contributions 
for Cleeve Secondary Academy.

Economy, Education 
and Skills

9  TARGETED FAMILY SUPPORT IN CHILDREN AND 
FAMILY CENTRE CONTRACT EXTENSION 

Cllr Richard Boyles, (Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years), sought to extend existing contracts for the 

Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early 
Years

Page 13



provision of targeted family support services in children and families 
centres located in Gloucester City, Forest of Dean, and in the 
Stroud, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury localities.  

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to exercise 
the option to extend the current contracts for the provision of 
targeted support services in  the 16 Children and Family Centres 
located in Gloucester City, Forest of Dean, and Stroud, Cheltenham 
and Tewkesbury localities from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2022.

10  ESTABLISHING A DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEM FOR 
THE PROCUREMENT OF TRANSPORT CONTRACTS 

Cllr Nigel Moor, (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning), 
sought approval to conclude the establishment of a Dynamic 
Purchasing System (DPS) for Transport Services.

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Delegate authority to the Lead Commissioner - Community 
Infrastructure to:

1) Conduct a public procurement law compliant 
procurement process for  the establishment of a 
ten year Dynamic Purchasing System (“DPS”) for 
the provision of passenger transport services 
commencing February 2020; 

2) Admit or remove suppliers from the DPS during 
its ten year term in accordance with the selection 
criteria or any revised selection criteria set out in 
the DPS;

3) Procure transport services, using the DPS, from 
providers of Passenger Transport Services 
(including Home to School Transport Services 
and Social Care Transport Services) and award 
contracts for such services up to the value of 
£499,999 in aggregate in respect of any single 
contract award PROVIDED that the Lead 
Commissioner - Community Infrastructure 
reports back to Cabinet on an annual basis 
throughout the term of the DPS with  details of 

Environment and 
Planning

Page 14



the aggregate value of all contracts that were 
awarded using the DPS in the previous year and, 

4) Procure contracts for the supply of transport 
services during financial year 2019/2020 (whose 
estimated aggregate values shall equal £18m) 
from operators admitted to the existing DPS and 
the proposed new DPS; contracts for transport 
services required by the council in subsequent 
financial years shall be the subject of separate 
Cabinet decisions.

11  TENDER AND AWARD OF TRANSPORT CONTRACTS 
UNDER THE DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEM FOR 
TRANSPORT 

Cllr Nigel Moor, (Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning), sought approval to use the council’s Dynamic 
Purchasing System (DPS) to procure and award the passenger 
transport contracts referred to in the decision report and to 
provide feedback on the council’s progress in implementing 
transport related decisions agreed in July 2018. .

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for 
recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Lead Commissioner: Community Infrastructure 
to:

1) Use the TDPS in accordance with its terms to undertake 
in each case a legally compliant procurement process to 
procure contracts between July 2019 and July 2021 for 
the provision of each of the local bus services set out in 
Table 1 of the published decision report; 

2) Upon the conclusion of each of the procurement 
processes described in Recommendation 1 above, to 
award a contract to the highest scoring preferred 
provider in each case evaluated as offering the Council 
best value for money for delivery of the services in 
accordance with the TDPS requirements. 

In the event that a preferred provider for a contract is 
either unable or unwilling to enter into a contract with the 
Council then the Lead Commissioner: Community 
Infrastructure is authorised to enter into such contract 
with the next willing, highest scoring, suitably qualified 
provider. 

Environment and 
Planning

Page 15



12  COMMISSIONING OF A POSITIVE BEHAVIOUR SUPPORT 
SERVICE FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH A 
LEARNING DISABILITY/AUTISM 

Cllr Richard Boyles, (Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years), sought approval to tender for the provision of an 
intensive Positive Behaviour Service for Children and Young 
People with learning disabilities and/or autism.  

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

a) Approve the commissioning of an intensive positive behaviour 
support service for children and young people, to be facilitated 
by the Provider using a Social Impact Bond;    

b) Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to 
carry out an OJEU compliant competitive tender process and 
award a contract, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, for a positive 
behaviour support service for children and young people

c) Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to 
develop a commissioning implementation plan, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and 
Early Years.

Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early 
Years

13  A38/A419 WHITMINSTER ROUNDABOUT BRIDGES AND 
CANAL IMPROVEMENTS (CONTRACT PROCUREMENT 
AND ANCILLARY ORDERS) 

Cllr Vernon Smith, (Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood), 
sought authorisation for the Lead Commissioner, Highway Authority 
to receive funds from Highways England (via Cotswold Canal Trust) 
for the proposes of procuring a contract for works in respect of the 
proposed A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and Canal 
Improvements

Having considered all of the information, including known 
proposals, alternative options and reasons for recommendations, 
Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Lead Commissioner; Highway Authority to:

(1) Receive £4.0m by way of funding from Highways England 
(via Cotswold Canal Trust) for the purpose of funding a 
contract for works in respect of the proposed A38/A419 
Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and Canal Improvements 

Highways and Flood

Page 16



described in this report (the “Contract for Improvement 
Works”);

(2) Permit the council to become the “Client” for the purposes of 
procuring the proposed Contract for Improvement Works;

(3) Conduct, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Planning, a public procurement law 
compliant tender process for the purpose of awarding the 
proposed Contract for Improvement Works;

(4) Award and enter into the proposed Contract for 
Improvement Works with the preferred tenderer evaluated 
as offering the Council best value for money for delivery of 
the required works or, in the event that the preferred 
tenderer for the contract is either unable or unwilling to enter 
into that contract with the Council, to award and enter into 
such contract with the next willing highest scoring suitably 
qualified tenderer.

The decisions published above will come into force and may be implemented on 1 August 2019, 
unless a request is made for the decision to be called-in.  

CALL-IN PROCEDURE

A decision may only be only called-in if one or more of the following conditions are satisfied: - 

1) The decision conflicts in whole or part with any existing policy that has been formally 
approved or adopted by the Council;  

2) The decision would not be wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget;  

3) In making the decision, the Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or 
Officer under delegated powers, has taken account of an irrelevant matter or failed to take 
account of a relevant matter, which in the opinion of the Chief Executive, had (or would 
have), a significant bearing on that decision; 

4) The Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, or a Cabinet Member or Officer under delegated 
powers, acted contrary to the Cabinet Procedure Rules, the Access to Information about 
the County Council’s Formal Business, and/or the principles of the decision making set out 
in Part 2, Article 7.02 of the Council’s Constitution. 

At least five members of the council must give notice in writing of their request to call-in a 
decision. 

The request, including reasons for the call-in, must be delivered to the Chief Executive before the 
end of the fifth working day after the day on which the decision is published. 

The request for a call-in of any of the decisions above should be made to Jo Moore (DSU) by 5 
pm on 31 July 2019 

Page 17



For more information on the contents of this Decision Statement, please contact: - 

Jo Moore (Democratic Services Unit)
Tel: 01452 324196; Fax: 01452 425240; email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 18

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


TO CONSIDER THE FUTURE PROVISION OF CARE HOMES IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

AND THE RELEVANT CONSULTATION

Cabinet Date 24 July 2019

Adult Social Care 
Commissioning

Adult Social Care 
Delivery

Councillor Roger Wilson 

Councillor Kathy Williams 

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents Older People Care Home Strategy

“Procedure for Managing the Closure of a Care Home Providing Services for 
Adults”

 
Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

 Draft Procedure for Managing the Closure of a Care Home Providing Services for 
Adults

 Older People Care Home Strategy

Main Consultees Residents and families living at Southfield and Wyatt House care homes, 
Stroud, care home providers in Stroud, employees of The Orders of St John 
Care Trust (OSJCT) who work at Southfield and Wyatt House care homes, 
Stroud.

Planned Dates It is proposed that there is a consultation period from August 1st 2019 to 1st 
November 2019 regarding the impact on residents and their families and the 
arrangements to provide alternative accommodation for residents.  The 
consultation will be jointly led by the Council and The Orders of St John 
Care Trust.

Divisional 
Councillor

Stroud Central

Officer Kim Forey, Director of Integration.
Tel. 0300 421 1628
kimforey@nhs.net

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to close Southfield and Wyatt House, Stroud and 
to consult with residents and their families on the impact of the care home 
closures.

Recommendations

The Cabinet

1. Approves the closure of Southfield care home, Stroud.

 2. Agrees that any capital receipts arising from the disposal of Southfield 
care home will be ring-fenced for future developments for older people in 

Page 19

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090733/draft-procedure-for-managing-the-closure-of-a-care-home-providing-services-for-adults-gloucestershire.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090733/draft-procedure-for-managing-the-closure-of-a-care-home-providing-services-for-adults-gloucestershire.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090734/care-home-strategyjune5.pdf


the County.

3. Delegates authority to the Director of Integration, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning to:   
                  
i) Consults with residents and their families of Southfield care home on the 
impact of and arrangements for the closure of the care homes.

ii) Facilitates moving the residents to an alternative home that meets their 
needs.

4. Approves the closure of Wyatt House Care home.

5. Agrees that any capital receipts arising from the disposal of the 
properties will be ring-fenced for future developments for older people in the 
County.

6.Delegates authority to the Director of Integration, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning to:   
                  
i) Consult with residents and their families of Wyatt House on the impact of 
and arrangements for the closure of the care homes.

ii) Facilitates moving the residents to an alternative home that meets their 
needs.

Reasons for 
recommendations

To ensure that residents and their families are engaged and understand the 
potential impact of the closure of the two care homes.

Supports the key issues identified in the Older People Care Home Strategy.

Deliver on the Council’s priorities outlined in “Looking to the Future.”

•A Magnet county - A growing working age population, with more 18-40 
year olds with high level qualifications choosing to live and work in the 
county.

•An Innovative county - More businesses starting up, growing and investing 
in research and innovation.

•A Skilled county - More people with high-level skills and jobs in skilled 
occupations.

•A Prosperous county - Rising productivity and household incomes offering 
higher living standards.

•An Inclusive county - The economic and social benefits of growth to be felt 
by all.

Page 20



•A Healthy county - People to have a good work/life balance and improved 
health and wellbeing.

•A Connected county - Improved transport and internet connections so that 
people and businesses can connect with each other more easily.

•A Sustainable county - More efficient use of resources and more use of 
sustainable energy.

•A Resilient county - Active, resilient local communities that keep people 
safe, provide them with support and help them to make a positive 
contribution.

Southfield is no longer financially viable and provides residential care only, 
the demand for which is declining and likely to reduce further.

Wyatt House is not fit for the future and cannot be refurbished to meet 
modern standards.

Resource 
Implications

Within existing budgets.

The costs associated with the closure of each care home are estimated to 
be £200,000. This figure is based on the costs associated with the closure of 
Townsend House and Trevone House, including the costs associated with 
the consultation process referred to in this report.

Page 21



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background. 

The Council entered into a contract with Gloucestershire Care Partnership in April 2005 

for the running of the former Council older person care homes. The contract has a term 

of 35 years. The contract essentially covers:

(i) The provision of care services by Gloucestershire Care Partnership in 

Gloucestershire.

(ii) The lease of properties where such care will be provided.

(iii) Arrangements for the development of those and provision of new properties 

where such care will be provided.

(iv) Arrangements addressing the transition of care services from the current 

provider when the Council entered into the contract in April 2005 to 

Gloucestershire Care Partnership.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership is a joint venture company set up by The Orders of St 

John Care Trust and Bedford Pilgrim Housing Association for the purposes of provision 

of care services. 

At the outset of the contract Gloucestershire Care Partnership was providing care for 21 

care homes within Gloucestershire, 10 of those homes have closed and 4 new homes 

have been built. Annex 1 – Map of Gloucestershire Care Partnership care homes in 

Gloucestershire.

Within the contract, the Council has agreed to purchase a guaranteed minimum number 

(60%) of care home beds across the contracted homes in each District within 

Gloucestershire. The Council has to pay for the minimum level of care home beds 

regardless of whether they are occupied by customers funded by the Council or not, 

unless Gloucestershire Care Partnership is able to sell the care home beds to people 

who fund their own care. 

Within the contract an Estates Committee was established to manage the development 

of an Estates Strategy for the development of services for older people in 

Gloucestershire, which covers issues such as:

Page 22



(i) Development proposals for new homes.

(ii) Consider and propose for the Council minor refurbishments for the care homes.

(iii) When individual homes should be considered for closure, refurbishment or 

consideration as part of a Proposal within the Estates Strategy.

The long term contractual arrangements between the Council and Gloucestershire Care 

Partnership are similar to those introduced by other Local Authorities in the early 2000s. 

Within adjacent Local Authority areas Oxfordshire and Wiltshire have similar long term 

contractual arrangements.

2. Introduction.

At the time of the agreement with Gloucestershire Care Partnership in 2005 the health 

and social care environment was very different to the current situation. In 2005 older 

people’s aspirations, social care solutions and the financial environment encouraged 

the development and provision of care homes to support people with lower level 

residential care needs. Since 2005, older people are living longer with more complex 

needs and the financial pressures on local government and people who fund their own 

care have changed.

The Government introduced the Care Act 2014 that sets out how people’s care and 

support needs should be met and introduced the right to an assessment for anyone, 

including carers and people who fund their own care.

The Care Act sets out the Council’s duty to ensure people’s well being is at the centre 

of all it does. 

The Council’s Older People Care Home Strategy in Gloucestershire recognises the 

changing nature of health and care for older people in the county. The strategy 

highlighted the following key commissioning intentions: 

 The numbers of people placed in residential care will reduce as the

Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group work with the market to

           develop alternative options for people to remain in their own homes and

           communities, for as long as possible. This is likely to mean the number of

           care homes that only provide residential care are likely to reduce.

Page 23



 The Council will discuss with residents and their families the closure

           of residential only care homes and care homes that cannot provide

           appropriate built environment to meet the care needs of older people.

 The Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group will utilise and support

            the market to deliver care that meets high end needs especially for those

            living with dementia where other options are no longer possible.

 The Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group will look to purchase

            more short term assessment beds to provide an environment in which we can 

develop solutions which will allow as many people as possible to return home

 with a personalised support package.

 The Council will discuss with the care home market the changing commissioning 

care home needs and the potential implications for care providers.

 The Council will work with the market to provide quality outcomes and ensure 

there is sufficient capacity in the Care Sector workforce to support older people 

in Gloucestershire.

3. Gloucestershire Care Partnership Discussions. 

The contractual arrangements with GCP confirm that if the Council’s demand for care 

home beds in any care home falls below the minimum levels and Gloucestershire Care 

Partnership consider that the care home, in their reasonable opinion, is becoming 

economically unviable, then the care home shall become a priority for consideration by 

the Estates Committee for closure, refurbishment or for consideration as part of a 

Proposal within the Estates Strategy.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership has been discussing with the Council a refreshed 

Estates Strategy. The Strategy will reflect the commissioning intentions of the council 

as set out in the strategy for Older People’s Care Homes.

Discussions with Gloucestershire Care Partnership have included the short and 

medium term future for Southfield and Wyatt House care homes.  The following 

Page 24



provides a summary of the key aspects of each home, including the current demand 

within the homes and the financial position.

Southfield Care Home

Southfield is a 34 room care home providing residential care only, built in 1960s. 

Since January 2019 Southfield’s occupancy has varied from 76 % to 84%. For the last 

24 months there has been a consistent picture of new residents at the care home, 1 

person, on average, per month funded by the Council moving into Southfield.   

There are currently (as at 07/07/19) 27 residents at Southfield, 17 people funded by the 

Council and 10 people who fund their own care home costs. 

The Council is contracted to purchase 60% of care home rooms from Gloucestershire 

Care Partnership for the Stroud district, which is:

 The Elms

 Henlow Court

 Southfield

 Wyatt House

The Council is purchasing 57% of the total rooms in Southfield.

The Care Quality Commission rating for Southfield is “Good”, the latest report form the 

Care Quality Commission is annex 2.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership has informed the Council that for 2019/20 Southfield 

is forecast to make a loss of £107,000 and if occupancy levels continue at current 

figures a loss of £118,000 in 2020/21 and £133,000 in 2021/22. 

Gloucestershire Care Partnership has informed the Council that there are £600,000 

capital building works required to ensure the care home can operate until April 2025, 

with the majority of these building works needing to be completed within the next 2 

years. Examples of the work required include corridor lighting and bedroom upgrades. 

This would not make the home economically viable and this would not resolve the issue 

Page 25



of oversupply and hence the level of vacant beds at Southfield and other care homes in 

the Stroud area.

To finance any capital investment in the home Gloucestershire Care Partnership has 

informed the Council that the home would need to be generating profits sufficient to pay 

for the investment or alternatively  the Council would need to fund the works if it wished 

to keep the home open.

Wyatt House

Wyatt House is a 30 bed room care home providing residential and nursing dementia 

care, built in 1970.

Wyatt House occupancy has fluctuated an average monthly occupancy of between 

90% and 97% since January 2019, but with some individual days dropping to 86%.

There are currently (as at 07/07/19) 28 residents at Wyatt House, 24 people funded by 

the Council and 4 people who fund their own care home costs.

The Council is currently purchasing 71% of the total rooms in Wyatt House.

The Care Quality Commission rating for Wyatt House is “Requires Improvement”, the 

latest report form the Care Quality Commission is annex 3.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership has informed the Council that for 2019/20 Wyatt 

House is forecast to make a loss of £195,000 and if occupancy levels continue at 

current figures a loss of £212,000 in 2020/21 and £232,000 in 2021/22.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership has informed the Council that there are £784,000 

capital building works required at the home, the majority of these building works need to 

be completed within the next 2 years. Examples of the work required include corridor 

lighting and bedroom upgrades. These works would not make the home economically 

viable.

To finance any capital investment in the home Gloucestershire Care Partnership has 

informed the Council that the home would need to be generating profits sufficient to pay 

for the investment or alternatively  the Council would need to fund the works if it wished 

to keep the home open.   

Page 26



Gloucestershire Care Partnership and the Council agree that Wyatt House is no longer 

fit for purpose to support the needs of dementia residents. Specifically:

 Whilst a lovely garden, it is considered as having limited external space for the 

number of residents with noise potentially causing disorientation. More 

importantly the significant level changes make it unsafe and inaccessible for 

people in wheelchairs and there is no option to create any other external space. 

The importance of being able to go outside is widely documented as benefiting 

an individual’s physical and mental health. 

 The small number of communal areas and break out spaces mean that this can 

sometimes cause distress due to noise generation.

 There are narrow corridors (in places down to 0.85 m and up to a max of 1.30 

metres) whereas the ideal is 1.90 metres to allow for wheelchair users and semi-

ambulant individuals with walking frames to pass.

 Whilst the circular design allows people to walk freely, this layout means that 

staff cannot see long distances meaning that residents cannot be easily 

observed.

 Common issues with a building of this age include corrosion of metal 

reinforcements, poor ventilation, poor thermal qualities and damp and are 

uneconomic to rectify.

There is significant research on design to support individuals with dementia. For the last 

twenty-five years the University of Stirling (i) has championed the importance of design 

in creating spaces which actively support and enable people with dementia. Stirling has 

promoted the identification and dissemination of good practice both through the work of 

its renowned Dementia Services Development Centre (DSDC) (ii) and through rigorous 

applied academic research. They have published a Good Practice in Design for 

Dementia and Sight Loss (iii)  as well as a Virtual Care Home  with design ideas.  

(i) https://dementia.stir.ac.uk/design 

Page 27



(ii)  https://dementia.stir.ac.uk/design/good-practice-design-dementia-and-sight-loss

(iii) https://dementia.stir.ac.uk/design/virtual-environments/virtual-care-home

  

4. Officer Actions.

Advice was sought from the Consultation Institute regarding how discussion with 

residents, families and employees of The Orders of St John Care Trust should be 

undertaken to explain the potential closure of Southfield and Wyatt House care 

homes.

The Consultation Institute advised that the Council should commence a short 

engagement with residents, families and employees of The Orders of St John Care 

Trust, setting out the reasons for the possible closure of Southfield and Wyatt House, 

and seek their views on alternative options the Council could consider and the 

possible impact on them if the two care homes were closed.

Discussions with the Consultation Institute advised that the engagement with 

residents and families should be undertaken independently from the Council.

The Consultation Institute also advised the Council should seek some independent 

view on the care market in Stroud.

Following the advice from the Consultation Institute the following actions have been 

taken:

Resident and Family Engagement

The Council commissioned ASV, who employed Andy Wright, an Associate of the 

Consultation Institute to discuss with residents and families the possible closure of 

Southfield and Wyatt House. Meetings occurred on 26th June 2019. The report from ASV is 

attached as Annex 4. The key findings from the report are summarised below.

Conclusions for Consideration Council Response

Overwhelming opinion from both care 

home settings, irrespective of the 

 The Council recognises the views of 

residents and families regarding the 

Page 28



condition of the building, the difference 

being at either Southfield or Wyatt is the 

care provided by the staff of The Orders of 

St John. It is also important to note that 

this group are not ‘novice’ buyers; 

generally they report trying between three 

and five care homes before choosing the 

current residents of their loved ones. 

Various factors cited including the overall 

hygiene and cleanliness, the atmosphere, 

most importantly the consistency of 

relationship with the staff. OSJ staff are 

viewed as being invariably friendly, 

irrespective of their role, providing 

consistent and excellent care.

This perception of care compares poorly 

when considered against other homes 

where participants report rapid 

changeover of staff, perceptions of 

difficulties in maintaining relationships with 

staff and a very high reliance on agency 

staff, of course this must be recognised as 

anecdotal but because of the consistency 

of its expression in both groups it is a 

factor that many worry will be impossible 

to replicate if residents are moved to other 

care home beds. In summary, leadership 

and management from The Orders of St 

John is viewed as outstanding leading to 

continuity of staff and consequential care, 

people are concerned that this will no 

longer be available to them, despite 

assurances in the briefing that other OSJ 

quality of care provided at Southfield and 

Wyatt House.

The proposal to close the two care homes 

is not about the quality of care being 

provided by The Orders of St John Care 

Trust.

Page 29



care beds would be considered as an 

alternative placement. One resident spoke 

of the staff as…

‘…angels without wings…our friends, or 

family.…’

In terms of the engagement process itself, 

there was overwhelming consensus 24 

hours is not a long enough period of notice 

for the meetings called to discuss these 

proposals with residents, families and 

carers. In addition, there was widespread 

criticism of the briefing letter provided to 

call the meeting. The view expressed 

being that not enough information is 

provided as the basis of discussion and in 

addition it was neither clear nor 

comprehensive leading to confusion 

during discussions.

A balance had to be struck with ensuring 

residents, families and employees of The 

Order of St John Care Trust were made 

aware of the proposals to enable them to 

give us their views before the Council 

considered whether to close the homes 

whilst avoiding a lengthy engagement 

exercise which would have resulted in a 

period of greater anxiety in the care home.

 Consultation meetings regarding the 

impact of the closure of Southfield and 

Wyatt House will be held during the day, in 

the evening and at weekends. Notice for 

these meetings will be circulated following 

the Cabinet meeting on 24th July. If 

Cabinet accept the recommendation 

provisional dates for meetings between 1st 

and 5th August 2019 are proposed.

The briefings provided gave an overview 

of the proposals. The key issues for the 

two care homes are:

Southfield – is a care home that only 

provides residential care and has had low 

Page 30



occupancy, which impacts on the financial 

viability of the care home. The occupancy 

figures are not improving and there are a 

number of other care homes in Stroud with 

empty rooms.

Wyatt House – is a care home built in 

1970 and Gloucestershire Care 

Partnership and the Council agree that 

Wyatt House is no longer fit for purpose to 

support the needs of dementia residents. 

Wyatt House is also forecast to lose 

£195,000 in 19/20 and similar figures in 

the next two years if occupancy and fee 

levels remain at current figures. 

Overall, the feeling was that the quality of 

care has not been considered as one of 

the criteria on which these proposed 

discussions are being discussed. Based 

on the information provided in the briefing 

document, the process overlooks CQC 

scores and more importantly the levels of 

pastoral care delivered in the GCP care 

homes. Participants in the groups were 

very concerned that their choice would be 

significantly limited because the other care 

home beds available in the Stroud district 

are in settings that CQC do not require 

improvement against at least one of the 

areas Safe, Effective, Caring, Responsive, 

and Well-led.

The Council recognises the quality of care 

being provided at both care homes and 

other Gloucestershire Care Partnership 

care homes.

There are 25 older people care homes in 

the Stroud district. The Care Quality 

Commission at the last inspection for each 

home have concluded the following:

Good – 21 care homes.

Requires Improvement - 3 care homes.

No Inspection Yet – 1 care home.

Serious concerns were expressed over the 

impact on residents through breaking up 

Both homes provide accommodation for 

adults who require nursing or personal 

Page 31



friendship networks and resident-to-

resident support built up over many 

months and years. This extended to 

concern over disrupting the environments 

of frail and elderly people many of whom 

have dementia and in the case of Wyatt 

House has very complex needs and 

comorbidities. The anecdotal view from 

those present at meetings of both 

locations, based on personal experience 

with other relatives, was that moving 

people will lead to earlier death. This 

extended to the impact on resident’s 

family, many of whom felt that any change 

in location would remove the remaining 

connections to their ‘old’ life and social 

networks.

care. Because of the age, physical and 

mental disabilities and other care and 

support needs of the individuals 

concerned, any move would need to be 

managed sensitively. We do not 

underestimate the anxiety and concern 

that may be felt by residents and their 

families by this proposal. Our engagement 

and consultation with residents and their 

families will help us to better understand 

any negative impact based on the 

protected characteristics that the 

proposals may have and how we may 

mitigate this. 

The Council will also try to ensure that any 

moves to new care homes are planned so 

that friends can move to the same new 

care home.

The view of most is that the council is not 

making an effective case for the closures. 

People generally accepted there may be a 

valid business case for considering 

closures the closures. However, with the 

information provided at short notice the 

council had not made that case and 

people were largely unconvinced.

Likewise any arguments about the 

unsuitability of the fabric of the buildings, 

particularly Wyatt House, were not seen to 

have been made conclusively. Relatives 

and carers were more than happy to offer 

their services on a voluntary basis to 

This Cabinet report sets out the key 

reasons why Southfield and Wyatt House 

have been considered for closure. 

Page 32



address many of the issues with the 

building, for instance to level the garden at 

Wyatt House to make it safe for residents.

In addition the case made was thought to 

significantly overlook likely increases in 

dementia cases and the growing demand 

on care homes from an ageing population, 

without providing adequate information on 

the alternatives for care at home 

participants in the meeting remained 

unconvinced that in the medium term 

Stroud was oversupplied with beds.

Participants were keen to offer alternatives

▪ Increased marketing and publicity activity 

to increase the bed occupancy Southfield;

▪Closing Wyatt house and moving 

residents into Southfield which has a 

higher CQC rating; and

▪ Utilising volunteers to address issues 

with the buildings through applications of 

their skills and labour.

It was clear that these suggestions where 

offered from ‘front of mind’ thinking with 

participants not having sufficient time to 

formulate any clear alternatives. However, 

the groups were very keen to be provided 

with the opportunity to further explore e 

alternative options to closure with the 

council.

Page 33



In terms of the final decision and 

recommendations to Gloucestershire 

County Council cabinet there was an 

overwhelming feeling that any decision 

needed to involve decision-makers in 

seeing the conditions at each of the care 

homes. The tangible but incredibly 

important elements such as atmosphere, 

staff attitudes and residents interaction 

cannot, in the groups’ views, be judged 

solely on statistics and the paper report.

The two Cabinet Members for Adult Social 

Care have been fully briefed on the key 

issues affecting both care homes and are 

aware of the condition and limitations of 

both care homes.

Finally, the groups - while recognising that 

their own loved ones where at the stage at 

which care at home was no longer 

practical expressed significant 

reservations over the current capability of 

the social care system to provide 

adequate services in this area. In their 

view three 15 minute visits per day to look 

after frail and elderly people was 

inadequate.

The Council does not commission “15 

minute” care visits. The Council works with 

domiciliary care providers to ensure that 

people’s outcomes drive the care 

provided.

The Council commissioned Evolving Communities to understand the potential equality 

impact issues for residents and families. Evolving Communities is an independent and 

impartial community interest company who are experts in health and social care. They offer 

a professional consultancy service specialising in research, evaluation and public 

engagement that combines top academic research and service evaluation. They also run 

three local Healthwatch services in Gloucestershire, Somerset and Dorset.

Page 34



The Evolving Communities report “An Independent consultation on the potential closure of 

Southfield and Wyatt House, Stroud: A resident and relatives / representatives viewpoint of 

the likely impact” is attached as Annex 5 and the key findings are summarised below.

Key Findings / Recommendations Council Response

Cabinet Members should consider the 

emotional and physical impact on both 

residents and their relatives or 

representatives, both now and in the 

future of any potential closure.

This is recognised and the 

recommendation recognises that a full 

consultation with those residents and their 

families about the impact which the 

proposed closure is likely to have.  This 

will involve appropriate support being 

provided to relatives and their relatives or 

representatives during the period the care 

homes are closing and after people move 

to new care homes. 

The Council has developed a “Procedure 

for Managing the Closure of a Care Home 

Providing Services for Adults” which has 

been developed by examining best 

practice from the social care sector.

Cabinet Members should acknowledge 

what residents and their relatives have 

said about the potential closure through 

this report

The full report from Evolving Communities 

and the ASV Report set out in Annexes 4 

and 5 set out a summary of the residents, 

relatives and staff views. The views of 

residents have been considered in 

exploring the options available for 

Southfield and Wyatt House as set out in 

this report. 

If the Cabinet accept the recommendation 

there will be a consultation exercise to 

further assess the impact of the proposed 

closures and to ensure the Council follows 

Page 35



best practice in supporting residents 

through the changes.

Cabinet members should consider visiting 

both the homes in person.

The two Cabinet Members for Adult Social 

Care have been fully briefed on the key 

issues affecting both care homes and are 

aware of the condition and limitations  of 

both care homes.

GCC should include CQC reports and 

resident reviews in any further decision-

making process.

This report includes details of the most 

recent CQC reports.

Residents and families will be provided 

access to CQC reports and resident 

reviews as part of the process to choose a 

new care home. 

GCC should provide residents and their 

relatives or representatives clearer 

information regarding the exact reasons 

and rationale for the potential closures.

The Council recognise the views of 

residents and their relatives and 

representatives. The Cabinet report sets 

out in detail the options considered and 

why Southfield and Wyatt House are being 

recommended for closure.

GCC should provide residents and 

relatives and representatives with a cost 

comparison between other available care 

options and Wyatt and Southfield House.

Residents and relatives or representatives 

will be provided with the information on the 

potential cost of alternative care home 

placements as part of the formal process. 

Residents and families will be able to meet 

officers from Adult Social Care to discuss 

the options for alternative care homes and 

the potentials costs. 

In the event that closures are agreed, 

GCC should consider and take into 

account current friendships and 

The Council will look to ensure that where 

people want to move to the same care 

home as a friend this is arranged.

Page 36



relationships between residents and staff 

in any relocation decision.

Each resident will have a care home 

movement plan.

The Council will follow the “Procedure for 

Managing the Closure of a Care Home 

Providing Services for Adults” which has 

been developed by examining best 

practice from the social care sector.

Decisions regarding relocation of staff will 

be an individual decision for employees of 

The Orders of St John Care Trust. 

In the event that closures are agreed, 

GCC should carry out a detailed risk 

assessment, undertake appropriate 

planning and offer training to staff to help 

residents adjust.

If the Cabinet accept the recommendation 

there will be a further consultation 

exercise to further assess the impact of 

the proposed closures and The Council 

will follow the “Procedure for Managing the 

Closure of a Care Home Providing 

Services for Adults” which has been 

developed by examining best practice 

from the social care sector.

Individual advocacy support will be 

provided to residents and families. 

Each resident will have a care home 

movement plan.

GCC should strongly consider giving 

residents and relatives or representatives 

substantial notice before any future 

consultation meetings are held. It would 

be preferable if meetings could also be 

held on weekends or evenings.

The Council will consider this 

recommendation for any future 

engagement and consultation meetings.

Consultation meetings regarding the 

impact of the closure of Southfield and 

Wyatt House will be held during the day 

Page 37



and in the evening.

Ensure that any communication about 

potential closures is handled in a timely 

and sensitive manner, and with clear and 

detailed information.

The Council will consider this 

recommendation for any future 

communication.

Engage with all residents and relatives or 

representatives in the consultation 

process; this may mean using different 

engagement methods to contact them.

The Council will consider this 

recommendation for any future 

consultation meetings.

Residents and families have been offered opportunities to meet with officers, either in 

the care home or at peoples’ homes to discuss the potential closure of the two care 

homes and to explain the potential impact on them in advance of the Cabinet meeting.  

Issues raised by residents and families not covered in the reports from ASV and 

Evolving Communities were:

Issue Response

The Council should consider working with 

more not for profit care home providers, 

similar to The Orders of St John Care 

Trust rather than private care home 

providers owned by shareholders.

The Council has a long term contract with 

The Orders of St John Care Trust, who 

manages 19 care homes in the County. 

The Council need to promote and 

encourage care provision from across the 

market and welcome further involvement 

of charity and third sector care home 

providers.

The latest Care Quality Commission report 

for Wyatt House does not state the care 

home cannot meet the care needs people 

The Care Quality Commission inspection 

report is focused on the quality of care and 

leadership of the care home. Comments 

made by CQC regarding the use of the 

Page 38



with dementia. garden are positive but only make 

reference to a limited area of the garden. 

Residents are not able to utilise all 

aspects of the garden due to the gradient 

of the paths and different levels in the 

garden.

Employees of The Orders of St John Care Trust Engagement

The Orders of St John Care Trust met with their employees on 26th June 2019. The 

meetings were attended by officers of the Council. The meetings explained the reasons 

for the possible closure of the two care homes and advised that employees would have 

an opportunity to express their views to the Council through a survey.

The key messages in The Orders of St John Care Trust employee survey are 

summarised below:

 General disagreement and sadness with the possible closure of the two care 

homes.

 It feels like the Council are making a money decision before considering the 

needs of older and vulnerable people.

 Feel the residents have been forgotten.

 Staff will lose their “family”, residents, their families and colleagues. 

 The impact on some of the older people if they have to move could be awful.

 Staff will be made redundant as there are no local Orders of St John Care Trust 

homes. 

 Staff feel let down by senior officers in The Orders of St John Care Trust.

 Why cannot the Council and The Orders of St John Care Trust invest in the 

buildings – is it not cheaper to repair the existing building?

 Why is the Council closing a specialist dementia care home?

Page 39



 Could the Council build a new care home and then close Wyatt House?

 The Council and The Orders of St John Care Trust should encourage more 

people to choose Southfield care home. Why cannot people who are in hospital 

not move to Southfield to free up a hospital bed or open up a day centre to 

demonstrate the benefits of living in a care home.

 Can The Orders of St John Care Trust buy Southfield and combine it with Wyatt 

House?

 Refurbish Southfield care home to offer placements for people with nursing and 

dementia needs.

 Spend money on Southfield to make it more attractive to future residents.

Stroud Care Home Market

The Council met with Gloucestershire Care Providers Association on 4th July to discuss 

the Stroud Care Home Market and to understand the impact of the possible decision to 

close the two care homes on the Stroud Care Market.

There are 25 care homes in the Stroud district, which are set out in Annex 6.

It is difficult to ascertain exactly how much oversupply there is in Stroud care home 

market as generally care providers consider information regarding people who fund 

their own care to be commercially sensitive and not usually disclosed to the Council. 

From the information provided by care homes in the Stroud district during the week 

ending 26th June 2019 there were 77 empty rooms. The care home vacancy data for 

Stroud shows:

 Within 6 miles of both care homes there are 55 vacancies.

 Under 2.5 miles of both care homes there are 21 vacancies.

 Between 2.5 miles and 3.5 of both care homes there are 4 vacancies.

Gloucestershire Care Providers Association provided the following information and 

advice:

Page 40



 For some care homes there would be no impact as they do not tend to take 

people funded by the Council but they do have empty rooms and would be 

willing to take people who fund their own care.

 Many care homes saw the potential closure of Southfield and Wyatt House 

would have a positive impact as they have empty rooms and work with Council.

 Data on vacant rooms was similar to the Council but some care homes indicated 

to Gloucestershire Care Providers Association that they had more vacant rooms 

than what had been declared to the Council. 

When Townsend House, Forest of Dean was closed by the Council and 

Gloucestershire Care Partnership in September 2018 most people moved to Westbury 

care home. These two care homes are 5 miles apart, shortest route or 6.6 miles apart 

on an A road.

5. Options Considered.

The Council has considered a range of options regarding the future of both the homes, 

including proposed options suggested by residents, their families and staff as part of 

the engagement process.  An assessment of the options is set out below:

Southfield Care Home 

5.1. Keep the care home open as a residential care home only.

Southfield is a 34 room care home providing residential care only.   Since January 2019 

Southfield’s occupancy has varied from 76 % to 84%.  For the last 24 months there has 

been 1 person, on average, per month funded by the Council moving into Southfield.  .

There are currently (as at 07/07/19) 27 residents at Southfield, 17 people funded by the 

Council and 10 people who fund their own care home costs.

People have a right under the Care Act 2014 to choose between different care 

providers providing that:

 the accommodation is suitable to meet the person’s assessed needs

 the accommodation is available

Page 41



 the provider of the accommodation is willing to enter into a contract with 

the Local Authority to provide care at the rate to meet the person needs.

Consequently the Council cannot request people to move to Southfield to ensure 

occupancy of the home improves.

The Council could consider covering the projected deficit forecast for future years until 

April 2025. As an example, based on the projected loss for 2019/20 of £107,000 for 

Southfield House and the current Council funded occupancy levels of 17 residents, this 

would mean an increase on the weekly bed price, if all factors stay the same, of 

£121.04.

If the Council considered covering the project deficit, then other care home providers 

would expect to be treated in a similar way, with an increase in their care home fees.

5.2. Keep the care home open and support people with residential and nursing 
care needs.

There is a national and local shortage of qualified nursing staff who wish to work in the 

care home sector. The Orders of St John Care Trust, like other larger providers, are 

concentrating their nursing care provision in fewer homes.  If the Council agreed to 

keep Southfield open and offer nursing the Estates Committee of GCP and the Council 

with The Orders of St John Care Trust would have to review whether nursing care was 

provided at Southfield or the Elms, because it would not be economic based on current 

demand to have both. The Elms has a similar “good” Care Quality Commission rating 

as Southfield, however it has more rooms than Southfield. The Council, GCP and The 

Orders of St John Care Trust would support retaining the Elms as a nursing home, 

rather than developing Southfield, subject to financial viability decisions.

5.3. Keep the care home open and provide specialist dementia care.

Southfield could not meet the complex needs of people with dementia. The key issues 

that limit Southfield ability to support people with dementia are:

Page 42



 There are not enough  communal areas or break out spaces to support people 

with challenging behaviour who can sometimes cause distress and anxiety to 

other residents.

 There are narrow corridors.  The ideal is 1.90 metres to allow for wheelchair 

users and semi-ambulant individuals with walking frames to pass.

 The care home is not designed to support people with dementia, for example a 

dementia care home requires a layout for people to walk freely.

 Common issues with a building of this age include corrosion of metal 

reinforcements, poor ventilation, poor thermal qualities and damp and are 

uneconomic to rectify.

5.4 Take back Southfield Care Home from Gloucestershire Care Partnership and 
the Council take on the management and provision of care. 

The Council can manage a residential care home. If the Council took back 

management of Southfield then the care home would need to operate in a financially 

viable manner.  Due to the low occupancy levels for Southfield, the forecast capital 

building works and the supply of residential care by other providers within Stroud a 

financially viable care home could not be provided.

5.5 Take back the Care Homes and re-procure to a new provider. 

A new care provider would want to ensure that the care homes were able to deliver a 

financial return. Due to the older style nature of the care homes, over supply of 

residential care home rooms, as evidenced in our care home strategy, resulting in  low 

occupancy levels this would not be achieved on the current care home fee levels within 

Stroud. If the Council was to increase care home fees to provide a financial viable 

model for Southfield then this would have a significant impact for the Council and on the 

care market in Stroud and throughout Gloucestershire. 

5.6. Partially Close the Care Homes.

The Council has considered keeping part of Southfield open but due to the layout and 

the care standards set by the Care Quality Commission the care home would still be 

Page 43



projecting significant financial losses as it would generate less income to cover the fixed 

costs.

Conclusion

The following key issues have been considered:

 The views of resident and families and their responses explaining the impact on 

them if Southfield is closed.

 The views of staff and their views on the impact on them if Southfield is closed.

 The care market in Stroud, the availability of care home rooms and the views of 

Gloucestershire Care Providers Association.

 The revenue financial forecast for Southfield – including the impact on the wider 

care market if the Council considered additional financial support to the care 

home.

 The historical and forecast occupancy and the impact on the financial viability of 

Southfield.

 The need to ensure that nursing care home provision is provided at The Elms 

through the contract with Gloucestershire Care Partnership in the Stroud 

locality.

 The capital building works required at Southfield and the duty of the Council to 

make best use of public monies.

In the original agreement of 2005 there was mention of developing The Elms at 

Stonehouse.  In our discussions with GCP and The Orders of St John Care Trust about 

Southfield we have agreed to revisit this as a potential development in line with our 

strategy.

 
Wyatt House

5.7 Retain Wyatt house care home.

The Council could consider covering the projected deficit forecast for future years until 

April 2025. As an example, based on the projected loss for 2019/20 of £195,000 for 

Page 44



Wyatt House and the current Council funded occupancy levels of 24 residents, this 

would mean an increase on the weekly bed price, if all factors stay the same, of 

£156.25.   

If the Council considered covering the project deficit, then other care home providers 

would expect to be treated in a similar way, with an increase in their care home fees.

Wyatt House care home Care Quality Commission rating is “Requires Improvement “.

The Gloucestershire Care Partnership has informed the Council that for Wyatt House to 

remain open until April 2025 the home requires capital investment of £784,000. This 

investment would still not result in the home being one that is purposely designed and 

fit for purpose to support the dependencies of dementia residents today.

 As the care home is forecast to make a deficit, Gloucestershire Care Partnership has 

informed the Council they would not be able to invest in the projected capital figures 

outlined above and would require the Council to provide this funding, but more 

importantly whilst this investment may elongate the life of the building it would not result 

in an environment that was fit for purpose for dementia residents for the future.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership and the Council agree that Wyatt House is no longer 

fit for purpose to support the needs of dementia residents. Specifically:

 Whilst a lovely garden it is considered as having limited external space for the 

number of residents with noise potentially causing disorientation but more 

importantly the significant physical angle of the garden makes it unsafe and 

inaccessible for people in wheelchairs and there is no option to create any other 

external space. The importance of being able to go outside is widely 

documented as benefiting an individual’s physical and mental health. 

 The small number of communal areas or break out spaces mean that this can 

sometimes cause distress due to noise generation.

 There are narrow corridors (in places down to 0.85 m and up to a max of 1.30 

metres) whereas the ideal is 1.90 metres to allow for wheelchair users and semi-

ambulant individuals with walking frames to pass.

Page 45



 Whilst the circular design allows people to walk freely, this layout means that 

staff cannot see long distances meaning that residents cannot be easily 

observed.

 Common issues with a building of this age include corrosion of metal 

reinforcements, poor ventilation, poor thermal qualities and damp and are 

uneconomic to rectify.

The Council is working with developers and providers to facilitate the development of 

Extra Care Housing schemes.

  

The Stroud MP David Drew has indicated that Stroud requires new affordable Extra 

Care Housing and the Wyatt House site could be suitable for such a development.  This 

would also meet the ambition of the Council’s strategy. 

5.8 Take back Wyatt House Care Home from Gloucestershire Care Partnership 
and the Council take on the management and provision of care. 

The Council cannot manage a nursing home because it cannot employ nurses.  If the 

Council took back management of Wyatt House it could only support people with 

residential care support needs. Wyatt House would need to be financially viable.  Due 

to the lower demand for residential care, the forecast capital building works and the 

supply of residential care by other providers within Stroud a financially viable care home 

could not be provided.

5.9 Take back the Care Homes and re-procure a new provider. 

A new care provider would want to ensure that the care home was able to meet the 

needs of residents. A change of care home provider would not change the 

inadequacies of the building to meet the needs with people with dementia.

Conclusion

The following key issues have been considered:

Page 46



 The views of residents and families and their views on the impact on them if 

Wyatt House is closed.

 The views of staff and the forecast impact on them if Wyatt House is closed.

 The care market in Stroud, the availability of care home rooms and the views of 

Gloucestershire Care Providers Association.

 The revenue financial forecast for Wyatt House – including the impact on the 

wider care market if the Council considered financially supporting the care home.

 The inadequacies of Wyatt House to support people with dementia, supported by 

Gloucestershire Care Partnership.

6. Consultation.

The Council will consult with residents, families and employees of The Orders of St 

John Care Trust on the impact of the closure of Southfield and Wyatt House.  Under the 

principle of ‘fairness’, the Council will need to ensure  that people have been consulted 

about the impact of the care home closure – i.e. which residents are moved to which 

new homes; timescales; degrees of choice of new location; criteria for distance from 

current location to new location; criteria for judging most urgent transfers etc. These 

options will be developed through engagement with residents and their families.

The Consultation Institute suggested that the consultation on the impact of the care 

home closure should not turn into a long, drawn-out process. Such moves are very 

unsettling for both residents and their families (and the effects on elderly people of 

moving from one environment to another can be profound) and a lengthy process will 

prolong the uncertainty and worry.  In this respect, the Council needs to balance best 

practice consultation with its duty of care and make the process as quick as possible. 

Following advice from The Consultation Institute in 2018 the Council has developed a 

“Procedure for Managing the Closure of a Care Home Providing Services for Adults” 

which has been developed by examining best practice from the social care sector.

It is proposed that there is a consultation period from August 1st 2019 to 1st November 

2019 regarding the impact on residents and their families and the arrangements to 

provide alternative accommodation for residents.  The consultation will be jointly led by 

the Council and The Orders of St John Care Trust.

Page 47



The consultation will involve:

 Meetings on an individual basis or with a group of residents and families for each 

care home – these meetings will explain the reasons for the closure of the care 

home, the options available to move to an alternative care home, likely timescale 

for the potential closure and to understand the potential impact for each resident.

 Meetings with The Orders of St John Care Trust employees - these meetings will 

explain the reasons for the closure of the care home and the likely timescale for 

the closure.  Employment matters will be between The Orders of St John Care 

Trust and their staff.

 Briefings for local Councillors - these meetings will explain the reasons for the 

closure of the care homes, the options available for residents to move to an 

alternative care home, the timescale for the  closure and the wider care home 

issues for their constituents.

 Care Providers – these meetings will discuss the wider care home strategy and 

implications and opportunities for local care providers as a consequence of the 

care home closures.

7. Risk Assessment. 

The key risk for the Council is associated with the impact which the potential closure of 

the two care homes will have on residents and their families. 

Both homes provide accommodation for adults who require nursing or personal care. 

Because of the age, physical and mental disabilities and other care and support needs 

of the individuals concerned, any move would need to be managed sensitively. We do 

not underestimate the anxiety and concern that may be felt by residents and their 

families by this proposal. Our engagement and consultation with residents and their 

families will help us to better understand any negative impact based on the protected 

characteristics that the proposals may have and how we may mitigate this. 

In addition, the Council is mindful that reasonable adjustment and support and 

assistance will be required to enable residents to engage in the consultation process.  

The Due Regard Statement identifies that where necessary Independent Advocacy will 

be offered to ensure they are able to participate in the consultation.

Page 48



If the proposal to close either care home is not agreed by Cabinet the Council will need 

to discuss with Gloucestershire Care Partnership how the care homes will be able to 

operate as they are both forecasting a significant financial loss for the next 3 years. 

8.  Officer Advice.

The Commissioning Director, Adults and DASS’s professional opinion based on all 

available evidence and subsequent analysis is that the Cabinet approve the closure of 

Southfield and Wyatt House care homes and consult with residents and the families 

affected regarding the impact of the home closures.

9.  Equalities considerations.

In developing the proposal to close Southfield and Wyatt House, the service has 

referred to available demographic data and completed a Due Regard statement to 

accompany the report.   The Evolving Communities report referred to in section 

“Resident and Family Engagement” provides an independent assessment of the 

impacts which the proposed closure might have on those with the protected 

characteristics and has been taken into account in completing the due regard 

statement.

The consultation programme will also ensure that any issues identified in the Due 

Regard statement are addressed.

The people affected by the potential closure of Southfield and Wyatt House are:

 Residents and families living at Southfield and Wyatt House.

 Staff employed by The Orders of St John Care Trust at Southfield and Wyatt 

House.

 People who in the future may require an older persons care home in Stroud.

 Care home providers operating in Stroud. 

Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to 

satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

6.  Consultation Feedback.

Page 49



 The Consultation process is outlined above. On completion, there will be careful 

consideration of the comments and observations made to ensure that residents 

and families are appropriately supported to move to an alternative care home.

7.  Performance Management and Follow-up. 

7.1 Oversight during consultation with residents and their families.

To maintain the necessary levels of oversight and scrutiny, it is intended that there will 

be weekly briefings for the Cabinet member for Adult Care Commissioning, Councillor 

Roger Wilson on feedback from discussions with residents and their families.

7.2 Post implementation.

A report will be discussed with the Gloucestershire Joint Commissioning Executive and 

Board on the outcome of the care home closures and the impact on residents and 

families. The report will identify the key impact on residents and families and how the 

impacts have been managed. Any learning from the consultation on the impact on 

residents and familes will be considered for any  future consultation exercises.

Page 50



Report Title
To consider the future provision of care homes in 
Gloucestershire and the relevant consultation

Statutory Authority The Care Act 2014.

Relevant County Council 
policy

The Council’s Older People Care Home Strategy.

 

Resource Implications
Within existing budgets.

The costs associated with the closure of each care home are 
estimated to be £200,000. This figure is based on the costs 
associated with the closure of Townsend House and Trevone 
House, including the costs associated with the consultation 
process referred to in this report.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships There will be extensive consultation with care home providers 
and various NHS stakeholders.  

Decision Making and 
Involvement

A formal decision is required of the Cabinet regarding the 
closure of the two care homes.

The CCG Governing Body will need to consider the 
implications of the closure of the two care homes.

The Council will undertake extensive consultation with 
residents and their families regarding the impact of the closure 
of the two care homes.

Economy and Employment A sustainable older peoples’ care home market will provide 
employment opportunities across Gloucestershire.

Caring for people A sustainable older peoples’ care home market will support the 
needs of older people.

Social Value A vibrant and sustainable care home is an essential part of 
local communities.

Built Environment Consideration will need to be given to the future use of the two 
care homes sites, particularly in respect of Extra Care Housing.

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

N/A

Page 51



Education and Information The consultation sessions with residents and their families will 
provide an understanding for the reasons for the closure of the 
two care homes.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? / Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? / Maybe

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes.
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report.

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications Public Authorities have a duty under the Human Rights Act 
1998 not to act incompatibly with rights under the European 
Convention for the Protection of Fundamental Rights and 
Freedoms ( the Convention) when they are carrying out 
‘functions of a public nature.

The implementation of the decision should not result in the 
violation of any person’s rights under the European
Convention on Human Rights. Three Articles of the European 
Convention are capable of being relevant to any decision to 
close a residential care home and relocate residents. These 
are 

 Article 2 which provides that everyone’s right to life will 
be protected by law, 

 Article 3 which provides that that no one shall be 
subjected to torture or inhuman or degrading treatment 
and 

 Article 8 under which everyone has the right to respect 
for his family life and his home. Article 8 rights are not 
absolute and can be justified by public interest 
considerations including economic factors. 

The report explains the balance which has had to be struck 
between the overall rationale for the closures, including the 
economic factors, against the potential impact on individual 
residents in proceeding to close the homes and consult on the 
impact.  Best Practice will be followed during the relocation of 
residents, including consultation on any impacts which the 
changes might have on residents and their families, so that the 

Page 52

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


risks of any breach of human rights to residents are minimised.  

Consultation 
Arrangements

Residents and families living at Southfield and Wyatt House 
care homes, Stroud, care home providers in Stroud, employees 
of The Orders of St John Care Trust ( OSJCT) who work at 
Southfield and Wyatt House care homes, Stroud.

 It is proposed that there is a consultation period from August 
1st 2019 to 1st November 2019 regarding the impact on 
residents and their families and the arrangements to provide 
alternative accommodation for residents.  The consultation will 
be jointly led by the Council and The Orders of St John Care 
Trust.

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Contract Estate
Orchard House

45 rooms

Grevill and 

Ashley

50rooms & 15  

Intermediate 

care rooms

Monkscroft

80 rooms

Jubilee

60 rooms and 14 

Intermediate 

Care rooms

Southfield

34 rooms

Paternoster

40 rooms

Wyatt House

30 rooms
The Elms

45 rooms

Millbrook

80 rooms

Henlow Court

40 rooms
Rodley House

42 rooms

The Coombs

37 rooms

Westbury Court

42 rooms

Chestnut Court

80 rooms
Bohanam

39 rooms 

Older Home

Modern Home

Annex 

1

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

The Orders Of St. John Care Trust

OSJCT Southfield House
Inspection report

Woolram Wygate
Spalding
Lincolnshire
PE11 1PS

Tel: 01775724612
Website: www.osjct.co.uk

Date of inspection visit:
31 August 2017

Date of publication:
11 October 2017

Overall rating for this service Good  

Is the service safe? Good     

Is the service effective? Good     

Is the service caring? Good     

Is the service responsive? Good     

Is the service well-led? Good     

Ratings

Page 57



2 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

Summary of findings

Overall summary

OSJCT Southfield House is registered to provide accommodation and care for 32 older people and/or 
people who live with dementia. There were 29 people living in the service at the time of our inspection. 

The service was run by a company that was the registered provider. At this inspection the company was 
represented by two of their area operations managers. There was a registered manager in post. A registered 
manager is a person who has registered with the Care Quality Commission to manage the service. Like 
registered providers, they are 'registered persons'. Registered persons have legal responsibility for meeting 
the requirements in the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and associated regulations about how the service is
run. In this report when we speak about both the company (as represented by the area operations 
managers) and the registered manager we refer to them as being, 'the registered persons'. 

At the last inspection on 28 May 2015 the service was rated Good.  

At this inspection we found the service remained Good. 

This inspection was unannounced and was carried out on 31 August 2017. 

Care staff knew how to keep people safe from the risk of abuse including financial mistreatment. People had
been helped to avoid preventable accidents and medicines were safely managed. There were enough care 
staff on duty and background checks had been completed before new care staff had been appointed. 

Although some care staff had not received all of the training the registered persons said they needed, in 
practice they knew how to care for people in the right way. People enjoyed their meals and were helped to 
eat and drink enough. They had also been supported to obtain all of the healthcare assistance they needed. 

People were supported to have maximum choice and control of their lives and care staff supported them in 
the least restrictive way possible. Policies and systems in the service supported this practice. 

People were treated with compassion, respect and courtesy. Care staff recognised people's right to privacy 
and promoted their dignity. Confidential information was kept private. 

People had been consulted about the care they wanted to receive and had been given all of the assistance 
they needed. As part of this care staff had promoted positive outcomes for people who lived with dementia. 
In addition, people had been supported to pursue their hobbies and interests. There was a system for 
quickly and fairly resolving complaints.

People had been consulted about the development of their home and quality checks had been completed 
to ensure that people received safe care. Care staff were supported to speak out if they had any concerns 

Page 58



3 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

and good team work was promoted.  

Further information is in the detailed findings below.

Page 59



4 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

The five questions we ask about services and what we found

We always ask the following five questions of services.

Is the service safe? Good  

The service remained Good.

Is the service effective? Good  

The service remained Good.

Is the service caring? Good  

The service remained Good.

Is the service responsive? Good  

The service remained Good.

Is the service well-led? Good  

The service remained Good.

Page 60



5 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 

OSJCT Southfield House
Detailed findings

Background to this inspection
We carried out this inspection under Section 60 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 as part of our 
regulatory functions. This inspection was planned to check whether the registered persons continued to 
meet the legal requirements and regulations associated with the Health and Social Care Act 2008, to look at 
the overall quality of the service and to provide a rating for the service under the Care Act 2014. 

Before the inspection, the registered persons completed a Provider Information Return (PIR). This is a form 
that asks them to give some key information about the service, what the service does well and 
improvements they plan to make. We also examined other information we held about the service. This 
included notifications of incidents that the registered persons had sent us since our last inspection. These 
are events that happened in the service that the registered persons are required to tell us about. We also 
invited feedback from the local authority who contributed to the cost of some of the people who lived in the 
service. We did this so that they could tell us their views about how well the service was meeting people's 
needs and wishes. 

We visited the service on 31 August 2017 and the inspection was unannounced. The inspection team 
consisted of an inspector and an expert by experience.  An expert by experience is a person who has 
personal experience of using this type of service.

During the inspection we spoke with 13 people who lived in the service and with six relatives. We also spoke 
with two senior care workers, two care workers, the activities coordinator, the chef and the head of 
housekeeping. In addition, we met with the registered manager and two of the company's area operations 
managers. We observed care that was provided in communal areas and looked at the care records for five 
people who lived in the service. We also looked at records that related to how the service was managed 
including staffing, training and quality assurance. 

In addition, we used the Short Observational Framework for Inspection (SOFI). SOFI is a way of observing 
care to help us understand the experience of people who could not speak with us.

After our inspection visit we spoke by telephone with a further three relatives.

Page 61



6 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 Is the service safe?

Our findings  
People told us that they felt safe living in the service. One of them said, "I'm very settled here now and it was 
the right decision for me to move into here'. Another person who lived with dementia and who had special 
communication needs smiled appreciatively when we pointed towards a member of care staff who was 
nearby. Relatives were confident that their family members were safe. One of them remarked, "I consider 
this to be a very safe place indeed – I know my family member is as safe as they possibly can be."

Records showed that care staff had completed training and had received guidance in how to keep people 
safe from situations in which they might experience abuse. We found that care staff knew how to recognise 
and report abuse so that they could take action if they were concerned that a person was at risk. They told 
us they were confident that people were treated with kindness and they had not seen anyone being placed 
at risk of harm. In addition, we noted that care staff followed robust and transparent systems when assisting 
people to manage their personal spending money. 

Measures were in place to help people avoid preventable accidents. These included hot water being 
temperature controlled and radiators being guarded to reduce the risk of scalds and burns. In addition, 
people were provided with equipment such as walking frames and raised toilet seats to reduce the risk of 
falls. We also noted that suitable arrangements had been made to enable people to be assisted to quickly 
move to a safe place in the event of a fire or other emergency.

We found that there were reliable arrangements for ordering, administering and disposing of medicines. 
There was a sufficient supply of medicines and senior care staff who administered medicines had received 
training. We saw them correctly following the registered persons' written guidance to make sure that people 
were given the right medicines at the right times. Records showed that in the 12 months preceding our 
inspection visit there had been four occasions when a medicine had not been administered in the correct 
way. The registered manager said that the people concerned had not suffered any direct harm as a result of 
the mistakes. In addition, we saw that in each case the registered manager had been taken action to help 
prevent the same oversight from happening again. 

Records showed that a small number of care staff shifts had not been filled in the month preceding our 
inspection visit. However, we concluded that in practice there had been and were enough care staff on duty 
to provide people with the assistance they needed. This was because we were assured that the registered 
manager and other members of staff worked flexibly either to provide care themselves or to relieve care staff
from having to undertake non-essential duties. In addition, during the course of our inspection visit we saw 
people promptly receiving all of the care they needed and wanted. 

We examined records of the background checks that the registered persons had completed when 
appointing two new care staff. We found that in relation to both people all of the necessary checks had been
completed. These had been done to establish the applicants' previous good conduct and to confirm that 
they were suitable people to be employed in the service.

Good

Page 62



7 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 Is the service effective?

Our findings  
People were confident that care staff had the knowledge and skills they needed. They also told us that care 
staff had their best interests at heart. One of them remarked, "I like the staff because they're gentle and kind 
and never mind when I ask them for help." Relatives were also confident about this matter. One of them 
said, "Although on some days they're rushed in general the staff work together well as a team and my family 
member gets all of the attention they need."

Records showed that new care staff had received introductory training before they provided people with 
care. Although some care staff had not then received all of the on-going refresher training the registered 
persons said they needed, we found that in practice care staff knew how to care for people in the right way. 
Examples of this were care staff knowing how to correctly assist people who experienced reduced mobility. 
Another example was care staff knowing how best to help people to keep their skin healthy. This included 
knowing how to prevent people from developing sore skin and the action to take if this occurred. 

People told us that they enjoyed their meals with one of them remarking, "The food's okay here and 
certainly we get more than enough." We were present at lunch and we noted that the meal time was a 
relaxed and pleasant occasion. There was a choice of main dish and there was a very attractively presented 
sweet trolley that offered people a choice of seven options.  

We found that people were being supported to have enough nutrition and hydration. People had been 
offered the opportunity to have their body weight regularly checked so that any significant changes could be
brought to the attention of a healthcare professional. We also noted that care staff were making sure that 
people were eating and drinking enough to keep their strength up. This included assisting some people to 
eat their meals and gently encouraging others to have plenty of drinks. In addition, the registered manager 
had arranged for some people who were at risk of choking to have their food specially prepared so that it 
was easier to swallow.   

Records confirmed that people had received all of the help they needed to see their doctor and other 
healthcare professionals such as dentists, opticians and dietitians. Speaking about this a relative remarked, 
"I know if anything needs medical attention the staff are straight on the case and get the doctor involved."

The registered manager and care staff were following the Mental Capacity Act 2005 by supporting people to 
make decisions for themselves. They had consulted with people who lived in the service, explained 
information to them and sought their informed consent.  Records showed that when people lacked mental 
capacity the registered persons had ensured that decisions were taken in people's best interests. An 
example of this was the registered manager liaising with relatives and healthcare professionals when a 
person needed to have their bed lowered to the floor. This was in their best interests because previously the 
person had fallen when getting out of bed. 

People can only be deprived of their liberty in order to receive care and treatment when this is in their best 
interests and legally authorised under the Mental Capacity Act 2005. The application procedures for this in 

Good

Page 63



8 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

care homes and hospitals are called the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). Records showed that the 
registered persons had made the necessary applications for DoLS authorisations so that people who lived in
the service only received lawful care. 

Page 64



9 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 Is the service caring?

Our findings  
People were positive about the care they received. One of them commented, "I find the staff to be very kind 
and helpful." Relatives were also confident that their family members were treated with  compassion and 
kindness. One of them remarked, "I call to the service quite regularly and I've never seen anything other than
people being treated with kindness." Another visitor told us, "My friend is happy enough, safe, and has put 
on weight. They are taking their medication now which was a worry. Everything has been marvellous for 
them since they came in – the staff have made them feel so welcome."

We saw that care staff were informal, friendly and discreet when caring for people. They took the time to 
speak with people and we witnessed a lot of positive conversations that promoted people's wellbeing. An 
example of this occurred when a person became upset because they could not decide in which lounge they 
wanted to sit. A member of care staff noticed them becoming anxious and quietly reminded them about 
where they usually preferred to sit and the reasons for their choice. Shortly afterwards we saw the person 
happily sitting in the usual armchair and waving to the passers-by they liked to see. 

Care staff were considerate and we saw them making a special effort to welcome people when they first 
moved into the service so that the experience was positive and not too daunting. We also noticed that care 
staff had sensitively asked people how they wished to be addressed and had established what times they 
would like to be assisted to get up and go to bed. Another example was care staff consulting with people 
about how they wished to be checked at night. Speaking about this a person remarked, "I'm quite a light 
sleeper and so the staff know just to pop their head around the door and not to come in." 

We noted care staff recognised the importance of not intruding into people's private space. Bedroom, 
bathroom and toilet doors could be locked when the rooms were in use. In addition, people had their own 
bedroom that they had been encouraged to make into their own personal space. We also saw care staff 
knocking and waiting for permission before going into bedrooms, toilets and bathrooms. 

Documents showed that the registered manager had developed links with local lay advocacy services. Lay 
advocates are independent both of the service and the local authority and can support people to make 
decisions and to communicate their wishes. 

We found that people could speak with relatives and meet with health and social care professionals in 
private if this was their wish. In addition, care staff assisted people to keep in touch with their relatives by 
post and telephone. 

Written records that contained private information were stored securely. In addition, computer records were
password protected so that they could only be accessed by authorised staff. 

Good

Page 65



10 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 Is the service responsive?

Our findings  
People said that care staff provided them with all of the assistance they needed. One of them remarked, "I 
get all of the help I need and the staff are around all the time which is what I like to see." Relatives were also 
positive about the amount of help their family members received. One of them commented, "I think that the 
care is very good and I'd soon know if my family member wasn't getting the right assistance because they 
wouldn't be right in themselves."  

Records showed that care staff had carefully consulted with each person about the assistance they wanted 
to receive and had recorded the results in an individual care plan. These care plans were being regularly 
reviewed to make sure that they accurately reflected people's changing wishes. Records also confirmed that 
each person was receiving the care they needed as described in their individual care plan. This included 
help with washing and dressing, promoting their continence and managing routine medical conditions. 

We saw that care staff were able to provide reassurance for people who lived with dementia when they 
became distressed. We saw that when this occurred staff followed the guidance in the people's care plans so
that they supported them in the right way. An example of this was a person who was becoming upset 
because they could not clearly remember one of their relative's occupation. A member of care staff gently 
pointed to photographs of their relative and recounted to them what they understood to have been the 
occupation in question. This helped the person to recall the information in question and to seek comfort in 
the memories of family life this brought back to mind. 

Care staff understood the importance of promoting equality and diversity. We noted that arrangements had 
been made for people to meet their spiritual needs by attending a religious service. In addition, the 
registered manager was aware of how to support people who had English as their second language, 
including being able to make use of translator services. We also found that suitable arrangements had been 
made to respect each person's wishes when they came to the end of their life. An example of this was care 
staff making relatives welcome so that they could stay with their family members during their last hours to 
provide comfort and reassurance.

There was an activities coordinator who spent 20 hours each week in the service. Records showed that they 
had carefully consulted with each person about the particular activities they wished to be supported to 
enjoy. People told us that there were enough activities for them to enjoy. One of them said, "There seems to 
be different things to do most days." Records showed that people were being offered the opportunity to 
enjoy a wide range of social events including arts and crafts, quizzes, gentle exercises and games such as 
carpet bowls. During the course of our inspection visit we saw a number of people laughing together as they 
were supported by the activities coordinator to participate in a game of softball.

People told us that they had not needed to make a complaint about the service. However, they were 
confident that if there was a problem it would be addressed quickly. We noted that there was a complaints 
procedure that described how the registered persons intended to respond to concerns. Records showed 
that in the 12 months preceding our inspection visit the registered persons had received two complaints 

Good

Page 66



11 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

from relatives. We saw that on each occasion the registered persons had correctly followed their procedure 
to quickly and fairly resolve the matters concerned.    

Page 67



12 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 Is the service well-led?

Our findings  
People told us that they considered the service to be well run. One of them said, "All I can say is that the 
place seems to run as it should. The staff are here, we get our meals and things are okay." Relatives were 
also complimentary about the management of the service. One of them remarked, "Yes, I think it is a well led
home. The manager used to be a care staff member here and has moved up the ranks and I think that works 
well – they know everyone very well and they're always welcoming and get things sorted. They're very 
approachable, as are all the staff."

Documents showed that people had been regularly invited to attend residents' meetings at which they had 
been supported to suggest improvements to their home. We noted a number of examples of these 
suggested improvements being put into effect. An example of this was the steps the registered manager had 
taken after some people had expressed concerns about delays in care staff responding to call bells. The 
measures included more regular checks being competed of the automatic record that was created each 
time a call bell was used. We also looked that these records and they confirmed the call bells were 
consistently being promptly answered.

Records showed that the registered persons had regularly checked to make sure that people were reliably 
benefiting from having all of the help and facilities they needed. These checks included making sure that 
care was  being consistently provided in the right way, medicines were being dispensed correctly and staff 
had the knowledge and skills they needed. In addition, records showed that fire safety equipment, hoists 
and kitchen appliances were being checked to make sure that they remained in good working order. 

The registered persons had told us about any significant events that had occurred in the service. In addition, 
they had correctly displayed the quality ratings we gave at our last inspection. 

We found that care staff were provided with the leadership they needed to develop good team working 
practices. Records showed that there were handover meetings at the beginning and end of each shift when 
developments in each person's needs for care were noted and reviewed. In addition, care staff told us there 
was an open and inclusive approach to running the service. Furthermore, care staff were confident that they 
could speak to the registered persons if they had any concerns about people not receiving safe care. 

We also noted that people who lived in the service had benefited from the activities coordinator acting upon
good practice guidance. This included accessing guidance on health and social care professional websites 
to enable them to more effectively engage people in deciding what activities they would like to be offered.   

Good

Page 68



1 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

The Orders Of St. John Care Trust

OSJCT Wyatt House
Inspection report

Mathews Way
Paganhill
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL5 4EE

Tel: 01453764194
Website: www.osjct.co.uk

Date of inspection visit:
17 July 2018
18 July 2018
19 July 2018

Date of publication:
03 October 2018

Overall rating for this service Requires Improvement  

Is the service safe? Requires Improvement     

Is the service effective? Good     

Is the service caring? Good     

Is the service responsive? Requires Improvement     

Is the service well-led? Requires Improvement     

Ratings

Page 69



2 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

Summary of findings

Overall summary

This inspection was unannounced and took place on 17, 18 and 19 July 2018.

Following our previous inspection on 21 and 22 March 2017 the service was rated 'Requires Improvement'. 
We found the provider needed to make improvements to how the home was managed. It required 
consistent management by a manager who was registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC), 
improvements were needed to people's care plans so they accurately reflected people's care needs and the 
provider's quality monitoring processes needed to be more effective in making improvements which could 
be fully embedded and sustained. 

At this inspection we found some improvements had been made. People had benefited from a consistent 
manager being in post who was registered with the CQC. Some care plans had been re-written but several 
still did not reflect people's needs. Quality monitoring processes had taken place but these had not, 
identified the shortfalls in the management of people's risks, identified during this inspection, or 
successfully achieved full improvement in people's care plans, required following our previous inspection. 

We requested that the provider send us an immediate action plan on how they were going to ensure 
people's risks were fully assessed and safe and effective care was planned. An action plan was subsequently 
received which we will follow up in due course. 

Following this inspection an overall rating of 'Requires Improvement' was awarded. This is the third 
consecutive time the service has been rated 'Requires Improvement'. 

Wyatt House is a 'care home'. People in care homes receive accommodation and nursing or personal care as
single package under one contractual agreement. CQC regulates both the premises and the care provided, 
and both were looked at during this inspection. The home can 
accommodate 30 people in one adapted building. At the time of our inspection 29 people lived there. The 
home specialises in the care of people who live with dementia and who also require nursing care.

Wyatt House is a circular design with an inner, secure garden. People are accommodated across two floors. 
One floor provides accommodation for a small group of people who need less support and which promotes 
their independence. On the second floor people required all support with their daily needs which the design 
of the home and its fittings supported. The circular design is experienced on this floor, which allows people 
to walk freely, without interruption; but a seated area also provides a place to rest. People could access an 
outside seating area safely from this floor, but they were supported by staff to visit the whole of the garden. 
There was ample car parking in and around the home's grounds and wheelchair access to the home.

A registered manager was in post. A registered manager is a person who has registered with the Care Quality 
Commission to manage the service. Like registered providers, they are 'registered persons'. Registered 
persons have legal responsibility for meeting the requirements in the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and 

Page 70



3 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

associated Regulations about how the service is run.

Although the provider had processes in place to assess people's risks, these had not always been 
completed, in a timely manner, to ensure people would remain safe. Some people had been left with risks 
and areas of need, which had not been fully assessed or addressed through the planning of safe and 
effective care.  A breach of regulation was identified in relation to this. Practices were not consistent as we 
saw that other risks had been well assessed and appropriate care planned and delivered to reduce these.  

People's care plans still did not always give accurate detail about the care people required. This was despite
staff completing regular reviews of these. This had potential for people to receive unsafe or inappropriate 
care and a breach of regulation was identified in relation to this.

Since the last inspection and since the registered manager had been in post the provider had carried out 
quality monitoring checks of the home's overall performance. There had however, been less consistent 
follow up following these checks to ensure necessary areas of improvement were completed. The system in 
place had not been sufficiently effective and a breach of regulation was identified in relation to this.

There were arrangements in place for complaints and areas of dissatisfaction to be raised, although, the 
action taken in response to issues raised about people's laundry, had not led to these being resolved. We 
made a recommendation about the management of complaints.

People's medicines were managed safely and people were supported to take their medicines. People lived 
in a clean home where infection control measures were in place. There were enough staff to meet people's 
needs and staff had been safely recruited. There were arrangements in place for staff to receive appropriate 
training and support. Staff understood their responsibilities with regard to protecting people from abuse 
and poor practice.  

People had access to health care professionals. People were supported to make decisions about their care 
and treatment and where necessary, people's representatives were consulted. The principles of the Mental 
Capacity Act were followed to protect those who lacked mental capacity. People were supported to have 
maximum choice and control of their lives and staff supported them in the least restrictive way possible. The
policies and systems in the service supported this practice. 

People had a choice in what they ate and drank and in what activities they took part in. Staff were 
particularly kind and caring towards people and knew individual people well. This helped them to deliver 
people's care, support people's independence and promote people's self-worth. Staff responded straight 
away to anyones distress. Family and friends were welcomed and kept informed about people's progress, 
where appropriate. Activities were tailored to people's abilities, likes and preferences; they were meaningful 
to people and some had a therapeutic value.

People's end of life wishes were explored and they were supported to have a comfortable and dignified 
death. Staff supported people and others during times of loss and bereavement.

The registered manager had provided consistent leadership and was respected and liked by staff and 
relatives. There were arrangements in place which helped the registered manager to communicate 
effectively with all staff and relatives. We observed people, staff and relatives feeling comfortable enough to 
communicate with the registered manager when they needed to. The registered manager had made 
significant improvements to how the service operated and this was evidenced through past and present 
audits. The home was advertising for a deputy manager to help support staff further and to help embed and 

Page 71



4 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

sustain the improvements already made.

We found two breaches of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. You 
can see what action we told the provider to take at the back of the full version of this report

Page 72



5 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

The five questions we ask about services and what we found

We always ask the following five questions of services.

Is the service safe? Requires Improvement  

The service was not always safe. 

People's health risks were not always assessed sufficiently well 
enough to ensure the care needed to reduce or mitigate these, 
was provided in a timely manner.

Environmental risks were managed well in order to keep people 
safe. This included reducing risks associated with the spread of 
infection.

People's medicines were managed safely and people received 
support to take their medicines as prescribed.

There were enough staff to meet people's needs and staff were 
recruited safely so as to protect people from those that may not 
be suitable.

People were protected from potential abuse because staff 
adhered to the provider's policies and procedures, which aimed 
to protect people from harm.

Is the service effective? Good  

The service was effective.

People were supported to maintain their nutritional wellbeing 
and they had a choice in what they ate and drank.

People had access to appropriate health professionals who 
could help support their health needs. 

People were supported to make independent decisions and their
care was delivered in the least restrictive way. The principles of 
the Mental Capacity Act 2005 were adhered to so people who 
lacked mental capacity were protected.

People received care from staff who were supported and who 
received training to be able to meet their needs.

Is the service caring? Good  

Page 73



6 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

The service was caring.
People were cared for by caring, thoughtful and compassionate 
staff.

People were supported to express their needs, choices and to 
make simple decisions.

Staff knew people well and were able to tailor their care around 
people's ability to accept care as well as people's preferences.

Family members and others who mattered to people were made 
welcome and supported to be involved in people's care.

Is the service responsive? Requires Improvement  

The service was not always responsive. 

People's care plans did not always give staff the information they
needed to be able to respond effectively to people's needs.

There were arrangements in place for people and visitors to raise
a complaint and have this investigated. Actions taken had not 
always led to complaints and areas of dissatisfaction being 
resolved. 

People were supported to take part in activities which were 
designed to promote wellbeing and a sense of fun and 
belonging.

People at the end of their life were supported to have a dignified 
and comfortable death.

Is the service well-led? Requires Improvement  

The service was not well led.

The provider's quality monitoring systems had not always 
identified shortfalls, which had subsequently had an impact on 
people. Necessary action had not always been completed in a 
timely way to ensure safe and effective care was always 
provided.  

People had benefited from improved and consistent 
management from a registered manager who understood their 
responsibilities and who worked hard to meet these. 

Communication with staff, relatives and visitors to the home had 
improved and relevant information made more accessible these 
groups.  

Page 74



7 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

Feedback from people, relatives and other visitors to the home 
was monitored.

Page 75



8 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 

OSJCT Wyatt House
Detailed findings

Background to this inspection
We carried out this inspection under Section 60 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 as part of our 
regulatory functions. This inspection was planned to check whether the provider is meeting the legal 
requirements and regulations associated with the Health and Social Care Act 2008, to look at the overall 
quality of the service, and to provide a rating for the service under the Care Act 2014.

This inspection took place on 17, 18 and 19 July 2018 and was unannounced. It was carried out by one 
inspector and an expert by experience. An Expert by Experience is a person who has personal experience of 
using or caring for someone who uses this type of care service. In this case a person who has cared for a 
person who lives with dementia.

Prior to visiting the home, we reviewed the information we held about the home. This included notifications 
of events which have an impact on people and the home which the provider must legally send to us. We 
looked at information the provider sent us in the Provider Information Return (PIR). This is information we 
require providers to send us at least once annually. This was submitted by the provider on 6 April 2018 and it
gave some key information about the service, what the service does well and improvements they plan to 
make.

During our visit to the home we spoke with seven people who lived at Wyatt House and five relatives. We 
used the Short Observational Framework for Inspection (SOFI). SOFI is a way of observing care to help us 
understand the experience of people who could not talk with us. We reviewed eight people's care files which
contained care plans, risk assessments and other relevant care documentation, including weight monitoring
records. We also reviewed 15 people's bathing records and relevant care plans. We reviewed records 
pertaining to the Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of liberty Safeguards. 

We spoke with 10 staff which included the registered manager, one of the provider's operations directors, 
one nurse, one team leader, three care staff, the activities co-ordinator, a cook and an agency member of 
staff. We spoke with one health care professional about people's care and sought their views on the services 
provided by the home. We reviewed two staff recruitment files and the staff duty roster.  

We reviewed records relating to the management of the home. These included complaints records, quality 

Page 76



9 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

monitoring audits and the home's compliance improvement plan. We attended one staff handover and 
looked around the building.

We requested to be forwarded to us and received the home's Statement of Purpose and staff training 
record.

Page 77



10 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 Is the service safe?

Our findings  
We saw evidence that some risks had been fully identified, assessed and action taken to reduce these or 
eliminate these altogether. However, we could not be satisfied that people's risks were always sufficiently 
assessed and managed to ensure these were either reduced or eliminated altogether. The necessary care 
around people's risks was not always planned, in a timely manner, to ensure safe and effective care was 
provided. We found three examples of this. 

The first around the assessment of the potential risks of developing pressure ulcers following admission to 
the home. Prior to admission a pressure reducing mattress had been put in place for the person following 
the initial pre-admission assessment of needs. However, during the first inspection day we observed the 
person seated in an armchair that did not have a pressure reducing cushion in place. We spoke with the 
person and they were unable to reposition themselves. They also had their socked covered feet resting on 
the floor. Late afternoon we spoke with staff and ascertained that the person had not been moved or 
repositioned all day. We checed the person's care records and there was no completed risk assessment or 
care plan in place with regard to this risk. The pre-admission assessment recorded multiple health issues 
which would put this person potentially at risk. We raised our concerns about the current lack of safe and 
effective care in place to reduce or mitigate these risks. The registered manager addressed this straight away
and a pressure reducing cushion was put in place and the person's feet protected. On examination at this 
point one area of skin already showed the signs of pressure damage; the skin was red. We were later 
informed that the provider's pressure ulcer risk assessment had to be completed within 48 hours of 
admission. In this case, the lack of a timely and full assessment of this person's needs had left them at risk of
potentially developing pressure ulcers. 

The second was around the assessment and care planning for risks associated with diabetes. In a staff 
handover meeting we heard that one person had felt unwell that morning. Their blood sugar levels had 
been low and this had been rectified by giving them an early breakfast. We reviewed this person's care 
records which showed that their blood sugar levels had varied significantly from day to day since admission 
two weeks previously. A simple care plan was in place recording the fact this person was diabetic, what type 
of medicine they took for this and that they should have a balanced diet. There was no risk assessment in 
place and the care plan did not state what should be done about the variable blood sugar readings. It did 
not state what was a 'safe' range of levels for this person and what should be done if the person's levels were
outside of what was considered safe, for them. There was no protocol in place for risks associated with 
hypoglycaemia or hyperglycaemia. We spoke with one nurse about the variable blood sugar levels and 
raised our concerns about the lack of care planning around this condition and the potential risks associated 
with this. They told us they were going to get this person reviewed by the GP who was due to visit later. This 
person's medicines were subsequently reviewed but also, GP agreed blood sugar level parameters were set 
and recorded for guidance in the person's care plan. Guidance also included what to do if these parameters 
were not maintained.  

The third concern was the lack of effective risk management around a situation which had resulted in one 
person being injured. Following this accident the risk was assessed and action recorded and taken to 

Requires Improvement

Page 78



11 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

address this, despite the risk assessment being incomplete. This action however had not been maintained 
or incorporated into the person's care plan to ensure they remained safe. We found this person to be in a 
position which potentially put them at risk of a similar occurrence but also of choking. We raised our 
concerns about this. Staff told us how they normally repositioned this person to reduce the risk of choking, 
however, a lack of communication between staff on this day had not led to safe and effective care being 
delivered. Later, during the inspection the person was harmed for the second time in the same way. 

Whilst by the end of the inspection the registered manager had informed us how these matters would be 
addressed, the occurrences demonstrated failures to ensure care was provided to people in a safe way. The 
systems and processes in the home did not always result in people's risks being sufficiently assessed. 
Actions were not always successfully taken to ensure people's care was delivered in a safe and effective way.
This is a breach of Regulation 12 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 
2014. 

Environmental risks were assessed and managed. There were arrangements in place to monitor, maintain 
and service all equipment. This included moving and handling equipment; hoists and slings and the fabric of
the building which included windows restrictors and its main systems. These systems included, fire 
detection, water and heating, electrical and gas, nurse call bell and security systems. All staff were 
responsible for people's health and safety.

We observed the home to be clean without offensive odours being present. The cleaning staff who were fully
aware of their responsibilities in relation to keeping people safe when they cleaned. They knew how to 
adapt to people's needs and clean around these, they adhered to good infection control practice and took 
action to avoid spreading infection. For example, colour coded cleaning equipment was used and special 
arrangements were in place to keep the home clean when there was a known infection. All soiled laundry 
was segregated and handled safely. Care staff and kitchen staff also adhered to safe practices. Care staff 
wore protective gloves and aprons when delivering personal care and helping people with their food. 
Kitchen staff wore protective clothing and the kitchen and food servery areas were kept secure, clean and 
had limited access.

People's medicines were managed safely. People received their medicine as prescribed and time was taken 
to support them to take these. Medicines were kept secure at all times. Medicine records were well 
maintained by the staff. Prescribed medicines were reviewed every six months by the GP that visited the 
home to ensure what was prescribed was still effective and relevant.

We observed people receiving care and support when they needed it. There were enough staff to meet 
people's needs. The registered manager used agency care staff, when needed, to maintain safe staffing 
levels. Information was forwarded to us following the inspection which showed the numbers of staff of duty 
were determined by the provider's dependency tool. The registered manager told us they could use their 
discretion in how staff were deployed. Since being in post the registered manager had recruited more staff 
and was still actively recruiting. The home required another member of night staff and a deputy manager. 
The Provider Information Return (PIR) stated that a head of dementia was to also be recruited. This was to 
help support this area of care; there had been no suitable candidates to date. 

Recruitment records showed that the service adhered to the provider's recruitment procedures and only 
recruited staff after successful completion of various checks. These included clearances by the Disclosure 
and Barring Service (DBS). An enhanced check was required which checked the potential member of staff 
against all police records as well as against the list of people barred to work with vulnerable adults. 
References were sought and the person's previous employment history explored. These checks helped the 

Page 79



12 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

provider make better employment decisions in order to protect people from those who may not be suitable 
to care for them. 

There were arrangements in place to help protect people from abuse. The provider's policy and procedures 
on this were known to the all the staff we asked about this, this included care and cleaning staff.  None of the
staff spoken with were hesitant in telling us what they should do if they observed or suspected abuse. Senior
staff adhered to both the provider's policies and procedures on this as well as the local authority's joint 
working protocols. This meant they reported and shared relevant information with other professionals to 
help safeguard people. Staff were fully aware of the provider's whistle blowing procedures. They told us they
had confidence in the registered manager to deal with anything they reported to them. There was guidance 
in the staff room on both these processes.

Page 80



13 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 Is the service effective?

Our findings  
People were supported to eat and drink and to maintain their nutritional well-being. Nutritional risks were 
identified and managed. Any concerns relating to people's weight or their appetite were discussed with the 
visiting GP. Many people walked with purpose and were in constant motion they were given additional 
support to maintain their weight. The cook told us this was done by fortifying people's food. They added a 
cream product to foods to increase the calorie content. Staff provided fortified drinks and snacks in-
between meals and during the night if needed. Meals were prepared for other dietary needs such as 
diabetes. One person told us they were on a restricted diet due to their medications. They told us that all the
staff knew what they could and could not eat. 

We observed staff supporting people to either eat their meals independently, or where needed, giving more 
support to those who could not do this. Support at meals times and in-between meals was given in a way 
which maintained people's dignity. When staff assisted people to eat and drink this was done in an un-
rushed way. People were provided with a choice of food for their main meals; sometimes this needed to be a
visual choice at the time of eating. People who remained in their bedrooms or in bed, had drinks within their
reach or were helped to have a drink on a regular basis. Staff provided a supportive and relaxed mealtime 
experience. Dining tables were laid attractively and music, chatter and laughter were all part of the dining 
experience. We observed two staff eating their lunch with people which provided encouragement and 
company.

People had access to health care professionals and health assessments and reviews were completed when 
needed. Health professionals usually visited people at the home, but where necessary, staff supported 
people to attend, hospital, dental or optical appointments. People's care records showed they had been 
seen by professionals such as specialist skin care practitioners, community mental health practitioners, 
dieticians, speech and language therapists, physiotherapist and occupational therapists. The home was 
visited on a regular basis by a local GP who the registered manager said staff could contact whenever they 
needed to. We spoke to the home's GP when they visited. They told us people's needs in the home were 
"extremely challenging and complex". They said, "I think the home does really well." They confirmed that the
staff always followed their instructions, nurses were always well informed and had necessary information 
ready when they visited. 

We checked whether the service was working within the principles of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA) 
and whether any conditions on authorisations to deprive a person of their liberty were being met. People 
can only be deprived of their liberty so that they can receive care and treatment when this is in their best 
interests and legally authorised under the MCA. The authorisation procedures for this in care homes and 
hospitals are called the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). The MCA provides a legal framework for 
making particular decisions on behalf of people who may lack the mental capacity to do so for themselves. 
The Act requires that, as far as possible, people make their own decisions and are helped to do so when 
needed. When they lack mental capacity to take particular decisions, any made on their behalf, must be in 
their best interests and as least restrictive as possible. 

Good

Page 81



14 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

We found staff were adhering to the principles of the Act. People were supported to make individual 
decisions and their care was delivered in the least restrictive way possible. DoLS applications had been 
submitted to the local county council (the supervisory body), the majority of which still needed to be 
processed by the supervisory body. Five people had authorised DoLS in place; one of these had an 
additional condition attached. This required an appropriate professional to review the care planned for this 
person's personal care (washing, bathing and dressing). The person could at times be resistive to this and 
the care needed to support this needed to be monitored. This had been reviewed by a social worker and the 
care plan and care was regularly reviewed by the home's nursing staff. We did not observe anyone being 
forced to do what they did not want to do. Care plans recorded clear instructions for staff when people were 
resistive to care and we observed staff following these. This usually involved leaving the person and staff 
returning later to deliver care at a time the person was more able to accept their intervention. 

All care was planned and given in the least restrictive way. Examples of this included, staff providing 
people's care around the person's routines, preferences and their ability to accept care. For example, one 
person was given food and drink, which they could eat when they wanted to remain walking, instead of 
trying to persuade them to sit when they did not want to. Staff also encouraged and supported this person 
to rest when they did not recognise the need to do this. Bed rails were not used for people who may perceive
them as a barrier. Instead specialised equipment such as beds which lowered to the floor and padded mats 
on the floor were used to keep people safe. Administering people's medicines covertly (hidden in food or 
drink) was only done as a last resort and where a decision had been made to do this in the person's best 
interests. The use of one to one support was closely monitored to avoid unreasonable supervision and 
control. 

Staff were trained in relevant subjects to support safe and lawful care. Staffs' on-going development was 
supported through the provider's support sessions called Trust in Conversation. Since being in post the 
registered manager had worked closely with the provider's training department to ensure all staff 
completed necessary training. The training record showed that the majority of staff had completed training 
in subjects which the provider considered to be a basic requirement. These included, fire safety, safe moving
and handling, emergency life support, nutrition and well-being, health and safety, infection control and the 
MCA and DoLS. 

Where staff had not yet completed these subjects or had missed update training, there were arrangements 
in place to ensure they completed these. Staff new to care were supported to complete the Care Certificate; 
an agreed set of 15 minimum standards that sets out the knowledge, skills and behaviours expected of 
specific job roles in the health and social care sectors. It should form part of a robust induction programme. 
All staff completed induction training and whilst we were at the home we observed staff arriving to do this. 
This training was delivered by the provider's training manager.

Additional training had been completed by some staff which included, safe use of bed rails, medication 
administration, advanced MCA and DoLS and fire marshal training. Visiting health care professionals also 
supported staff's training and knowledge in other areas of care, such as, care of the skin and pressure ulcer 
risks, prevention of falls, wound care and care of the diabetic. 

Staff had completed training in dementia awareness and their practice was supported by staff with more 
knowledge on the subject. This included, two nurses with mental health nursing qualifications, one nurse 
with a degree in dementia care and the home's dementia link worker (a member of staff who has completed
additional training to be able to promote and support best practice in dementia care). Nurses received 
support to re-validate their registration with their regulating body the Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC). 
The Provider Information Return (PIR) stated that care leaders were completing competencies in clinical 

Page 82



15 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

observations so that they could support the nurses in monitoring people's health.

The layout of the building and the adaptions made to it helped support the needs of those who lived with 
dementia, as well as people's physical needs. Its circular design provided an uninterrupted route for those 
who walked with purpose and who preferred to be in constant motion. The registered manager had 
introduced a seating area half way round where people could rest. We observed one person, who walked 
with purpose most of the time, take numerous opportunities to rest in this area before they recommenced 
walking. The building's exits and entrances, as well as areas of high risk, such as the food serving areas and 
medicine room, were key pad protected. The use of both worded and pictorial signs and different colours 
helped people locate necessary facilities, such as the toilets. 

The placement of various objects and pictures on the walls not only created points of interest and 
engagement for people but also acted as points of reference, again helping people to orientate themselves. 
Busy patterns for décor were kept to a minimum so as not to over stimulate people or confuse them. 
Communal bathrooms contained bath hoists and easy access showers and toilet areas were fitted with 
hand rails to provide support. Bedrooms and communal rooms were fitted with call bells so staff could be 
easily summoned when needed.

Page 83



16 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 Is the service caring?

Our findings  
We observed people to be exceptionally vulnerable; many lived with advanced dementia, were totally 
dependent on staff for all their needs and the majority were between 80 and 90 years old; older in some 
cases. All the staff needed to be of a caring and compassionate disposition to understand the needs of this 
group of people and their relatives. We observed all staff to be exceptionally caring, both in the way they 
spoke with people and in the way they physically supported people. We observed that staff enjoyed being 
with and understood people who lived with dementia. 

Staff were patient and gentle as well as respectful and thoughtful. People looked comfortable around the 
staff. People who could verbally communicate talked freely with the staff and clearly enjoyed their company.
One person said, "If I get fed up I just go and have a chat with someone, [name of member of staff] is a lovely 
girl, friendly." Where people were unable to effectively express how they felt or tell staff what their needs 
were, we observed staff to be aware of what was needed. People who did not communicate verbally and 
where non-verbal communication was also limited, staff ensured that a link between them and the person 
was maintained throughout the day. We observed staff just saying hello to people as they passed by or 
stopping and checking on people. 

Staff knew people well and although not always, staff could assess a person's wellbeing by reading their 
body language or facial expression. When people rejected help or company staff were non-judgemental and 
respectful towards the person; they often returned later when the person was more accepting of this. When 
staff spoke with us about people's care needs it was clear they understood that each person's journey with 
dementia was different. 

Staff delivered care around people's preferences and their ability, at the time, to accept support. Care 
delivery was therefore personalised and tailored to the individual. Staff helped make people feel as if they 
mattered. We observed one person following the care staff with the tea trolley. The staff chatted with them 
and supported them to be involved in the activity, which the person clearly enjoyed. At another time we 
observed one of the housekeeping staff respond to a person's distress. They and another member of staff 
helped this person's wellbeing improve. In this case, doll therapy helped reduce this person's anxiety and 
distress. The member of the housekeeping team understood the importance of the doll to this person and 
related to the doll as if it were the person's baby. They did this in a caring and respectful way. The person 
began to settle and became less distressed. 

Staff needed to be able to communicate with people who quite often could not do this effectively. We 
observed a gentleness and fondness towards people when staff communicated with them. We observed 
staff choosing the right moment when to communicate verbally with people. They approached people with 
a welcoming smile, spoke in a steady and non-threatening way so that people who were beginning to feel 
anxious, did not feel overwhelmed by their presence. Staff sometimes used hand jesters to support what 
they were saying verbally or to extend a sign of friendship. This helped people respond well to the staff so 
they could effectively meet people's needs without this being a challenge for people. We observed staff 
making suggestions and providing prompts which also helped people remember what it was they wanted to

Good

Page 84



17 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

say or do. One relative described the staff as being "very attentive, patient, excellent, and so kind."

Information about how to communicate with people was recorded in people's care plans. Some people 
required information to be provided in different formats. For one person this sometimes included printed 
information on different coloured paper. Staff aimed to build trusting relationships with people and work 
collaboratively with relatives so that they could support people's care needs and help them make simple 
choices about their daily activities. This was done by asking those who knew the person best to share 
information about the person and their life. Information was gathered about people's work, hobbies, what 
had been important to them, significant life events (good or bad) and who mattered to the person. This 
information was recorded and it helped staff know the person well so they could deliver people's care and 
support people to make simple choices about their daily activities. We were told that one relative supported 
their relative's particular communication needs with an iPad. The relative and staff worked together to 
ensure they and the person communicated effectively with each other so that the person's needs could be 
better understood.  

Staff knew some people particularly well and were skilled at reading their body language and their 
behaviours which helped them to pre-empt and understand behaviours which could be perceived as 
challenging. In one case, reading the person's behaviour and responses to things helped staff support the 
person through the loss of their spouse who had lived in the home with them. Staff had been thoughtful and 
sensitive in how they approached this by slowly removing items in the room which triggered distress in the 
person. For example, the second bed which now remained empty and an armchair no longer sat in. 

Staff welcomed visitors and supported people's family and friends when needed. One group of relatives told
us they visited regularly but not frequently and they told us staff were always very welcoming. They said, 
"They always recognise us and call us by our names which is lovely. They [staff] are always eager to update 
us on how [name] has done since our last visit." They also commented that "all support" for their relative's 
90th Birthday had been "forthcoming" and they had appreciated this. The Provider Information Return (PIR) 
stated that the home planned to hold an answer and question evening for relatives. The home's GP and one 
of the provider's Admiral Nurses (a specialist practitioner in supporting people with dementia and their 
families) would be present at this. The registered manager and GP told us they still planned to hold this. 

People's privacy and dignity was upheld. Personal care was delivered in private and in a way which was 
dignified. People's personal space, their bedroom was respected as such by the staff. The Provider 
Information Return (PIR) stated that one person had requested a key to lock their bedroom when they were 
not using it, which had been provided to them. Couples were sometimes admitted to the home and their 
privacy, as a couple, was respected. Information about people was kept confidential and secure. The 
provider ensured necessary requirements under the Data Protection Act and General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR) were met. This included making sure that care records were properly archived, people 
were given information on how their information maybe used and all electronically held records were 
secure.

Page 85



18 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 Is the service responsive?

Our findings  
During our last inspection we found care plans were not always giving enough detail about people's care 
needs to ensure staff could be fully responsive to these. During this inspection the registered manager told 
us some care plans had been re-written, but overall progress on improving these had been slow. After 
observing people and the care delivered to them, as well as talking with staff about people's needs, we 
found care plans were not always reflective of what we saw or heard. Care plans did not always contain 
relevant and necessary information about people's current care needs. In some situations, the practical 
planning of people's care (so not just the written care plans), had not been sufficient to always ensure safe 
and effective care.   

Before admission, people's needs were assessed and predominantly people's relatives were involved in this 
process. They were consulted about the care people were to receive and had an opportunity to speak on 
behalf of their relative. If the person was able to engage in this process they were fully involved. We observed
relatives during the inspection being updated by staff and the registered manager about their relatives' care.
Where people could also be involved in this process they were. We saw good examples of where people's 
preferences, likes and dislikes were added to their care plans, therefore some care plans were personalised. 
The registered manager told us some staff were more skilled at writing personalised care plans than others. 
Care staff told us they were not involved in the writing of care plans but were consulted by the nurses who 
wrote these. The care staff had access to people's care plans so could read these. 

We found care plans had not always been well maintained, so they did not always contain relevant and 
accurate information about people's current needs. Care plans had been reviewed each month, as per the 
provider's expectation, but the changes to people's needs and abilities tended to be recorded in the 
monthly review only. This meant the content of the main care plan did not always alter when people's care 
needs altered. In some cases, this necessitated a read through of several monthly reviews to find out what 
the latest care requirements were and when they had changed. It was not unusual for us to either observe 
care being given or learn about people's care from the staff and the care plan be different from this. 

Two examples of this were, one person's eating and drinking care plan stated the person required a 
"prompt" and were to be "encouraged" to eat at meals times. We observed the support given to this person 
at two mealtimes and this was not what we observed. A member of staff told us this person now required 
staff to physically support them to eat and drink. This person's dementia had progressed and they were now
unable to independently feed themselves or make decisions about their food and drink. Another record of 
wound care given to a person did not reflect the instructions last given by the wound care specialist nurse 
which were recorded in a care plan review. The care plan itself was difficult to follow, because of numerous 
amendments. We ascertained from other records that what was on the care plan was not what was 
happening in practice. 

We reviewed 15 people's personal hygiene care plans with other records kept (daily care records and 
bathing records) of who had been provided with, or offered a bath or shower since May 2018. The majority of
the care plans stated the same, which was "Offer [name] a bath or shower once a week". This did not 

Requires Improvement

Page 86



19 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

demonstrate personalised care planning, although one person's care plan stated, "Would enjoy a shower at 
least once a week." The last 'bath' provided for this person was in May 2018 with no other entry of a bath, 
shower or refusal of either in-between. A member of staff however confirmed this person was supported to 
wash daily at a sink. This member of staff went through the current bathing needs of the 15 people on our 
list. Only one person was not able to have a bath or shower any longer, although they confirmed some 
people sometimes declined. They confirmed that the wording in one person's care plan, "Will request a 
shower" was no longer relevant because this person's dementia had also progressed and staff now needed 
to "suggest" and "encourage" a bath or shower.  

Unclear and inaccurate care plans and other care records did not give a true account of the care people 
received and could potentially lead to unsafe or inappropriate care being delivered. This is a breach of 
Regulation 17 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. 

There were arrangements in place for people, their relatives and other visitors to make a complaint. The 
provider's complaints procedure was displayed for guidance in the main home but not in the smaller unit. 
We fed this back to the registered manager who rectified this by the second day of the inspection. All 
complaints were recorded, along with when they were acknowledged, the investigation, the findings and 
when the complaint was concluded. One complaint, received about the care of a person, had been 
investigated and not upheld. The investigation records showed that each point had been investigated and 
responded to fully. Another complaint had been investigated and the complainant had remained unhappy 
with the response. This had involved staff respecting the wishes of a person, who was able to make an 
independent decision about their treatment, but where the relative had not been happy with this. Some 
lessons had been learnt from this complaint however, in how information about medicines was gathered 
when people were admitted for short periods of time. 

Relatives we spoke with all reported a frustration with clothes going missing or clothes that were not their 
relatives' being found in their wardrobes and being worn by their relative. Three out of five relatives spoken 
with, at some point had raised dissatisfaction with this and had been told it was their responsibility to name 
their relative's clothing. One relative told us they used a marker pen but after so many washes this faded. 
Another relative told us they "had given up asking about this now." Relatives who had found their relative in 
other people's clothing had found this upsetting and told us it did not uphold their relatives' dignity. This 
was obviously an unresolved area of dissatisfaction. The registered manager reiterated that it was the 
relatives' responsibility to make their relatives' clothing when we fed back this information. Various other 
ways of marking and naming clothing were discussed at the time of the inspection but it remained unclear 
to us that further action was going to be taken to try and address this. 

We recommend that the provider seek advice, from a reputable source, about the management and 
resolving of complaints and areas of dissatisfaction.

Activities were delivered to people in a way they enjoyed and which was meaningful to individual people. 
The activities coordinator said that the aim of their intervention was to demonstrate to people that they 
were valued and to improve their quality of life. They said, "To get that momentary spark of joy or 
recognition" and they went onto to say "The key to getting this is to know residents as well as possible." 
Activities were used for different reasons, one being to support people's ability to accept the care and 
support they needed and for maintaining people's physical and mental wellbeing. For example, we 
observed one person be supported to walk to the dining room to have a meal; they could be reluctant to do 
this at times. The activities co-ordinator used singing and dancing as a distraction and motivator to get the 
person to do this. The person was clearly engaged in this activity and looked relaxed. This was achieved 
successfully because the activities co-ordinator knew the person well; they had built up a relationship with 

Page 87



20 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

the person and knew what motivated them, they knew how to read the person's non-verbal cues and knew 
what songs they liked. 

Some people remained in bed and were not able to engage in communal activities, however, activities, 
which were meaningful, to them were taken to them. One person liked to colour in pictures so crayons and 
pictures were left within reach of this person. We observed them using these several times as we passed by. 
Another person's love of music and singing was known to the activities co-ordinator. This person's ability to 
communicate effectively and to do anything for themselves was now severely compromised by their 
dementia. Volunteers from a local charity visited the home on a regular basis to provide singing therapy to 
people as a group. Before starting their group activity they visited this person. We observed a noticeable 
change in this person, who before their arrival had been repetitively picking at their bed clothes and verbally
mumbling. Once the singers stated singing the person's engagement was obvious. Their eyes followed the 
volunteers, the repetitive behaviour stopped and their facial muscles relaxed. 

The activities co-ordinator gave examples of how group singing benefited people in other ways. This 
included, lung exercise, movement and exercise and reminiscence. Some people who did not always talk 
freely sang freely. Other activities were garden based and included the building of insect houses and 
mobiles. A raised trough had been planted with vegetables, which people sometimes watered and tended. 
Activities were used to help people feel included. 

People's end of life wishes and preferences were explored with them and if more appropriate, with their 
relatives. These were recorded so that staff were aware of these at the appropriate time. The registered 
manager and nurses confirmed that the local GP practice gave very good support to people at this time. 
Anticipatory end of life medicines were prescribed in case these were needed to relieve pain or distress at 
the end of a person's life. An end of life noticeboard gave information to visitors on what the home's aims 
were at this time, how they as a relative could be involved and where bereavement support could be found.

Page 88



21 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 Is the service well-led?

Our findings  
Since our last inspection in March 2017 a home manager had been appointed in October 2017. They had 
been successfully registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC), as registered manager of Wyatt 
House, in January 2018. The home had previously been without consistent management for some time and 
without a registered manager for over a year. The registered manager explained they had therefore needed 
to make significant improvements to the home's systems and processes, its compliance with necessary 
regulations and the provider's expected requirements. One health care professional told us "The service has 
been transformed since [name of registered manager] has been in post." A relative told us they had noticed 
improvements since the registered manager had been in post. They said, "There are now adequate staff, 
before there were not."

In November 2017 the provider carried out a full internal audit and showed that improvements were needed
to areas such as those reported on in our March 2017 inspection. This included improvements in the 
provision of staff training, completion of staffs' planned one to one support sessions and needed 
improvements to the contents of care plans and care plan reviews as well as other provider requirements. In 
January 2018 the provider re-audited the home and significant improvements had been achieved overall. In 
May 2018 a provider's action plan was set with the registered manager and one of the actions still needing to
be fully completed was a review of people's care plans and an improvement in the contents of these. Other 
actions had also been added, for example, senior staff completion of training around the new General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR). 

During this inspection we found care plans were not always accurate and containing relevant information 
about people's needs and their risks. Some care plans had been clearly re-written and improved on, whilst 
others had been reviewed on a monthly basis, but the content of the  main care plan had not been altered 
to reflect changes in people's abilities, needs and care. The care plans were therefore not always giving staff 
accurate and up to date guidance on people's care needs. The registered manager was aware of this 
through their auditing of the care records. When followed up by the registered manager staff had explained 
to them that they did not always have time to re-write and amend care plans. Progress on this necessary 
improvement had therefore been slow and was still not complete. 

We also found that the necessary systems and processes, needed to ensure people's risks were sufficiently 
assessed and care was planned around these risks, in a timely manner, were not effective. There were 
examples of people having not received safe and effective care. 

The provider's arrangements for the line management of the home had changed since the last inspection 
and for some months the registered manager had not had the support of an area operations manager 
(AOM). The registered manager explained that there were senior managers they could contact if they needed
advice however and this was witnessed during the inspection. Arrangements had been made by the provider
to continue some quality monitoring of the home during this time; seen in the provider's internal audits 
completed and a visit by a provider representative in May 2018. The next planned visit by a representative of 
the provider however, was unknown. This suggested a fragmented home line management structure, which 

Requires Improvement

Page 89



22 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

had not been able to provide the home with the support it required to successfully get all necessary 
improvements completed; example, the contents of people's care plans. It had also not identified a shortfall 
in risk management and had not identified a lack of accurate care planning in relation to people's risks. 

The provider's quality monitoring systems were not always effective enough to protect people from unsafe 
and inappropriate care. This is a breach of regulation 17 of the Health and Social Care Act (Regulated 
Activities) Regulations 2014.

We reviewed other audits which had been completed by the registered manager, which showed 
improvements had been achieved and that others were making progress. For example, in April 2018 a care 
plan audit identified that no reference had been made to a person's loss of weight in the person's relevant 
care plan review. Following this the subsequent reviews referred to the person's weight and the 
improvements being made to this. In March 2018 a medication audit showed that particular guidance 
(protocols) were not always in place for medicines prescribed to be used 'as required'. A re-audit on 4 July 
2018 showed this action had been met and protocols were being completed for these medicines. 

We met the provider's newly appointed regional operations director who told us the AOM support was under
review. 

The registered manager held meetings with staff to communicate their expectations and to give them 
updates and to share feedback from audits. They also sought feedback from staff on ideas and suggestions 
to improve the services provided. Staff had worked hard to improve the information available to people and 
relatives on, for example, the home's noticeboards. Detailed information was seen on noticeboards 
dedicated to safeguarding, management of falls,  dementia care and end of life care. A newsletter had also 
been started to improve communication with families, friends and other visitors. Relatives we spoke with 
had found both these initiatives helpful. 

Feedback on the services provided was gathered from relatives and other visitors, informally by the 
registered manager. Comments and feedback left on a website used for this purpose were monitored by the 
registered manager. We discussed the feedback left by one relative which had also been received as a 
complaint by the home. The circumstances behind an injury to a person had been investigated and, 
although thought to be an unwitnessed accident caused by another person living in the home, an apology 
that this had happened at all was given. The points of complaint were also investigated and not 
substantiated. Other comments made this year (2018) praised the care and support given to people and 
their relatives. One comment said, "Mum was treated with care and dignity during her stay, staff genuinely 
showed interest in Mums well-being, trying to involve her and interact rather than leave her alone and 
isolated." The relative who wrote this also reported feeling "supported under difficult circumstances." A 
volunteer who regularly visits the home commented that they found the atmosphere welcoming. They said, 
"The staff [are] friendly and helpful. The residents engaged and cared for." Other comments prior to this 
were predominantly positive and praising staff for their kindness and care.

The registered manager ensured they were up to date with necessary knowledge by reading relevant 
journals and visiting professional websites, by liaising with visiting professionals and attending the 
provider's management meetings. They had for example, attended Gloucestershire's Dementia Conference 
in 2017 to ensure the home was able to meet Gloucestershire's Dementia Strategy and ensure best practice 
in dementia care could be delivered. 

They understood and fulfilled their responsibilities as registered manager which included making sure the 
CQC received all appropriate notifications, that the rating awarded to the home was prominently displayed 

Page 90



23 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

and improvements in the services provided to people were made. The improvements that had already been 
made now needed to be successfully sustained and those identified as required in this report need to be 
fully met.

Page 91



24 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

The table below shows where regulations were not being met and we have asked the provider to send us a 
report that says what action they are going to take.We will check that this action is taken by the provider.

Regulated activity Regulation
Accommodation for persons who require nursing or 
personal care

Regulation 12 HSCA RA Regulations 2014 Safe 
care and treatment

People's risks were not always sufficiently 
assessed, in a timely manner, to ensure safe 
and effective care was delivered in order to 
reduced or mitigated risks and keep people 
safe. Regulation 12 (1) (2) (a) and (b).

Regulated activity Regulation
Accommodation for persons who require nursing or 
personal care

Regulation 17 HSCA RA Regulations 2014 Good 
governance

People's care plans did not always record 
accurate detail about people's care needs for 
staff guidance or always record the care which 
was being delivered to people.  
Regulation 17 (2) (c).

The quality monitoring processes in place had 
not been fully effective in identifying when risks
to people were not being adequately managed 
and when a lack of progressed actions then 
went on to have an impact on people – for 
example, care plans containing inaccurate 
detail about people's care needs. Regulation 17
(2) (a) and (b).

Action we have told the provider to take

This section is primarily information for the provider

Page 92



© ASV Research Ltd

Gloucestershire County 
Council Care Homes in 
Stroud: Engagement 
Report

5 July 2019

Page 93



© ASV Research Ltd

Contents

1 INTRODUCTION.........................................................................................1
1.1 Introduction .................................................................................................1

1.2 Background.................................................................................................2

1.3 Report Structure .........................................................................................4

2 SOUTHFIELDS...........................................................................................5
2.1 Introduction .................................................................................................5

2.2 The discussions ..........................................................................................5

3 WYATT HOUSE........................................................................................13
3.1 Introduction ...............................................................................................13

3.2 The Discussions .......................................................................................13

4 DIRECT SUBMISSIONS...........................................................................22
4.1 Introduction ...............................................................................................22

4.2 Main themes from correspondence ..........................................................22

5 CONCLUSIONS........................................................................................24
5.1 Conclusions for Consideration..................................................................24

6 APPENDIX ONE: BRIEFING SENT TO RELATIVE/CARERS ................27
6.1 Introduction ...............................................................................................27

6.2 Southfield Briefing.....................................................................................27

6.3 Wyatt House Briefing ................................................................................30

Page 94



1
© ASV Research Ltd

1 INTRODUCTION
Background and context

1.1 Introduction
This report provides independent analysis of the outcomes of an engagement exercise 
by Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) into the future of their care homes in 
Stroud.

ASV1 was commissioned to independently facilitate and analyse two engagement 
events arranged by GCC to explore attitudes among residents, family members and 
carers into the issues they face keeping care homes open in Stroud.

Two engagement meetings were held on the morning and afternoon of 26th June 
2019, these were at:

▪ Southfield Care Home 10.00 to 11:30 am;
▪ Wyatt House Care Home 2.00 to 3:30 pm.

There was a strong turnout at each of the engagement events:

▪ Southfield 40 relatives/carers and residents;
▪ Wyatt House 35 relative/carers.

In addition, five written submissions were received via email or letter as part of this 
engagement activity.

All activity undertaken by ASV is conducted in accordance with the market research 
Society’s code of conduct and guidelines. All opinions and statements are reported 
anonymously unless the respondent has given us direct permission to reproduce their 
comments, as is the case where letters and emails were received.

1 ASV is the trading name of ASV Research Ltd

Page 95



2
© ASV Research Ltd

1.2 Background2

Gloucestershire County Council currently own 15 care homes across the county, 
which since April 2005 have been run by Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP). 
GCP is a joint venture between the Orders of St John Care Trust, a not-for-profit 
charitable trust providing care for older people, and bpha, a social housing 
association.

GCP run four care homes in Stroud and Dursley providing 149 care home beds in 
total, these are:

▪ The Elms;
▪ Henlow Court;
▪ Southfield; and
▪ Wyatt House.

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) has 25 registered care homes for older people in 
the Stroud areas providing 964 places. 13 of these homes, including Southfield, are 
residential care homes offering a total of 326 places. Most care homes try to operate 
at an occupancy level of between 90- 95% in order to remain financially sustainable. 
This means that any one time there should be fewer than 96 vacancies in the Stroud 
area (assuming a 90% occupancy level.) The number of beds and levels of occupancy 
in GCP homes is:

▪ The Elms provides 45 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 82%;
▪ Henlow Court provides 40 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 

95%;
▪ Southfield provides 34 residential beds and an occupancy of 82%; and
▪ Wyatt House with 30 nursing and residential beds, specialising in dementia and 

an occupancy of 93%.

In addition to the levels of occupancy issues including future demand and the physical 
fabric of the buildings were considered by GCC in their review.

In regard to the future demands of the ageing population in Gloucestershire Evolving 
Communities were commissioned by GCC to ask older people and the residents of 
care home provision in the county. Evolving Communities’ report highlighted the 
choice to continue living at home for older people:

‘People said that “they would always prefer to stay in their own homes even 
if their condition deteriorated.”

GCC are responding to this change in demand for older peoples’ care by working with 
domiciliary care providers to ensure there is enough high-quality domiciliary care

2 Information provided by Gloucestershire County Council as part of their briefing to family/carers (see 
appendix one for detail)

Page 96



3
© ASV Research Ltd

provision in the county. In the medium term this will lead to a reduction in the need for 
care home beds.

With regard to the ‘fabric’ of GCP care homes, over the past five-to-ten years there 
has been an increase in the number of care homes being built in the county and as a 
result the availability of care home beds has increased in all areas, including Stroud. 
Many of these new care homes provide both residential and nursing care which can 
avoid a further move if a resident’s condition deteriorates. In addition, newer care 
homes offer modern facilities, including en-suite bathrooms, wider corridors and larger 
bedrooms to accommodate equipment which are widely regarded as a standard 
requirement today.

GCC has undertaken a review of each of the GCP care homes in the Stroud and 
Dursley area considering condition and occupancy and as a result is conducting an 
initial engagement exercise with residents and relatives/carers, the focus of the initial 
engagement is Southfield and Wyatt house for the following reasons:

▪ Southfield is being considered for closure due to the fact that it does not 
provide nursing care. There are two larger GCP residential and nursing homes 
in the Stroud and Dursley area. In addition, Southfield does not offer the 
opportunity to be modernised in order to meet future care needs.

▪ Wyatt House is also being considered for closure due to its physical 
environment (the ‘fabric’ of the building) no longer being able to meet the needs 
of dementia residents requiring a care home now and over the medium term.

Of the four GCP care homes those currently excluded from this initial engagement 
exercise are:

▪ The Elms has similar occupancy levels to Southfield but there is greater need 
for nursing care home provision. The Elms being a larger care home is more 
viable than a smaller care home, therefore closing The Elms is not being 
considered at this time.

▪ Henlow Court is a nursing and residential care home and has high levels of 
occupancy. Henlow Court is the main provider of residential and nursing care 
for people from the Dursley area consequently it is not being considered for 
closure.

It should also be clear that the scope of this initial engagement is set by the fact that 
while there are other care homes in Stroud and Dursley in similar circumstances, 
these are not owned by GCC and cannot be considered in this exercise.

It is also equally important to state that this engagement is taking place before any 
final decision has been made about the future of either Wyatt House, Southfield or any 
of the other GCP care homes in the Stroud and Dursley area.

Page 97



4
© ASV Research Ltd

It is against this overall background that letters were sent from GCC to all the family, 
carers or advocates listed as the first point of contact for residents of Southfield and 
Wyatt House. These letters invited them to participate in an initial engagement event 
at the relevant care home on the 26th of July, the letters were received on the 25th of 
July.

GCC had separately commissioned ASV to act as independent facilitators of the 
events to ensure all voices and opinions were heard.

1.3 Report Structure
following this brief introduction the remainder of this report is set out in the following 
manner:

▪ Section Two: provides an overview covering the key points and themes 
emerging from discussions at Southfield;

▪ Section Three: provides an overview covering the key points and themes 
emerging from discussions at Wyatt House;

▪ Section Four: provides a summary of the points made by people unable to 
attend the engagement sessions, submitted either by letter or email; and

▪ Section Five: provides a summary of the discussions and any conclusions that 
we can draw from this engagement exercise.

Provided as appendices are the briefing notes sent out to relative/carers and the 
written submissions received by ASV for consideration as part of this analysis.

Page 98



5
© ASV Research Ltd

2 SOUTHFIELDS
Summary of discussions – morning of 26th June 2019

2.1 Introduction
The engagement group meeting was held at Southfield Care Home, Stroud, between
10.00 to 11:30 am on the 26th June 2019. The group comprised approximately 40 
relatives/carers and residents. The meeting was held in the residents’ lounge, 
organised by the care home staff, in addition to the carer/relatives and residents a 
representative of Gloucestershire County Council and the Orders of St John were in 
attendance, as observers to the proceedings. The research team from Evolving 
Communities were also present.

Prior to the meeting commencing those present were asked for permission for the 
observers to remain in the room, which was given by all present.

The conversation was conducted against a broad semi-directive discussion guide 
covered the following broad topics, with enough flexibility to allow the participants the 
opportunity to explore the issues most important to them:

▪ First impression of the proposals for closure;
▪ The likely impact of any closure on residents and family/carers; and
▪ Should any closure decision be made where would the best location be for an 

alternative home be.

2.2 The discussions
The discussion with residents and family/carers at Southfield was fairly wide ranging 
and as would be expected emotionally charged around such a sensitive area. The 
main themes of discussion covered:

▪ The group’s overall impressions;
▪ The process of engagement;
▪ The importance of the atmosphere, relationships, and community at Southfield;
▪ The personal impact of the proposals on residents and their family/carers;
▪ Issues around the value of the real estate represented by Southfield and any 

concerns over property conditions;
▪ Issues around choice and independence for residents;
▪ Concerns over an apparent lack of empathy from decision-makers to the needs 

and feelings of both residents and family/carers;
▪ The importance of continuity of care to both residents and family/carers;
▪ Concerns over the apparent lack of consideration of the quality of care provided 

at Southfield; and
▪ Offering alternative solutions for consideration. 

Each of these themes is discussed in turn below.

Page 99



6
© ASV Research Ltd

2.2.1 Overall Impressions

The group discussed their initial impressions of the letter they had received, and any 
concerns raised. Perhaps the most immediate impact was felt by the residents present 
who expressed real concerns over the impact of any potential closure Southfield.

‘… it’d be the end of us, perhaps that’s what they want… kill us off a bit 
early …’

There was also the feeling that this was a continuation of a tradition of poor treatment 
by the council spanning the entire lives of many of the residents.

‘… We’ve been pushed around for all our lives and the council have always 
been in the middle of it…’

The feeling from residents was that the proposals were purely motivated by a desire 
by the council to save money with little consideration for the impact on the people 
residents at the home.

‘… Money, money and to hell with people…’

Done deal

The group expressed overall cynicism that this proposal, coupled with the very short 
notice at which the meeting been called, indicated that the council had made its mind 
up in advance. Many believing that this was a way to release capital to prop up 
overstretched budgets.

‘… Is it the house they want other ground were on?’

There was also more pragmatic view that if the orders of St John were struggling 
financially because of low bed occupancy then these discussions were largely 
academic as the charity’s business at Southfield is now longer sustainable. In other 
words, again, the decision has been largely made.

‘… No point saying anything if they’ve made their mind up that the business 
isn’t sustainable…

Care at home

The group spent time discussing information in the briefing letter related to people’s 
desire to stay at home longer. The group recognised that this is predicated on the 
council putting in place improved/enhanced social care support people staying in their 
home. However, two points of view emerged, firstly it’s not always possible for people 
to remain in their home due to advances in their condition, particularly dementia.
Alongside this experiences by people in the group of social care were largely 
inadequate with the belief being that this had not improved and in fact got worse so at 
the moment the ambition to support people staying at home is just that, which in turn 
increases demand for facilities like Southfield.

Page 100



7
© ASV Research Ltd

‘… Of course people want to stay at home, but that’s not always possible 
and people need places like Southfield…’

‘… My mums been here for 18 months, before that care at home 
shocking… got worse…’

Safety and security

overall the group felt that safety and security offered by Southfield was exceptional, 
with no concerns that safe and effective care was provided 24-hours a day.

‘… I don’t have to worry about my mum, if she’s fallen, and if she has that 
she is going to be lying there for hours before I find her…’

In terms of the overall building group felt continued to function appropriately and offer 
a safe secure location for their loved ones. The collective opinion being that there was 
little evidence that minimum under occupancy and requirements and some 
improvements to the building when not good enough reasons to consider closure of 
Southfield.

‘… I can see no good reason to close, a tiny bit of under occupancy…the 
building issues are easily fixed if they want…’

2.2.2 The process

the group were unanimous in the opinion that receiving a letter a day before the 
engagement meeting was not an appropriate approach and did not allow people the 
opportunity to fully participate in the process. There was also feeling that this 
disadvantaged people who were working and unable to get the time off.

‘… 24 hours is not enough notice… ‘

Questions were also asked regarding a very short notice in the context of how long the 
council had been considering the situation. The view being that the council must have 
had sight of the options for some time which in turn should have allowed them to 
provide much longer notice of the meeting.

‘… How long has this been brewing this just hasn’t come out of thin air…’

One participant raised the point of residents who had recently joined the community at 
Southfield, essentially asking why admissions were not stopped if it was apparent that 
there would be significant disruption in the near future.

‘… (resident we care for) came in February… If this is been on the cards for 
some time we could have avoided a very traumatic experience…’

Page 101



8
© ASV Research Ltd

2.2.3 Atmosphere, Relationships and Community

Residents were very clear that being in Southfield had had a very significant impact on 
improving their condition.

‘… I closed down on my brain… And Southfield built me back up to where I 
am now…

This was partially attributed to the very strong social relations built up and encouraged 
at Southfield and concern over the impact this would have on the residents and 
significantly consideration of the effect on staff.

‘… Breaking up a family…’

The relationships with staff cited, particular by residents, as a key factor in the very 
supportive and positive atmosphere at Southfield.

‘… Not staff, they’re our friends… take away that. You take away 
everything…’

Family/carers were very clear that Southfield provided and holistic environments to the 
benefit of all their residents which is driven by the attitudes of staff and the 
encouragement to build relationships resident-to-resident.

‘… It’s not just the building, it’s the staff and the friendships you can’t 
rebuild that anywhere else…’

Participants also identified a wider element of community which extended beyond 
Southfield to include regular and ongoing contact with the outside world. This was felt 
to provide significant benefits to residents.

‘… our church comes in and does the service here once a month…’

‘… we have a lady who brings a clothes shop in… everything we need…’ 

‘… even the hairdresser’s part of the team…’

2.2.4 Personal Impact

in considering personal impact the residents were particularly concerned and agitated 
by the proposals, feeling it a major disruption at a time in their lives when they were 
looking for stability and security.

‘…now we’re in the twilight of our lives, why should we start again?’

Family and carers were also concerned about the impact that this engagement - about 
what is at this point in time only the possibility of a closure - is having on residents.

‘… for the sake of three or four people my dad has paced up and down the 
corridors all night because of a letter he received yesterday…’

This concern had deeper roots for family/carers in terms of their views of the potential 
impact on their loved ones, specifically the likelihood that this would precipitate the

Page 102



9
© ASV Research Ltd

client in their condition which may lead to death earlier than had they stayed in their 
settled location at Southfield.

‘… Moving puts their lives at risk… Had to move mother-in-law two years 
ago and she died within two weeks…’

‘… This their home, to move them put their lives in risk…’

2.2.5 Cost

Participants were significantly concerned that no information was provided on the 
likely costs of the alternative care beds available in the Stroud district. The view being 
that this may in fact put the quality of care enjoyed it Southfield out of the reach of the 
finances of many leading to compromise and poorer care for their loved ones.

‘… do we know, for instance, how much more it will cost to go into the elms 
compared with here…’

2.2.6 Real Estate and Property Condition

There was a consistent feeling that the prime motivation for this engagement was the 
value of the land currently occupied by Southfield and the potential to realise financial 
gains for the council from its sale. Some even went as far as suggesting that it was 
likely that the council had already put plans for the redevelopment of the site in place.

‘… They want to build houses and apartments here, I bet they’ve already 
got a developer…’

This was further exacerbated by the view that Southfield occupies a prime site which 
is very commercially attractive.

‘… Most expensive road in Stroud…’

2.2.7 Choice and Independence

A clear theme emerged from discussions around choice and independence. When 
speaking about choice there were two clear differentiations; personal choice for the 
resident and the choice of care home taken by the family and carers. Alongside this it 
was felt to be important that the extent of independence enjoyed by residents at 
Southfield was understood.

Personal choice

Participants in the group reported that residents always have choice of food of activity 
and whether they want company or to be on their own.

Choice of home

Participants largely described a process of searching for homes which involved 
looking at other facilities in the Stroud area. None were felt to have offered the quality 
that Southfield offers. Southfield enjoys an excellent reputation in the district and is 
held in high regard. In addition, the overwhelming opinion is that Southfield is

Page 103



10
© ASV Research Ltd

excellently run which is most visibly apparent in the maintenance and upkeep of the 
facility, one participant referred to it passing the ‘smell test’ referring to the prevalence 
of the smell of urine in other homes.

‘…never heard a bad word said about this place ever…’

‘… We looked at five homes before we found Southfields…this was by far 
the nicest and cleanest…’

Independence and dignity for residents

The group were very clear in their view that Southfield is an environment in which the 
care and personal dignity of all residents is paramount.

‘… Allowed to keep their own dignity…’

Residents also expressed the fact that living in Southfield provided them with a degree 
of independence that they felt they would not enjoy in another care home setting and 
particularly if the closure lead to them returning home to live with their children.

‘… don’t want to go back to live with our kids… and if the kids were honest 
they wouldn’t want us either…’

2.2.8 Empathy

participants were particularly vocal the organisers moderators of the group and asking 
their opinions of how they would feel if they were in their situation.

‘… How would you feel if it was your home closing, and you had to move 
miles away from your family…’

Faced with this the honest answer from those questioned was that they would feel 
exactly the same as the participants do, which led to discussion around the need for 
empathy amongst those making the decision on the future of Southfield. It was felt that 
the ultimate decision-makers need to really understand the impact and benefits the 
group felt Southfield offered before making any decision.

‘… come and see how we live… not just for a week…’

Ultimately the group felt that decision-makers were looking at statistics alone and not 
considering the impact on people of any potential closure Southfield.

‘… Don’t they realise this is people’s home…’

2.2.9 Continuity

The continuity of the care received by residents was an important factor in Southfield’s 
success, the most regularly cited reason was the high levels of staff retention of the 
Orders of St John care team, at all levels from caretaker to general manager.

Page 104



11
© ASV Research Ltd

‘… I’ve been coming here two years and it’s mostly the same staff… you 
don’t get huge turnover here…that’s important, it’s a continuous
relationship…’

Alongside the consistency of the care staff, it was also felt to be very important that 
the visiting team was also consistent. The importance of consistent care from the 
visiting GP was praised highly, stressing the importance of building a relationship and 
trust over time, which was felt to be difficult to replicate.

‘… the doctor relationship is great; they’ve got used to it…’

2.2.10 Quality

Whilst quality of care was frequently discussed in terms of the general care delivered 
by the staff at Southfield, very specific concern was raised over the Care Quality 
Commission rating of the home more specifically that of other care beds in the district. 
Just taking the other GCP care home under consideration for a possible closure, 
participants in the group felt that Wyatt compared very unfavourably with Southfield.

‘…(Southfield) comes out “good” (CQC)… Wyatt has three “needs attention”
…’

There were also practical concerns about the future placement of their loved ones in 
the event that ultimately it is decided that Southfield does need to close. The opinion 
was that it was difficult to find care beds in Stroud district with similar CQC ratings, 
causing real concerns about finding beds and more importantly finding beds that allow 
family/carers to retain the relationship with their loved ones that they currently do, 
simply due to additional distances to travel or lacking the means to travel any distance 
increasing isolation.

‘… If this is good where should we move of family… into a home that’s not 
good?’

2.2.11 Alternative considerations

the group worked together to develop some ideas as alternatives to closure 
Southfield, related to:

▪ Marketing;
▪ Wyatt House residents; and
▪ In the worst case working to move residents in a way that protects friendship 

groups.

Marketing

The group identified that the under occupancy amounted to a maximum of four beds 
at any one time. The feeling was that Southfield was an undiscovered treasure, with 
few people being aware of it as a choice for their loved ones. It was suggested, as a

Page 105



12
© ASV Research Ltd

question, that GCP could be more proactive in advertising vacancies encouraging 
uptake and thereby taking some of the commercial pressures of the Orders of St John.

‘… What are you doing to increase bed capacity… advertise, promote…’

Move Wyatt House residents

The group suggested that the less complex residents of Wyatt House could fill some 
of the vacancies at Southfield. This was felt to be a possible other commercial solution 
to the vacancy pressures on the charity, particularly in light of the less favourable CQC 
rating of Wyatt House. However, the group also recognised that this was far from 
ideal, and very mindful of the potential impact this would have on family/carers and 
residents of Wyatt House who were facing very similar circumstances to themselves.

‘… no-brainer… close Wyatt House and move residents, they can take the 
extra bed here…’

Group moving together to maintain relationships

With a certain sense of fatalism, being mindful that the decision to close Southfield 
may be inevitable, the group were focused on maintaining some of the sense of 
community that exists within the home. The group urged the consideration was given 
to moving residents in groups in such a way that despite it being a new care home the 
transition could be made slightly less traumatic by having familiar faces around them.

‘…if a group…wanted to move together to maintain their friendship…’

Page 106



13
© ASV Research Ltd

3 WYATT HOUSE
Summary of discussions - afternoon of 26th of June 2019

3.1 Introduction
The engagement group meeting was held at Wyatt House, Stroud, between 2:00 and 
3:30 pm on the 26th June 2019. The group comprised approximately 35 
relatives/carers and residents.

The meeting was held in the former day care centre in Wyatt House.

In addition to the carer/relatives and residents a representative of Gloucestershire 
County Council and two from the Orders of St John were in attendance, as observers 
to the proceedings. The research team from Evolving Communities were also present.

Prior to the meeting commencing those present were asked for permission for the 
observers to remain in the room, which was given by all present.

As in the previous session at Southfield, the conversation was conducted against a 
broad semi-directive discussion guide covered the following broad topics:

▪ First impression of the proposals for closure;
▪ The likely impact of any closure on residents and family/carers; and
▪ Should any closure decision be made where would the best location be for an 

alternative home be.

Enough flexibility was provided in the discussions to allow the participants the 
opportunity to explore the issues most important to them.

3.2 The Discussions
The group discussion at Wyatt House was entirely with family/carers, residents having 
severe dementia were unable to participate on their own behalf. As would be expected 
the meeting was emotionally charged although it has to be said all participants were 
constructive in their comments despite feelings running high and should be 
commended for this.

The group’s discussions uncovered the following major themes;

▪ The group’s overall impressions;
▪ The overall lack of confidence in the group through lack of communication and 

information in the briefing letter received;
▪ Questions over the assertions that Wyatt House was no longer fit for purpose;
▪ The views of the group that many residents while in no longer had the capacity 

to make decisions had made the choice of Wyatt House when they did have 
such capacity;

▪ Concerns that the engagement process was in fact wasting time as decisions 
were inevitable;

▪ A call from the group for basic empathy to be displayed by decision-makers;

Page 107



14
© ASV Research Ltd

▪ The importance of trust, relationships and the overall environment to the well- 
being of residents of Wyatt House;

▪ Concerns over the stipulation that the building itself can no longer provide best 
care;

▪ A discussion of what was perceived as excellent care provided by Orders of St 
John staff;

▪ The impact on everyone involved residents, family/carers, and of course the 
staff at Wyatt House of the proposals; and

▪ The fundamental issue of the availability of care beds in Stroud versus the 
opportunity for real choice.

Each of these thematic areas are discussed in turn below.

3.2.1 First Impressions 

Not enough notice

The group were particularly vocal in the first instance around their dissatisfaction with 
the councils approach of notifying them of a meeting to be held next day, by letter, 
which in some cases was delayed or did not reach the recipient. Generally, the 
opinion was that this was poor practice and unfair to many.

‘… 24 hours is very unreasonable…’

‘… Poor practice to give 24 hours’ notice…’

Equally, the group were very clear that the residents at Wyatt House did not have the 
capacity to respond for themselves, due to this being a dementia nursing home. The 
opinion was that those present with power of attorney for their relatives or loved ones 
where the only effective voice for the residents. The short notice meant that many 
people were not able to be present to provide that advocate’s voice.

‘… I feel railroaded…we are the voice of the residents…’

Inconvenient time

Participants felt the timing of the meeting was very inconvenient, setting aside any of 
the previously discussed considerations in the short notice for the event, a single 
meeting during an afternoon in the working week was felt to put many people at 
disadvantage.

‘… A weekend meeting would be useful to allow people to get here…’

‘… I think it’s terrible that the council did it overnight… I work full-time… 
today is my day off, luckily…’

Those that were able to attend did so due to fortuitous shift patterns, generosity of 
their employer or by accepting some financial loss in order to ensure their relatives 
interests were represented at the meeting. Again, the consensus opinion was that this 
was very unfortunate and unfair.

Page 108



15
© ASV Research Ltd

‘… I’m lucky enough to be able to attend, many others haven’t, I have a 
letter here from someone who couldn’t make it…’

‘… I’ve had to pay someone to cover my job to be here…’

In addition, participants told of significant travel being involved to ensure they were 
able to act as advocates for their loved ones. Trips of 2 ½ hours to significantly more 
were described to achieve this.

‘… I drove to Cirencester and back to pick up my father-in-law…and I’ll 
have to do it all over again to take him back so he can be here with me…’

‘… I drove from Torquay today to be here…’

Distressing for all

Participants also spoke of the distress this process because for them individually, and 
for the people they love. One participant, as illustration of this point, spoke eloquently 
of the concerns they have in disrupting their mothers routine, Tuesday is a regular 
visiting day, and the meeting occurred at the time usually reserved for that visit, for a 
person with dementia any change to routine is distressing, in this instance the 
participant was unsure of how to deal with this, feeling that it put undue and unfair 
pressure on the residents who are aware their relatives are present but not why they 
aren’t visiting them.

‘… When she asks why are you at a meeting… What can I tell my mum? 
Can you tell me, no!’

Equally, the participants had all chosen specific reasons for the choice of Wyatt House 
as a destination for care of their loved ones. Many spoke of the journey by which they 
came to be at Wyatt House, an exercise the group commented on is being a great 
thing to share. However, the underlying sentiment to this was that in many cases 
agreements made in the past were felt to be being betrayed which was having 
significant impact on the emotional well-being of the family/carers present.

‘… Before my father died he told me “Don’t worry your mother will be safe 
here” … until I got a letter last night…how do you think I feel now?’

Not clear on the scope

Returning to the process which the council had chosen to commence the engagement 
on the potential for future closures of Wyatt House, participants in the meeting felt that 
it was very unclear. Having short notice to absorb the content of a fairly complex 
briefing paper many felt that the actual scope of discussions on the considerations for 
closure were unclear and were causing concerns and, perhaps, undue anxiety.

‘… It’s not clear from the briefing paper what the scope of this meeting is… 
I’m a bit in the dark…’

Page 109



16
© ASV Research Ltd

How long has this been going on?

Generally, participants in the meeting were of the view that decisions such as this 
were not made overnight, and the question was asked how long has the council 
known about this. This was particularly distressing for people who had recently 
secured a place for their loved ones at Wyatt House in the belief that it offered the 
best long-term security and care of all the facilities they had visited.

‘… My dad’s here and he’s only been here for two months, I just cannot 
quite get my head around them people didn’t know, he’s settled now will 
have to do all again…’

Excellent care

An overarching sentiment from the group was in relation to the ethos, values and 
consistency of the care offered to their loved ones, who was recognised faced very 
challenging circumstances, by all of the Orders of St John care staff. This was, 
perhaps, perhaps best expressed as pastoral care, describing and holistic approach 
which addressed the needs of family/carers and residents. The group unanimously felt 
that this caring environment for outweighed any issues with the fabric or presentation 
of the building.

‘…this overlooks the pastoral care, I’m greeted personally, the staff know 
my mum from the cleaner to the centre manager, … I’d sacrifice a 
Chesterfield in reception for the level of care…’

‘…the care is more important than a fancy building…you can throw money 
at anything but that doesn’t mean it gives good value…

3.2.2 Communication/Not Enough information

The group felt that the process of engagement had largely gotten off on the wrongfoot, 
simply because of the lack of time allowed to absorb the information related to such a 
significant event impacting the lives of their vulnerable relatives and loved ones.

‘… Received a letter yesterday for a meeting today, it doesn’t fill me with 
confidence, I have not started on the right foot…’

In addition, the group were unconvinced that the briefing notes provided all 
information required, with references of a perception of “cherry picking” the facts and 
figures to suit the argument and use of selective generalised information, that for 
some was viewed as misleading.

‘… Blanket figures are quoted…needs to be more detail…’ 

‘… It doesn’t give occupancy figures for Wyatt House…’

It also became apparent that the group had not fully understood that the main reason 
for Wyatt House being considered for closure was the fact that the building no longer 
offered the type of facilities that are fit for the required care of dementia patients now

Page 110



17
© ASV Research Ltd

and in the future. Many felt that the time that they had spent discussing standards of 
care and occupancy levels at Wyatt House was wasted because that wasn’t the key 
issue, and more importantly that this was not apparent to from information that had 
been provided to them. This led to those present asking that the council provided a full 
and comprehensive list of the areas in which Wyatt House was viewed to be deficient.

‘… Can you give us a list of the faults in Wyatt House now we found out 
that that’s the reason the council want to close it…’

This also led to consideration of what was viewed as a significant flaw in the 
engagement process, namely that in the information presented to date there was not a 
clear and well-argued case for the proposals the council had brought people together 
to discuss today.

‘… Council has to make a rational decision in law, at the moment it seems 
to be struggling, and if it’s struggling it’s challengeable…

In addition, it was felt that the discussion paper itself was misleading talking about 
options and choices which when considered in more detail were apparently not 
available to residents and their advocates.

‘… It says in the paper that we can choose other GCP homes… what it 
(also) says is that there is not of enough space to take all the residents…if 
it’s not an option (to go into other OSJ homes) why tell us it is…’

3.2.3 Fit for purpose?

The initial view from participants was that Wyatt House remains fit for purpose, with 
many saying that despite the council’s descriptions of inadequacy in their opinion that 
the building and the care is totally adequate in their experience. The feeling was that 
although the building may be tired the care and experience delivered at Wyatt House 
was exceptional which made it fit for purpose. Participants felt the council should look 
beneath the cosmetic appearance and understand the importance of the facility to all 
involved.

‘…not the most modern of premise…care for my mum has been 
outstanding…’

Page 111



18
© ASV Research Ltd

3.2.4 Capacity to make decisions

An abiding theme was the ability of residents themselves to make the choice to move 
to Wyatt House whilst they retained their capacity to make choices. Again, the group 
felt that this was a major betrayal to their loved ones’ choices, which will lead to 
disruption in residents lives and significant stress in the lives of those who love and 
care for them

‘… Granddad doesn’t have the capacity now…a few years ago, this is when 
he chose to be here, and this is where chose to die…you can’t take that 
away from him…’

3.2.5 Empathy

Similar to the participants at Southfields, the group at Wyatt House were particular 
concerned with the ways in which the people delivering the engagement event, both 
as facilitators and observers would feel if it was their family.

‘… How would you feel if it was your family…’

The group also felt that the council decision-makers should not take a final decision on 
the future of Wyatt House without coming to see the circumstances themselves, to 
understand intangible facts such as the atmosphere, the care, and the sense of 
community offered at Wyatt House.

‘… How can they make a decision on this without coming down to see 
these people in beds…’

3.2.6 Trust, relationships and environment

throughout the conversations the participants were very clear that the residents they 
were acting as advocates for faced particular difficult circumstances due to their 
condition. Any changes in routine, environment, and people around them caused 
massive disruption in their lives, resulting in them potentially exhibiting disruptive 
behaviours, got that. This was felt to be most important in factors such as the external 
medical support provided to them by the visiting GP, who was universally cited as 
being excellent.

The loss of this connection, which takes months if not years to build up a relationship 
of trust, in another setting with a change of care home will in effect result in the family 
and the resident starting the process all over again.

‘… Loss of connection and their orientation…it’s easy to overlook the 
importance of the GP here, who is excellent…’

Importantly, the group also stressed the extent to which the location was incredibly 
important to maintaining relationships. Specifically the proximity to partners of 
residents who are equally likely to beef frail and elderly and unable to make long 
journeys, in effect cutting off from contact with their family.

Page 112



19
© ASV Research Ltd

‘… Granddad will lose his family…’

‘… Gran is very poorly we bring her every day, but we won’t be able to 
make it if Granddad is moved further away…’

3.2.7 The building itself

Once it became apparent to the group that the fabric of the building was a significant 
issue, again there was universal expression of the opinion that although the building 
may be tired it was fully functional and meeting the needs of all residents. Participants 
felt that provision of facilities such as en suite bathrooms were superfluous to the 
needs of the residents, stating that in many cases to use such facilities would require 
supervision and in those circumstances a shared bathroom was as adequate.

‘… meet the needs of those here…’

The design of the building described by one participant as a “polo mint” was ideal for 
the needs of many dementia patients who by the nature of their condition often walked 
continuously.

‘… meet the needs of people who do walk… no dead ends…’

‘…not here too long but really impressed with the design may be old but it 
just right for the people here… ‘

Equally, the statement issued at the meeting by the council representative that the 
garden was unfit for purpose due to this slope, increasing falls risk, and denying 
access to outside spaces which is thought essential to modern standards of dementia 
care, was felt to be new information not included in the briefing sheet. Participants felt 
this to be something of a diversion as the use of the garden by residents was very low.

‘… This is the first we’ve heard that the garden is unsuitable…’

‘… Residents never go out in the garden… They are supervised at all 
times… ‘

The group went on to explore the fact that despite residents not going into the garden 
that they received stimulation and enjoyment from the fact that all rooms Wyatt House 
have a view of the green space.

‘… The garden gives so much joy, my mother-in-law talks about the bird 
she can see from the window all the time…’

Participants were also keen to state that if they had known the garden was an issue 
they themselves would have picked up tools and volunteered to level space and make 
it safe for use by residents as deemed by modern standards.

‘… We’d have come in and levelled the garden if we’d known if we’d known 
it was an issue…’

Page 113



20
© ASV Research Ltd

This led on to discussions of the standards for care homes, and recognition that these 
apply to newbuilds whereas Wyatt House was built to comply to previous regulations. 
Participants also expressed concerns over their ability to find places in the Stroud 
district in care homes that met those standards, with the view being that apart from the 
most modern facilities most others would not meet these standards.

‘… How many of the existing care homes apart from Wyatt House would 
meet the new standards for width of corridor, surely we would have to level 
them all…’

3.2.8 Quality of care

Whilst covered implicitly in many of the other things there was very clear and explicit 
discussion of the benefits of the care offered by the Orders of St John staff. Of 
particular importance was the fact that the staff did not regularly change, and the 
retention was important in establishing a routine and relationship for residents of Wyatt 
House.

‘… I’ve not had a single problem with the staff other care they deliver…’

‘… In the larger homes we visited before selecting Wyatt, there was a 
heavy reliance on agency staff and people coming and going all the time 
which isn’t the type of environment I want my mother-in-law in…’

3.2.9 Impact on everyone

the group discussed the impact the proposed closure may have on them if a final 
decision was made to close Wyatt House. On the individuals, family/carers, the 
process of putting their love ones into care of Wyatt House was universally described 
as traumatic. The participants variously reported that the receipt of the letter about the 
engagement and any proposals to close Wyatt House had reintroduced stress into 
their lives that they thought settled with the decision and care provided currently.

‘… Stress made me shutdown… it’s a bit of a journey here but it’s worth it 
because I know mum is safe…last night I felt all coming back… going to
though process again…’

For the residents those advocating on their behalf went to great lengths to stress the 
challenges they face in their day-to-day life, and the impact any disruption to their 
routine has on their well-being and behaviour. People spoke of a process taking many 
months if not years for residents to settle and become accustomed to Wyatt House as 
their home. The view being that take that away from them by closing the facilities 
would in effect put them back into a place that was “dark and difficult.”

‘… sectioned for violence in hospital and it was horrific… doesn’t bang the 
walls any more… it’s taken years, but he is happy to see us go now…’

Page 114



21
© ASV Research Ltd

3.2.10 Availability versus choice

A very important theme discussed by the group was the reality of their choice 
described in the briefing document. Speaking as advocates of the residents and acting 
in the role of their attorney concerns were raised about the reality of the choices 
available to them in terms of finding alternative care beds. There was clear concern 
over the ability of those present to be able to afford to place their loved ones in a 
facility offering care anywhere near as good as that enjoyed Wyatt House. Ultimately 
this was felt to limit choice with a detrimental impact on the future placement of 
residents.

‘… difference between availability and choice…as attorney am I going to be 
able to afford it…’

A very real concern was the extent to which the council had considered the reality of 
the care beds available to relocate residents in the Stroud district.

‘…. where are you proposing to put our families when you forcibly relocated 
them…’

Page 115



22
© ASV Research Ltd

4 DIRECT SUBMISSIONS
Summary of discussions afternoon of 26th of June 2019

4.1 Introduction
A total of five submissions outside of the engagement meetings were received as part 
of this exercise. 

The authors of the submissions were able to articulate their concerns with great 
eloquence, and it is recommended that each is read to understand the viewpoints 
expressed.

We have condensed some of the key themes from that correspondence however 
Cabinet Members do need to draw the conclusions from individual representations.

4.2 Main themes from correspondence
4.2.1 Personal Impact

The submissions all speak of the personal impact the proposed changes will have for 
their loved ones of the author.

My father is a resident there and I cannot emphasise enough how 
catastrophic it would be for his mental and physical health if he were 
moved.

4.2.2 Costs?

The people providing direct submissions by email or letter or highlight concerns that 
the presentation of a case for change by the council in regard to the potential for 
closure of either Southfield or Wyatt House is predicated on a financial basis to 
greater or lesser extent, scratch that. The respondents all cite alternative means of 
assessing the value of the facilities offered by both.

4.2.3 Failing the most vulnerable in our society

The submissions cite various evidence from published reports to recent broadcast 
news articles which highlight the crisis in care in England. The view expressed through 
this mechanism is that these proposed changes are adding to this crisis and thereby 
failing the frail and vulnerable elderly in Stroud.

4.2.4 Celebrate excellence

There was a strong message for the council that the care homes in question, 
particular Southfield, actually offer examples of best practice in social care for the 
elderly. Instead of discussing closures it was felt the council should be taken the 
opportunity to celebrate the success and excellence in homes owned by them and 
operated by partners. This will both promote the concept of excellence in care and

Page 116



23
© ASV Research Ltd

also go some way to increasing demand for care beds at Southfield by raising its 
profile in the local area.

4.2.5 The impact to the wider health system

a common theme expressed was the potential impact of closure of both White House 
and Southfield when it is predicted there will be an increased demand for care and 
dementia nursing beds. It is felt that maintaining these facilities will reduce the impact 
of “bed blocking” at local hospitals. This of course calls for coordination between 
health and social care.

4.2.6 The facilities

Particularly in the case of Southfield respondents refute the claims that the premises 
on not fit for purpose, citing regular upgrades and decoration to maintain what are 
perceived as high standards in the home.

4.2.7 Inadequacies of care at home

Respondents point to the inadequacy of the statement related to pupils desire to stay 
home for the cohort who are resident at Southfield and Wyatt House. This group are 
no longer able to maintain independent living in their own home even with social care. 
So, while this may be important for the future, this has little relevance to the immediate 
impact of the closure of these facilities on the current residents.

4.2.8 A done deal?

Concerns were raised that this engagement was in fact communication of what was in 
effect an already agreed or at least planned in outline decision on the closure of both 
Southfield and Wyatt House.

‘It also seems that this may be a 'done deal' as a rough date for the closure 
is included in the document. Nowhere does it mention keeping it open!’

Page 117



24
© ASV Research Ltd

5 CONCLUSIONS
Overview of main outcomes

5.1 Conclusions for Consideration
Overwhelming opinion from both care home settings, irrespective of the condition of 
the building, the difference being at either Southfield or Wyatt is the care provided by 
the staff of the Orders of St John. It is also important to note that this group are not 
‘novice’ buyers; generally they report trying between three and five care homes before 
choosing the current residents of their loved ones. Various factors cited including the 
overall hygiene and cleanliness, the atmosphere, most importantly the consistency of 
relationship with the staff. OSJ staff are viewed as being invariably friendly, 
irrespective of their role, providing consistent and excellent care.

This perception of care compares poorly when considered against other homes where 
participants report rapid changeover of staff, perceptions of difficulties in maintaining 
relationships with staff and a very high reliance on agency staff, of course this must be 
recognised as anecdotal but because of the consistency of its expression in both 
groups it is a factor that many worry will be impossible to replicate if residents are 
moved to other care home beds. In summary, leadership and management from the 
Orders of St John is viewed as outstanding leading to continuity of staff and 
consequential care, people are concerned that this will no longer be available to them, 
despite assurances in the briefing that other OSJ care beds would be considered as 
an alternative placement. One resident spoke of the staff as…

‘…angels without wings…our friends, or family.…’

In terms of the engagement process itself there was overwhelming consensus 24- 
hours is not long enough period of notice for the meetings called to discuss these 
proposals with residents and family/carers. In addition, there was widespread criticism 
of the briefing letter provided to call the meeting. The view expressed being that not 
enough information is provided as the basis of discussion and in addition it was 
neither clear nor comprehensive leading to confusion during discussions.

Overall, the feeling was that the quality of care has not been considered as one of the 
criteria on which these proposed discussions are being discussed. Based on the 
information provided in the briefing document, the process overlooks CQC scores and 
more importantly the levels of pastoral care delivered in the GCP care homes.
Participants in the groups were very concerned that their choice would be significantly 
limited because the other care home beds available in the Stroud district are in 
settings that CQC do not require improvement against at least one of the areas Safe, 
Effective, Caring, Responsive, and Well-led.

Serious concerns were expressed over the impact on residents through breaking up 
friendship networks and resident-to-resident support built up over many months and 
years. This extended to concern over disrupting the environments of frail and elderly

Page 118



25
© ASV Research Ltd

people many of whom have dementia and in the case of Wyatt House has very 
complex needs and comorbidities. The anecdotal view from those present at meetings 
of both locations, based on personal experience with other relatives, was that moving 
people will lead to earlier death. This extended to the impact on resident’s family, 
many of whom felt that any change in location would remove the remaining 
connections to their ‘old’ life and social networks.

The view of most is that the council is not making an effective case for the closures. 
People generally accepted there may be a valid business case for considering 
closures the closures, however, with the information provided at short notice the 
council had not made that case, and people were largely unconvinced.

Likewise any arguments about the unsuitability of the fabric of the buildings, 
particularly Wyatt House, were not seen to have been made conclusively. Relatives 
and carers were more than happy to offer their services on a voluntary basis to 
address many of the issues with the building, for instance to level the garden at Wyatt 
House to make it safe for residents.

In addition the case made was thought to significantly overlook likely increases in 
dementia cases and the growing demand on care homes from an ageing population, 
without providing adequate information on the alternatives for care at home 
participants in the meeting remained unconvinced that in the medium-term Stroud was 
oversupplied with beds.

Participants were keen to offer alternatives to the proposed closures including:

▪ Increased marketing and publicity activity to increase the bed occupancy 
Southfield;

▪ Closing Wyatt house and moving residents into Southfield which has a higher 
CQC rating; and

▪ Utilising volunteers to address issues with the buildings through applications of 
their skills and labour.

It was clear that these suggestions where offered from ‘front of mind’ thinking with 
participants not having sufficient time to formulate any clear alternatives. However, the 
groups were very keen to be provided with the opportunity to further explore 
alternative options to closure with the council.

In terms of the final decision and recommendations to Gloucestershire County Council 
cabinet there was an overwhelming feeling that any decision needed to involve 
decision-makers in seeing the conditions at each of the care homes. The tangible but 
incredibly important elements such as atmosphere, staff attitudes and residents 
interaction cannot, in the groups’ views, be judged solely on statistics and the paper 
report.

Finally, the groups - while recognising that their own loved ones where at the stage at 
which care at home was no longer practical - expressed significant reservations over

Page 119



26
© ASV Research Ltd

the current capability of the social care system to provide adequate services in this 
area. In the view the inadequacy of three 15-minute visit per day to look after frail and 
elderly people was inadequate. This was particularly felt to be an important factor in 
the early stages of dementia.

Page 120



27
© ASV Research Ltd

6 APPENDIX ONE: BRIEFING SENT TO RELATIVE/CARERS 
Content of letters sent to relatives and carers in advance of 
engagement meetings

6.1 Introduction
This appendix includes the two briefing papers, sent out as letters to the nominated 
relatives or carers of residents at the two care homes.

6.2 Southfield Briefing
Introduction

We want to talk to you about a proposal to close Southfield and the likely impact that would have 
on you if this were to happen. The following information sets out why we need to consider closing 
Southfield and the information we used to come to that conclusion. We understand that this 
proposal is likely to cause you some concern but want to reassure you that no decision has been 
made yet.

Background

The council buys rooms in care homes for older people from providers across Gloucestershire. 
Most of these care homes are owned by private companies, voluntary organisations or charities.

We currently own (15) care homes in the county and since April 2005 they have been run by 
Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP) - a company set up by the Orders of St John Care Trust - and 
bpha.

All but one of these homes provides both residential and nursing care. Southfield only offers 
residential care.

What is the current situation in Stroud?

Information from care providers in the Stroud area indicates that there is a 10 – 15% vacancy level 
across their homes in the district. Southfield has 34 rooms and the number of people living there 
has decreased over the last 12 months. There is now an average of 18% vacancies at any one time. 
Most care homes try to operate at an occupancy level of between 90- 95% in order to remain 
financially sustainable. The continued level of vacancies at Southfield raises serious issues over its 
future viability.

There are a number of reasons why occupancy rates have dropped in recent years. Over the past 
few years, care in the community has increased and is more easily available. Older people have 
therefore chosen to stay in their own homes and receive social care, rather than choose to go to a 
residential care home.

We recently asked Healthwatch Gloucestershire and Evolving Communities to ask older people and 
residents of care homes for people over 65 years of age for their views on care homes provision in 
the county. The report from Evolving Communities “Shaping future care provision for over 65’s in 
Gloucestershire” indicated that the choice to live at home is a key issue for older people:

People said that “they would always prefer to stay in their own homes even if their condition
deteriorated.”

Page 121



28
© ASV Research Ltd

We are responding to this change in preference by working with domiciliary care providers to 
ensure there is enough high-quality domiciliary care provision in the county.

Over the past 5-10 years there has been an increase in the number of care homes being built in the 
county and as a result the availability of care home beds has increased in all areas, including Stroud.

In the Stroud area there is a total of 25 care homes for older people registered with the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC), providing 964 places. 13 of these homes, including Southfield, are 
residential care homes offering a total of 326 places.

Many new care homes provide both residential and nursing care which can avoid a further move if 
a resident’s condition deteriorates. In addition newer care homes offer modern facilities, including 
en-suite bathrooms, wider corridors and larger bedrooms to accommodate equipment which are 
widely regarded as a standard requirement today.

Southfield was built in the early 1960s and therefore does not have the modern facilities other 
homes provide, and the design of the building means it would be extremely difficult and costly to 
make it an effective place to meet increasingly complex care needs.

What information has been used in coming up with this proposal?

In considering the closure of Southfield we have considered a range of factors.

There are four Gloucestershire Care Partnership older people care homes in Stroud and Dursley, 
providing a total of 149 care home beds. The other three Gloucestershire Care Partnership care 
homes and their occupancy levels are currently:

1. The Elms with 45 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 82%
2. Wyatt House with 30 nursing and residential beds, specialising in dementia and an 

occupancy of 93%
3. Henlow Court with 40 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 95%

We considered the case for closing each of the GCP managed homes in Stroud and Dursley.

 Southfield is being considered for closure due to the fact that it does not provide nursing 
care. There are two larger GCP residential and nursing homes in the Stroud and Dursley 
area. Southfield does not offer the opportunity to be modernised in order to meet future 
care needs.

 The Elms has similar occupancy levels to Southfield but there is greater need for nursing 
care home provision. The Elms being a larger care home is more viable than smaller care 
homes, therefore closing The Elms is not being considered at this time.

 Wyatt House is a dementia nursing and residential care home. Wyatt House is also being 
considered for closure due to its physical environment no longer being able to meet the 
needs of dementia residents requiring a care home today and over the medium term.

Henlow Court is a nursing and residential care home and has high levels of occupancy. Henlow 
Court is the main provider of residential and nursing care for people from the Dursley area 
consequently it is not being considered for closure.

Whilst there are other care homes in the area with similar issues to Southfield, they are not owned 
by us and therefore we cannot consider them for closure.

Page 122



29
© ASV Research Ltd

The impact of the proposed closure

We know that the proposed closure of Southfield will be unsettling for you, your family and the 
employees staff who work in the home. As of 6 June 2019, 26 people live at the care home. The 
Orders of St John Care Trust employs 41 people at Southfield.

Before we make a decision about the future of Southfield we want to talk with you and your family 
to understand:

 The likely impact on you
 Your thoughts on where you might like to move to, if closure was agreed

If the proposal to close Southfield is agreed we would look to offer you a place in a suitable home in 
the Stroud area, including at other GCP care homes, if that’s what you want.

Hearing from you

We have asked Andy Wright, a person independent from the Council who has experience of 
discussing these issues, to run a meeting at 10.00am on 26 June 2019 at Southfield. We can discuss 
the potential closure of Southfield with you and hear what you think.

Evolving Communities have also been invited to the meeting so they can provide the council with 
an independent report on the views and ideas that are expressed by you are your family.

As well as being at the meeting on 26 June, James Cawley, from our adult social care team, who is 
leading this process on behalf of the council, will be at Southfield on 1 July between 10.00am and 
1.00pm and 3 July between 2.00pm and 5.00pm to discuss the proposal with you. If you would like 
to talk to James, you can book an appointment with the home’s Reception.

James can also be contacted by email, james.cawley@gloucestershire.gov.uk or by calling 01452 
583707.

Processes we will be undertaking

In addition to meeting with you, your family and members of staff we will be talking with the 
Gloucestershire Care Providers Association, who represents care home providers across the county 
to understand their views on the care home market in Stroud and the impact of the potential 
closure of Southfield.

The Orders of St John Care Trust will also discuss the proposal with their employees and 
suggestions and comments from them will help inform the final decision.

When will a decision be made?

Following the meetings with you, your family, employees of OSJCT and once we have the report 
from Evolving Communities and feedback from Gloucestershire Care Providers Association, a report 
will be discussed by the County Council’s Cabinet when it meets on 24 July.

Before the report is published we will invite you to a further meeting so we can discuss the content 
and recommendations with you.

What if closure of Southfield is agreed?

Page 123

mailto:james.cawley@gloucestershire.gov.uk


30
© ASV Research Ltd

If it is agreed to close Southfield, we will work with all residents and their families to ensure that 
any Social Care Assessment is up to date if needed and to consider where you want to live in the 
future.

The home would not close before early November and therefore there would be time to ensure any 
move is well planned and carefully managed to ensure any disruption is kept to a minimum.

6.3 Wyatt House Briefing
Introduction

We want to talk to you about a proposal to close Wyatt House and the likely impact that would 
have on you if this were to happen. The following information sets out why we need to consider 
closing Wyatt House and the information we used to come to that conclusion. We understand that 
this proposal is likely to cause you some concern but want to reassure you that no decision has 
been made yet.

Background

The council buys rooms in care homes for older people from providers across Gloucestershire. 
Most of these care homes are owned by private companies, voluntary organisations or charities.

We currently own (15) care homes in the county and since April 2005 they have been run by 
Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP) - a company set up by the Orders of St John Care Trust - and 
bpha.

All but one of these homes provides both residential and nursing care. Wyatt House provides 
nursing and residential dementia care.

What is the current situation in Stroud?

Information from care providers in the Stroud area indicates that there is a 10 – 15% vacancy level 
across care homes in the district. Wyatt House is a small care home with 30 rooms.

Wyatt House was built in the 1960s. Its physical environment is no longer able to meet the needs 
of dementia residents requiring a care home today and over the medium term.

There are dementia care homes in Stroud that offer modern facilities that can meet the needs of 
people more appropriately.

We recently asked Healthwatch Gloucestershire and Evolving Communities to ask older people and 
residents of care homes for their views on care homes provision in the county. The report from 
Evolving Communities “Shaping future care provision for over 65’s in Gloucestershire” indicated 
that the choice to live at home as a key issue for older people:

People said that “they would always prefer to stay in their own homes even if their condition 
deteriorated.”

We are responding to this change in preference by working with domiciliary care providers to 
ensure there is enough high-quality domiciliary care provision in the county.

Over the past 5-10 years there has been an increase in the number of care homes being built in the 
county and as a result the availability of care home beds has increased in all areas, including Stroud.

Page 124



31
© ASV Research Ltd

In the Stroud area there is a total of 25 care homes for older people registered with the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC), providing 964 places. 13 of these homes are residential care homes 
offering a total of 326 places.

Many new care homes provide both residential and nursing care which can avoid a further move if 
a resident’s condition deteriorates. In addition newer care homes offer modern facilities, including 
en-suite bathrooms, wider corridors and larger bedrooms to accommodate equipment which are 
widely regarded as a standard requirement today.

Wyatt House does not have the modern facilities other homes provide and the building cannot be 
adapted to this higher level. The design of the building means it would be extremely difficult and 
costly to make it an effective place to meet increasingly complex care needs

What information has been used in coming up with this proposal?

In considering the closure of Wyatt House we have considered a range of factors.

There are four Gloucestershire Care Partnership older people care homes in Stroud and Dursley, 
providing a total of 149 care home beds. The other three Gloucestershire Care Partnership care 
homes and their occupancy levels are currently:

1. The Elms with 45 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 82%
2. Southfield with 34 residential beds and an occupancy of 82%
3. Henlow Court with 40 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 95%

We considered the case for closing each of the GCP managed homes in Stroud and Dursley.

 Southfield is being considered for closure due to the fact that it does not provide nursing 
care. There are two larger GCP residential and nursing homes in the Stroud and Dursley 
area. Southfield does not offer the opportunity to be modernised in order to meet future 
care needs. Southfield is also being considered for closure.

 The Elms has similar occupancy levels to Southfield but there is greater need for nursing 
care home provision. The Elms being a larger care home is more viable than a smaller care 
home, therefore closing The Elms is not being considered at this time.

 Wyatt House is a dementia nursing and residential care home. Wyatt House is also being 
considered for closure due to its physical environment no longer being able to meet the 
needs of dementia residents requiring a care home today and over the medium term.

Henlow Court is a nursing and residential care home and has high levels of occupancy. Henlow 
Court is the main provider of residential and nursing care for people from the Dursley area 
consequently it is not being considered for closure.

Whilst there are other care homes in the area with similar issues to Wyatt House, they are not 
owned by us and therefore we cannot consider them for closure.

The impact of the proposed closure

We know that the proposed closure of Wyatt House will be unsettling for you, your family and for 
employees who work in the home. As of 6 June 2019, 27 people live at the care home. The Orders 
of St John Care Trust employs 47 people at Wyatt House.

Page 125



32
© ASV Research Ltd

Before we make a decision about the future of Wyatt House we want to talk with you and your 
family to understand:

 The likely impact on you
 Your thoughts on where you might like to move to, if closure was agreed

If the proposal to close Wyatt House is agreed we would look to offer you a place in a suitable
home in the Stroud area, including at other GCP care homes, if that’s what you want.

Hearing from you

We have asked Andy Wright, a person independent from the Council who has experience of 
discussing these issues, to run a meeting at 2.00pm on 26 June 2019 at Wyatt House so we can 
discuss the potential closure of Wyatt House with you and hear what you think.

Evolving Communities have also been invited to the meeting so they can provide the council with 
an independent report on the views and ideas that are expressed by you are your family.

As well as being at the meeting on 26 June, James Cawley, from our adult social care team, who is 
leading this process on behalf of the council, will be at Wyatt House on 1 July between 2.00pm and 
4.30pm and 3 July between 10.00am and 1.00pm to discuss the proposal with you. If you would like 
to talk to James, you can book an appointment with the home’s Reception.

James can also be contacted by email, james.cawley@gloucestershire.gov.uk or calling 01452 
583707.

Processes we will be undertaking

In addition to meeting with you, your family and employees of OSJCT we will be talking with the 
Gloucestershire Care Providers Association, who represents care home providers across the county 
to understand their views on the care home market in Stroud and the impact of the potential 
closure of Wyatt House.

The Orders of St John Care Trust will also discuss the proposal with their employees and 
suggestions and comments from them will help inform the final decision.

When will a decision be made?

Following the meetings with you, your family, employees of OSJCT and once we have the report 
from Evolving Communities and feedback from Gloucestershire Care Providers Association, a report 
will be discussed by the County Council’s Cabinet when it meets on 24 July.

Before the report is published we will invite you to a further meeting so we can discuss the content 
and recommendations with you.

What if closure of Wyatt House is agreed?

If it is agreed to close Wyatt House, we will work with all residents and their families to ensure that 
any Social Care Assessment is up to date if needed and to consider where you want to live in the 
future.

Page 126

mailto:james.cawley@gloucestershire.gov.uk


33
© ASV Research Ltd

The home would not close before early November 2019 and therefore there would be time to 
ensure any move is well planned and carefully managed to ensure any disruption is kept to a 
minimum.

Page 127



Thank You

info@asv-online.co.uk | +44 (0)151 512 1828
Page 128

mailto:info@asv-online.co.uk


1 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

Independent engagement 
on the potential closure of 
Southfield House and 
Wyatt House, Stroud:
A residents and relatives/

representatives’ viewpoint of 
likely impact.

Page 129



Evolving Communities 2

© Evolving Communities 2019 (published July 2019)

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at
info@evolvingcommunities.co.uk

You can download this publication from evolvingcommunities.co.uk

Contents Page

1. Introduction 3

2. Background 3

3. What we did 4

4. Who we spoke to 5

5. What people told us 5

5.1   Southfield House 5

5.2  Wyatt House 8

6. Conclusions and recommendations 10

7. Limitations 11

8. Acknowledgements 11

Page 130



3 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

Evolving Communities is an independent and impartial community interest company 
who are experts in health and social care.  They offer a professional consultancy service 
specialising in research, evaluation and public engagement that combines top academic 
research and service evaluation.  They also run three local Healthwatch services in 
Gloucestershire, Somerset and Dorset.

Evolving Communities have been talking to residents and their relatives of Southfield 
House, and Wyatt House in Stroud.  We wanted to gather their views about the potential 
closure of these homes, and any impact this might have on their lives. This report will 
be fed into a wider paper being produced by Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) and 
presented at their Cabinet Meeting on the 24th July 2019.

1.   Introduction

2.   Background
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) currently own 15 care homes in the county, and 
since April 2005 these have been run by the Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP). 
Since then, ten homes have closed, and four new homes have been built.  GCC are 
currently considering the potential closure of two care homes in the Stroud District; 
Southfield House and Wyatt House.

This decision has been led by the reduced occupancy levels across care homes in the 
district, as well as the physical environment of homes that are no longer able to meet 
the needs of residents.  Reduced occupancy levels are possibly driven by the drive to 
keep people in their own homes for longer.  A recent report carried out by Evolving 
Communities and Healthwatch Gloucestershire (https://evolvingcommunities.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/Shaping-future-care-provision-report-Final.pdf) indicated that older 
people would prefer to stay in their own homes where possible even if their health and 
wellbeing deteriorated.  If agreement is made to close either home, closure would happen 
in early November 2019, ensuring enough time to plan and manage a move and mitigate 
any potential disruption.

GCC acknowledge that any potential closure would have an impact on residents and 
their relatives/representatives.  Therefore, they asked Evolving Communities to attend 
an engagement meeting to independently speak with them about the impact a potential 
closure may have on their health and wellbeing.

Southfield House

Southfield House is a 34-occupancy care home that provides residential and respite care.  
The home is situated in a quiet residential area, with scenic views.  The home has its own 
landscaped garden and offers around the clock care.  As of 6th June 2019, Southfield 
House is home to 26 residents.  There are 41 members of staff employed by the OSJCT.  
The most recent Care Quality Commission (CQC) report (published November 2016 
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/INS2-2456527559.pdf) rated the 
quality of Southfield House as Good.

Page 131



Evolving Communities 4

3.  What we did

Southfield House is considered for closure as it does not provide nursing care, the building 
does not offer the opportunity to be modernised to meet future care needs and the 
occupancy rate is 82%.  There are also two larger GCP residential and nursing homes in 
the Stroud and Dursley area.

Wyatt House

Wyatt House is a 30-occupancy care home specialising in the care of people who live with 
dementia as well as those who require nursing care.  Built in the 1960s, Wyatt House has 
a circular design with an inner secure garden.  As of 6th June 2019, 27 people live in the 
home, and there are 47 members of staff employed there by the OSJCT.  The most recent 
CQC report (published October 2018 https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_
reports/INS2-3866007075.pdf) rated Wyatt House as Requires Improvement, however the 
service was rated Good on being effective and caring.

Wyatt House is being considered for closure due to the design of the building not being 
able to meet the needs of dementia residents.  It was considered too difficult and costly to 
make an effective place to meet increasingly complex care needs.  The current occupancy 
rate of Wyatt House is 93%.

Residents from both care homes received a letter from the GCC, dated 21st June 2019, 
detailing the proposed closure of Southfield House and Wyatt House.  As well as detailing 
information about the reasons for potential closure, the letter invited residents and their 
relatives/representatives to a meeting where they could discuss the closure and voice 
their views and concerns.

On the 26th June 2019 we attended the two engagement meetings, each lasted 90 
minutes.  The first was held at 10am at Southfield House, and the second was held at 
2pm at Wyatt House.  Both meetings were facilitated and led by a consultant from ASV 
Research Ltd, an independent company specialising in social research insights in the 
public, private and third sectors.

The objective of the engagement meetings was to understand:

 ● First impressions of residents and relatives/representatives of the proposed closure

 ● The likely impact of any closure on residents and relatives/representative’s health and 
wellbeing

 ● Should the decision be made to close the home, residents and relatives/representatives’ 
thoughts on the best location of alternative home

We took notes during the engagement, especially comments relating to the potential 
impact of a home closure on residents and their relatives/representative’s health and 
wellbeing.

The Evolving Communities contact details were given so that residents and relatives/
representatives could send any further comments after the meetings.  The deadline for 
contacting us with comments was midnight on the 30th June 2019.

Page 132



5 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

4.  Who we spoke to
The meeting at Southfield House was attended by a mixture of residents and relatives/
representatives.  The meeting was facilitated by a consultant from ASV.  Also in 
attendance was a representative from OSJCT, GCC, and Evolving Communities.

The meeting at Wyatt House was attended by relatives/representatives only.  The 
meeting was facilitated by a consultant from ASV.  Also in attendance representatives 
from GCC, OSJCT and Evolving Communities.

We received three emails from relatives after the meetings.  Two were relating to 
Southfield House, and one related to Wyatt House.

5.  What people told us

5.1.  Southfield House

The following is a summary of what residents, relatives and representatives said during 
the engagement, and in follow up email correspondence.  Comments are anonymous, 
and any identifiable information has been removed in order to protect the privacy of 
individuals.

Discussions began with initial impressions about the proposed closure.  There 
was significant opposition to the closure from both residents and their relatives/
representatives, with one relative/representative describing the potential closure as 
“ripping people out of their home”.  One resident felt strongly that the Council had been at 
the centre of older people being “pushed around” all their lives. There were clear feelings 
of anger, upset and distress from both residents and their relatives/representatives, 
especially concerning the potential risk to residents if they were to move: “It could kill her 
[parent]…I’m angry about it.”  “It [the move] will be the end of us [residents].”

Discussion moved on to the reasons behind the potential closure, and what the council 
could be doing to make the home more viable for the future.  While bed occupancy was 
given as a reason for potential closure, many felt that the Council should be doing more 
to advertise beds in the home.  One relative described the 
home as the “best kept secret”, and that it needed to 
be more high profile.  There was discussion about the 
possible closure of Wyatt House, and if there was an 
option of moving their residents into Southfield House to 
fill the spaces.  Those in attendance felt that this was a 
good idea, even when told that there would be residents 
with challenging and complex needs.

There was a perception from residents and relatives/representatives that the ‘real’ reason 
behind the potential closure was that the home was situated on prime real estate: “It’s 
money, money, money, and to hell with everything else.”  One relative found the prospect 
that the home could be closed due to the worth of the land “disturbing” and implored 

“Look at [the GCC] 
processes of filling rooms, so 
other people can receive this 

fantastic facility.”

Page 133



Evolving Communities 6

the GCC to not “destroy” the last years of their father’s life by selling the land off to 
development opportunists.

Discussion began as to whether residents and relatives/representatives had considered 
the CQC rating/report when making the decision to move to the home.  There was 
agreement and affirmation that they had, with one relative asking why they should move 
their relatives into a home that was not as good.  A GCC representative noted that if the 
home was to close, residents would have the choice of the wider care home market in 
Stroud (not just those provided by OSJCT ).  One relative said that her mother had been 
in four homes already, but that Southfield House was always rated as the ‘top’, and there 
was unanimous nodding in agreement with this comment.  Those in attendance wondered 
whether the GCC were considering CQC ratings when thinking about potential closures, 
especially considering other homes in the area (including Wyatt house) were rated as 
Requires Improvement.

Discussions moved to the alternative of domiciliary care put across by GCC, to which 
one relative responded: “Care in the home?  Fat chance of that!”  Some residents had 
experienced care in the home prior to deciding to move into Southfield House and found 
that this did not meet their needs.  This was especially true for those with dementia; 
one relative emailed Evolving Communities to say that their father needed “ongoing 
interaction and support” which was only possible with 24-hour care, while another relative 
felt that there was “no value in him [his father] being stuck in a flat on his own”.  Another 
resident stated that some of the carers that cared for her mother at home did not speak 
English.

There was concern from some relatives/representatives that two care homes had closed 
elsewhere in Gloucestershire last year, which led to a discussion about future need.  One 
family member asked: “When we get to that age, what will be available to us?”

Throughout the discussions, the atmosphere, staff and environment of the home was 
talked about with great admiration by both residents and relatives/representatives.  
Southfield House had offered both residents and their relatives/representatives’ safety 
and reassurance that they felt they would not get anywhere else: “It’s a wonderful feeling. 
You’re cared for, you’re loved.”  “I can sleep at night [knowing relative is cared for].”  For 
many residents, living in Southfield House had transformed their lives: “I was a babbling 
wreck when I came here, and Southfield built me up.”  “[Southfield has] become a healing 
and safe space for him [father].  After two years he has begun to smile and socialise 
again.”  Relatives/representatives commented that the house had a good reputation 
locally, and that both residents and visitors had described Southfield House as feeling 
more like a hotel than a care home.

There was a strong sense of community reported by both residents and relatives/
representatives: “This is her family.”  There was overwhelming support for the staff from 
those at the meeting, with one resident describing the staff as “angels without wings”.  
Continuity of staff meant that relationships were able to be built 
with residents and their families.  Staff knew the residents 
individually, which was especially important for those who 
were easily confused.  One relative recalled a time when a staff 
member got married and included residents in the celebrations 
by giving out favour bags.  This was an example of how the 
staff were committed to making residents feel like “one of the 
family”.

Many attendees felt that Southfield House offered a place of safety, while keeping 
independence, dignity and choice for residents: “They get to choose exactly what they 
want.  They take account of individual characters.”  For many relatives/representatives, 

“The atmosphere 
is made by the staff 
- they’re not staff, 
they’re friends.”

Page 134



7 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

Southfield House enabled a sense of reassurance: “I no longer live on a knife edge.”  The 
24-hour care offered at Southfield House was seen as especially important: “Last night I 
had a bad night.  Two carers came in and asked me what I wanted and made me a cup 
of tea.”  “Mum has been to hospital two times in the last few weeks [paramedics called 
by home], that’s the importance of 24-hour care.”  The physical environment of the 
home was talked about as having a positive impact on resident’s health and wellbeing: 
“It is important to have a lovely garden and lovely views.”  “This place is always clean.”  
Regarding the modernising of the building, or moving to a newer care home, one 
resident commented that being happy was more important to them than having a “fancy 
bathroom”.

The meeting concluded with a discussion about any potential impact a closure would 
have on the health and wellbeing of not only the residents, but also staff and relatives/
representatives.  There was also discussion about what GCC need to consider before 
any closure is agreed.  There was an overwhelming sense that moving residents would 
have severe effects on both their physical and mental wellbeing, for many this affect was 
considered as serious as death: “I think it would kill my mother.”  Research in the area of 
care home resettlement has recognised that the relocation of older people from one care 
setting to another is particularly stressful and has adverse effects on health, and even on 
survival (Jolley et al., 2011).  One resident was described by a family member as already 
experiencing distress in response to reading the letter sent from GCC about the closure, 
and others described current feelings of physical and mental stress.

Directed at the council, one relative asked how they would feel being told they had to 
leave their home, friends and family.  One resident felt strongly that they did not want to 
go anywhere else, and that the closure would make them feel without a future.  It was 
suggested that the decision-makers from GCC should come and observe what it’s like to 
live in the home.

It was agreed that the council need to consider the impact of not only the residents 
wellbeing, but that of relatives and representatives.  Many relatives/representatives had 
chosen Southfield house due to the proximity to their own home, as it was a short drive 
or walk away and this meant they were able to visit frequently.  As previously mentioned, 
knowing that their relative was well looked after offered reassurance and alleviated 
feelings of guilt.  When considering relocating to other care homes in the area run by 
OSJCA, all in the room agreed that Henlow Court in Dursley was out of the question due 
to it being too far away.  When talking about potential relocation, it was agreed that 
the GCC should consider that some residents may wish to be rehomed together as to 
preserve friendships and relationships.  Relationships with outside staff and visitors was 
also talked about as being of great importance.  For the residents, having a named GP 
that knew them was vital, as well as relationships with the wider staff such as hairdressers, 
opticians, chiropodists and a clothes seller.  A monthly church service was also mentioned 
as being of great importance to the residents.

Finally, relatives/representatives discussed the personal costs involved in moving to a 
different home, as many felt that it will cost more money for a home as good as Southfield 
House.  One family member emailed to say that while they were currently paying a 
substantial amount of money to be in Southfield House, this was worth it to be in such an 
“exceptional” home.  Relatives/representatives wished for the council to provide a cost 
comparison between other options and Southfield House.

Page 135



Evolving Communities 8

5.2.  Wyatt House
Discussion began with initial impressions of the potential closure of Wyatt House.  The 
conversation immediately focused on the process of the engagement.  Many attendees 

felt that the briefing notes provided to them by the GCC 
did not contain enough detailed information about the 
reasons for a proposed closure.  Attendees also felt that 
the document was not clear about the decision-making 
process that had happened prior to the homes being 
chosen for closure, and in an email sent to Evolving 
Communities after the meeting one relative felt that GCC 

had been “deliberately obtuse and misleading”.  One relative questioned how long GCC 
had been considering the closures, as their father had only been at the home for two 
months and was just settling in.  Attendees questioned why the consultants facilitating the 
meeting had been told of the potential closures days before residents, staff and relatives/
representatives.  As with Southfield House, there was a perception that the ‘real’ reason 
for closure was to sell off the land, and if this was the case attendees would prefer that 
GCC be open, honest and transparent about this rather than giving “excuses”.

There was concern that GCC did not have enough information to make an informed 
decision about potential closures.  Attendees enquired about the scope and criteria of 
the process, noting that while there was an emphasis on the physical 
space of the home, quality of care was missing.  It was felt that CQC 
reports and resident reviews should be taken into consideration.  
Attendees wondered how GCC Cabinet members could come to a 
decision without visiting the home, and in a letter read out on behalf 
of a relative unable to attend the meeting, the Cabinet were asked to 
consider that residents “are people, not statistics”.  Attendees agreed 
that meeting the residents and hearing them face-to-face should be of high importance.

The lack of prior notice (for many, less than 24 hours) before the meeting was described 
by attendees as unacceptable and many were “shocked” at the poor management of 
the process.  One attendee said that this lack of notice did not give them confidence in 
the GCC: “They have not started off on the right footing.”  Concerns were raised that not 
everybody would be able to have their voice heard as they could not get time off work to 
attend or they lived too far away.  One attendee had taken unpaid time off, while another 
had to bring their baby to the meeting as they could not get childcare in time.  It was also 
noted that many of residents did not have the capacity to defend themselves, or even 
knew that the meeting was happening, and this had put relatives in an uncomfortable 
position: “What do I tell my mum?  I have to lie.”  “We are their voice.”  GCC noted that 
there would be further opportunity to voice concerns in meetings planned for the week 
commencing 8th July 2019.

Discussions moved to how GCC were describing ‘best care’.  Relatives and representatives 
agreed that the care that had been given to residents by Wyatt House was “outstanding”.  
Focus was given to the pastoral and emotional care given by all staff, from cleaners to 
head nurses: “It is a proper little community and it works.”  The focus of person-centred 
care offered at the home was acknowledged by attendees as being incredibly important 
for residents, especially for those with severe dementia.  The handover between staff 
members, consistency, training and leadership were described as areas of best practice 
displayed by the home: “The strength of the House is not the building, but the staff from 
bottom to top.”  The continuity of care offered by Wyatt House was praised, including 
that of the visiting GP, and attendees had found that this was not the case in other homes: 

“It’s like the 
council know 
better than 
anyone!.”

“We want the building kept.  
It belongs to residents.  It’s 
their home, they’ve made it 

their home.”

Page 136



9 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

“Have seen other places full of agency staff – dad hates the 
idea that he doesn’t know who’s going to look after him.”  
Care displayed by staff extended beyond the remits of the 
working day, with one report that staff took time out of their 
days off to take residents to the local park.  Knowing that their 
loved ones were in receipt of excellent care gave relatives/
representatives’ a sense of reassurance; they knew they were in the best place.

The reasons given by GCC for potential closure were then deliberated by attendees.  One 
of the reasons for the potential closure was that the building was out of date and not 
fit for purpose.  Representatives from the GCC and OSJCT explained that the building 
did not meet new regulations set for care homes, such as wide corridors and en suite 
bathrooms.  However, attendees were critical that the exact faults of the building had not 
been defined: “Where are the gaps?  How is the building not fit for purpose?”  In response 
to this, relatives/representatives agreed that what the residents need is good care and 
not ‘posh buildings’.  Questions were raised as to how the building was suddenly not fit 
for purpose, and if other buildings of a similar age in the County were to be closed too.  
Regarding the need for en suites, one attendee felt that this was not important, and in fact 
could be unsafe for residents with complex medical issues: “She would drown herself.”  
The circular layout of the building was praised by attendees, as it meant residents could 
have uninterrupted roam of the house without getting lost.  The gardens were noted by 
GCC as not being safe, however it was explained that residents did not go into the garden 
unattended, and many simply enjoyed watching the garden, especially the birds, from 
their window:  “Priceless little things you can’t take away.  Mum was a keen gardener, she 
loves the garden.”  Attendees wondered why the council could not invest in making the 
garden and buildings safe, as opposed to closing it entirely.

The current occupancy and size of the home was discussed by attendees.  Referring to 
the briefing note sent by GCC, one attendee questioned the idea that bigger homes equal 
better provision of care.  They were concerned that the move away from smaller homes 
could mean that residents get forgotten about.  This was reflected in a recent report1  
published by Evolving Communities and Healthwatch Gloucestershire that found that 
almost 60% of respondents said they would prefer a medium sized home (11-49 beds), and 
38% said they would prefer a small home (1-10 beds).  Only 2% said that they would prefer 
a large (50+ beds) home.  While the briefing note mentioned occupancy as a reason for 
other homes being chosen for potential closure, attendees wished to know more detail 
about the statistics for the last two years for Wyatt House.  Many wondered why a home 
that was hitting standard rates of occupancy would be up for closure, especially when it 
was also used for respite care.

There were also concerns about GCC’s failure to provide detail about future provision 
for dementia care in the Stroud district.  The predicted rise in dementia cases nationally 
was brought up in the meeting, and re-affirmed by a relative in an email sent to Evolving 
Communities after the meeting:  “…experts predict that the current number of 850,000 
suffering dementia nationally is predicted to rise to as many as 3 million by the year 2050 
it would seem an odd time to be considering the closure of facilities that will be needed 
for many years to come.”  Locally, it is estimated that by 2025 there will be 12,000 people 
living with dementia in Gloucestershire2.

The meeting concluded with contemplation of what GCC need to consider when deciding 
the future of Wyatt House.  The main concern from relatives/representatives was the 
impact to the health of relocating their elderly relatives, especially those who are frail 
and those with dementia.  One attendee mentioned the statistics that were previously 

“My father said before 
he died, don’t worry 
your mother will be 
looked after here.”

1 https://evolvingcommunities.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Shaping-future-care-provision-report-Final.pdf
2 https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/6827/gloucestershire_dementia_strategy26_01-65778.pdf

Page 137



Evolving Communities 10

mentioned in this report (Jolley et al., 2011) relating to 
care home relocation, noting the increased risk of death 
and distress for those who are unsettled.  Emotional 
impact was also discussed, as many of the residents and 
relatives/representatives were reported already feeling 
upset, distressed, traumatised and “churned up” despite 
no decision being made.  For one resident, simply reading 
the words ‘closure’ on the letter sent by GCC had made 

them feel that this was a forgone conclusion.  The potential stress of relocating to both 
residents and their families was discussed.  For one relative, moving their mother into 
Wyatt House had relieved the stress and pressure from her, as she was safe in the 
knowledge that she was being well cared for.  However, the potential for closure has 
brought these feelings back.  Attendees feared that anxiety levels of residents would rise 
in new environment, and as such could become a possible care issue.

Many attendees were concerned about the replacement homes on offer in the Stroud 
area: “There is a difference between availability and choice.”  For many, Wyatt House 
had been chosen due to its close proximity to family members: “Nan is wheelchair bound, 
she comes [to see husband] every day. She wants to be able to visit if he moves.”  If this 
proximity was taken away then there would be great impact to residents: “My grandad 
will lose his family.”  There was also concern that the other choices on offer would not be 
suitable for those with complex needs, or may be too expensive: “Wyatt House was the 
only choice for us at the time.  He will die in a strange place.”

“When they changed the 
colour of the uniform, 

my mum was confused.  
Imagine what moving her 

will do?”

6.  Conclusions & recommendations
Despite the short time scale of the work, we were able to listen and gather the views of 
both residents and their relatives/representatives.  The passionate and emotive arguments 
put forward highlighted the need for care and attention to be taken in the next steps of 
the decision-making process.  Based on the two engagement meetings, we recommend 
that Gloucestershire County Council consider the following:

General recommendations

 ● Cabinet Members should consider the emotional and physical impact on both residents and 
their relatives/representatives, both now and in the future of any potential closure.

 ● Cabinet Members should acknowledge what residents and their relatives have said about the 
potential closure through this report.

 ● Cabinet members should consider visiting both the homes in person.

 ● GCC should include CQC reports and resident reviews in any further decision-making 
process.

 ● GCC should provide residents and their relatives/representatives clearer information 
regarding the exact reasons and rationale for the potential closures.

 ● GCC should provide residents and relatives/representatives with a cost comparison between 
other available care options and Wyatt and Southfield House.

Page 138



11 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

7.  Limitations

 ● In the event that closures are agreed, GCC should consider and take into account current 
friendships and relationships between residents and staff in any relocation decision.

 ● In the event that closures are agreed, GCC should carry out a detailed risk assessment, 
undertake appropriate planning and offer training to staff to help residents adjust.

Recommendations for future engagement

 ● GCC should strongly consider giving residents and relatives/representatives substantial 
notice before any future engagement meetings are held.  It would be preferable if meetings 
could also be held on weekends or evenings.

 ● Ensure that any communication about potential closures is handled in a timely and 
sensitive manner, and with clear and detailed information.

 ● Engage with all residents and relatives/representatives (where possible) in the engagement 
process; this may mean using different engagement methods to contact them.

It should be noted that while many views were captured during this piece of work, not 
all residents, relatives and representatives took part in discussions.  In Southfield House, 
while many residents were present, only a couple were able to be actively engaged in the 
conversation.  In Wyatt house none of the residents were able to attend the meeting.  As 
the work was conducted to strict time scales, alternative methods of engagement were 
unable to be used to capture these voices.  However, a representative from  GCC did 
offer to meet residents and relatives/representatives individually both at the care homes 
or in their own homes.  Further meetings were held with GCC at both homes on the week 
commencing 8th July 2019.  Evolving Communities were not present at these meetings, 
therefore we cannot comment on any further feedback given.

8.  Acknowledgements
Evolving Communities would like to thank Gloucestershire County Council for 
commissioning this work.  We would also like to thank Andy Wright from ASV Research 
Ltd for facilitating and leading the meetings.  Most importantly we would like to express 
our gratitude to the residents and their relatives/representatives of Southfield House and 
Wyatt House, who took the time to share their views, and were very open and honest 
during what is understandably a difficult time.

References

Jolley, D., Jefferys, P., Katona, C., & Lennon, S. (2011).  Enforced relocation of older people 
when Care Homes close: a question of life and death?. Age and ageing, 40(5), 534-537.

Page 139



01225 701851

info@evolvingcommunities.co.uk

evolvingcommunities.co.uk

Unit 4 Hampton Park West, Melksham 
SN12 6LH

@evolvingcommunitiesCIC

@EvolvingCommun2

evolving-communities

Need to know more?

Evolving Communities CIC provides a professional consultancy service specialising in research, evaluation and public engagement.  It is a community 
interest company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales with company number 08464602.  The registered office is at Unit 4, 
Hampton Park West, Melksham, SN12 6LH.

© Evolving Communities 2019

Page 140



Care Home CQC
Old Vicarage 
Residential Home

Church End, 
Frampton – on - 
Severn

GL2 7EE

01452 740562

April 2019

Good

Wisma Mulia

Bridge Road, 
Frampton – on – 
Severn, 
Gloucestershire
GL2 7HE

01452 740432

April 2019

Good

Brookthorpe Hall 
Care Centre
Stroud Road, 
Brookthorpe,
Gloucestershire
GL4 0UN

01452 813240

June 2017

Good

Northfield House 
Residential Home,
Folly Lane,
Uplands,
Stroud,
Gloucestershire
GL5 1SP

01453 488060

November 2018

Requires 
Improvement

More Hall 
Convent
Randwick,
Stroud,
Gloucestershire,
GL6 6EP

01453 764486

September 2018

Good

Steepes 
Residential Care 
Home

April 2018

Good

Page 141



Cossack Square,
New Market 
Road,
Nailsworth, 
Stroud, 
Gloucestershire, 
GL6 0DB

01453 807513
Winslow House
Springhill
Nailsworth
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL6 0LS

01453 832269

May 2017

Good

Highborder Lodge
Marsh Lane,
Leonard Stanley
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 3NJ

01453 823203

December 2017

Good

Regency 
Retirement Home
52 Regent St
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 2AD

01453 823139

April 2018

Good

Stinchcombe 
Manor Care 
Home
Echo Lane,
Dursley,
Gloucestershire
GL11 6BQ

01453 549162

No rating at 
present, not 
inspected yet by 
CQC

Canonbury 
Residential Home
19 Canonbury St,
Berkeley
Gloucestershire

June 2019

Good

Page 142



GL13 9BE

01453 810292

CQC Dual Registered Care Homes ( Nursing and Residential)

Postcode CQC Dementia
Cotswold House
Church Road
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL5 4JE

01453 752699

August 2018

Requires 
Improvement 

yes

Scarlett House
123 Westward 
Rd,
Ebley
Stroud,
Gloucestershire
GL5 4SP

01453 769810

March 2019

Good

yes

Minchinhampton 
Centre for the 
Elderley – Horsfall 
House
Windmill Road
Minchinhampton
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL6 9EY
01543 731227

September 2018

Good

yes

Resthaven 
Nursing Home
Pitcombe
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL6 6LS

01452 812682

September 2018

Good

yes

Richmond  Village
Stroud Road
Painswick
GL6 6UL

October 2017

Good

no

Page 143



01452 596280

The Elms
Elm Road
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 2NP

01453 824477

March 2018

Good

no

The Grange Care 
Centre
Bristol Road
Eastington
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 3RT

01453 791513

October 2018

Good

yes

Moreton Hill
Standish
Stonehouse
GL10 3BZ

01453 557358

February 2018

Good

yes

Henlow Court
1 Henlow Drive
Dursley
GL11 4BE

01453 545866

November 2017

Good

No

The Hollies Care 
Centre
Drake Lane
Dursley
GL11 5HA

01453 541400

September 2017

Good

Yes

Yercombe Lodge 
Care Home
Stinchcombe
Dursley
Gloucestershire
GL11 6AS

01453 542513

August 2017 No

Page 144



Kingswood Lodge 
Care Centre
Wotton Road
Wotton – under – 
Edge
Gloucestershire
GL12 8RA

01453 802509

May 2017

Good

No

Pennwood Lodge 
Nursing Home
Kingswood
Wotton –under – 
Edge 
Gloucestershire
GL12 8RA

01453 – 521522 
or 03339998598

August 2018

Requires 
Improvement

Only Residential 
Dementia

Breadstone Care 
Home with 
Nursing
Breadstone
Berkeley
Gloucestershire
GL13 9HG

01453 511059

May 2018

Good

yes

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



Due Regard Statement 

Please use this statement to evidence how ‘due regard to’ the three aims of the public sector equality duty has been made (section 
149 of the Equality Act 2010) during the development of the ‘policy’.1 

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by the ACT:
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do not share it; and
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic

Name of the ‘policy’: To  consider the future provision of care homes in Gloucestershire

Person(s) responsible for 
completing this statement

James Cawley

Briefly describe the activity being 
considered including aims and 
expected outcomes 

To seek Cabinet approval to close Southfield House and Wyatt House, Stroud and to consult with residents and 
their families on the impact of the care home closures.

All residents and/or their families were invited to the meeting facilitated by ASV on 26th June 2019.  The reports 
from ASV and Evolving Communities reflect the views of all residents and/or their families.  In addition to this, 
the Due Regard Statement includes data about the protected characteristics of those residents whose care is  
funded by the Council. The Council will review this Due Regard Statement as part of the overall consultation 
process for the residents and their families on the impact of the closures, including collecting further equality 
data regarding people who fund their own care at the two care homes

1 For ‘policy’: any new and existing policy, strategy, services, functions, work programme, project, practice and activity. This includes decisions about budgets, 
procurement, commissioning or de-commissioning services, service design and implementation.

P
age 147



Documenting use of sufficient information 
Please document below the data and information sources that you have used to understand the needs, participation and 
experiences of each protected group. Evidence must be gathered as the policy is developed and used to inform decisions.

Service user data

Service user data is an important source of evidence and should be collated as part of routine monitoring of in- house or external 
services. If service user data is not available record ‘not known’ and use the action plan to identify what improvement actions will be 
used to gather data going forward.

Service user diversity reports are available on our website and give an indication of service user participation across commissioning 
areas, for example adult residential services and youth services. It does not include participation data at individual service level.

Needs analysis 

Gloucestershire population demographics data is available to understand the representation of different protected groups across 
the county and help with needs analysis. Data like this may also be also useful for benchmarking to identify under or over 
representation of a service by any of the protected groups. For example, a service is open to all residents and from monitoring you 
know that 2% of service users are disabled: However, demographic data indicate that 16.7% of Gloucestershire residents report 
having a disability or long term limiting illness. This finding can be used  can be used  to explore if there are barriers to participation 
by residents with disabilities and how this can be addressed as part of the development of your ‘policy’.

Data gaps 

You may find that you have more information about some of the protected groups for example, gender, age, disability and less 
about others, for example, sexual orientation and religion and/or belief. If data is not available and you intend to start collating data 
about a protected characteristic please use the action plan to outline how this data will be collated. You can find equality monitoring 
guidance on our website including an equality monitoring template.

If you have no plans to start collating data about a protected characteristic please state the rational why.

P
age 148

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/112275/Reports
http://thisweek/index.cfm?articleid=17740
http://thisweek/index.cfm?articleid=18052


Service information (if applicable) or Needs analysis (if applicable)

Who is responsible 
for delivering the 
service?

Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP) and Orders of St John provide residential and nursing care at Wyatt House and 
Southfield House.    

Service user data/Needs analysis information

Age All residents at the two homes, whose care is funded by the Council, are aged over 60.

Wyatt House 
 43% are over 90 years of age
 38% are 80 – 90 years of age
 19% are 70 – 80 years of age

Southfield House
 57% are over 90 years of age
 43% are 80 – 90 years of age

Disability 
Wyatt House Care Home
0 % of people living at the care home and whose funding is provided by the Council have a registered disability recorded on their 
care plan held in the Care Home.   Whilst none of the residents have declared a disability, Wyatt House is registered for nursing 
care and, therefore, it is likely that some of the residents at the home have a disability within the definition of the Equalities Act 
2010.

Southfields Care Home
0% of people living at the care home and whose funding is provided by the Council have a registered disability recorded on their 
care plan held in the care home. However it is likely that some of the residents at the home have a disability within the definition 
of the Equalities Act 2010.

P
age 149



Sex Wyatt House Care Home

Of residents whose care is funded by the Council: 92% are women and 8% are men.

Southfields Care Home

Of residents whose care is funded by the Council: 72% are women and 28% are men.

Race (including 
Gypsy & Traveller)

Wyatt House Care Home 
 
Of residents whose care is funded by the Council: 100% are White British 

Not declared %

Southfields Care Home

Of residents whose care is funded by the Council: 100% are White British 

Gender reassignment Not declared

Marriage & civil 
partnership

Wyatt  House Care Home 

Of residents whose care is funded by the Council: 86% are married 
Of residents whose care is funded by the Council: 14% are spinsters

Southfields Care Home

Of residents whose care is funded by the Council: 78% are widowed
Of residents whose care is funded by the Council: 11% are bachelors 
Of residents whose care is funded by the Council: 11% are divorced 

Pregnancy & 
maternity

Considered not applicable as service users are aged over 60.

Religion or Belief Wyatt  House Care Home 
Of the residents living at the care home, whose care is funded by the Council, the highest percentage (33 %) state their religion 
is non practicing Christian.

P
age 150



Other information 

Workforce data

Please document details of GCC staff only if they will be affected by the proposed activity. This could include GCC staff transferring 
under TUPE to a new service provider, relocating, employment at risk.  GCC Workforce diversity reports are available on our 
website.

 If the proposed activity does not affect GCC staff, please state ‘Not affected below’.

Total number of 
GCC  staff affected 

No GCC staff are affected.

Consultation and engagement

List all types of consultation that has taken place during the development of this activity. Include on-line consultations, events, 
meetings with stakeholders, community events, employee consultation exercises etc

Southfields Care Home
Of the residents living at the care home, whose care is funded by the Council, the highest percentage (90%) do not state their 
religion.

Sexual Orientation Not declared at Wyatt House

Of residents whose care is funded by the Council, at Southfield House only 10% have declared their sexual orientation

P
age 151

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/112275/Reports


Service users The Council commissioned two organisations, ASV Research Ltd. and Evolving Communities to engage with residents and their 
families/representatives to understand and report on their views regarding the impact of the potential closures of Southfield House and 
Wyatt House. Each organisation provided their findings in the following two reports:

 ASV Research Ltd: “Gloucestershire County Council Care Homes in Stroud: Engagement Report
 Evolving Communities:  “Independent Engagement on the Potential Closure of Southfield House and Wyatt House, Stroud: A 

Residents and Relatives/Representatives’ Viewpoint of Likely Impact,

The report from ASV raised some key issues about the potential impact of the two care homes closing:

 Serious  concerns were expressed  over the impact on residents through breaking up friendship networks and resident to 
resident support built up over many months and years.

 Concern over disrupting the environments of frail and elderly people, many of whom have dementia and in the case of Wyatt 
House have very complex needs and comorbidities.

 Concern that moving people could lead to an early death.
 Any change to a new care home could remove the remaining connections to their “old life” and social networks..  

The report from Evolving Communities raised some key issues about the potential impact of the two care homes closing:

 There was an overwhelming sense that moving residents would have severe effects on both their physical and mental wellbeing.   
For many this affect was considered as serious as death, “I think it would kill my mother.” 

 One resident was described by a family member as already experiencing distress in response to reading the letter sent from 
GCC about the closure and others described current feelings of physical and mental stress.

 One resident felt strongly that they did not want to go anywhere else and that the closure would make them feel without a future.
 It was agreed that the Council need to consider the impact of not only the residents wellbeing, but that of relatives and 

representatives. 
 Many relatives/representatives had chosen Southfield House due to the proximity to their own home, as it was a short drive or 

walk away and this meant they were able to visit frequently
 It was agreed that the Council should consider that some residents may wish to be rehomed together as to preserve friendships 

and relationships.
 Relationships with outside staff and visitors was also talked about as being of great importance. 
 For the residents, having a named GP that knew them was vital, as well as relationships with the wider staff such as 

hairdressers, opticians, chiropodists and a clothes seller.
 A monthly church service was also mentioned as being of great importance to the residents.

The Evolving Communities report requested that:

P
age 152



I. Cabinet Members should consider the emotional and physical impact on both residents and their relatives/representatives both 
now and in the future, of any potential closure.

II. In the event that closures are agreed, GCC should consider and take into account current friendships and relationships between 
residents and staff in any relocation decision.

The Council through the proposed 1 to 1 meetings will discuss these issues with relatives and families.

The next stage in the consultation process will require the Council to consult with residents and their families on the impact of and 
arrangements for the closure of the Care Homes.  This will involve a consultation exercise which will  follow the principles of the 
Council’s, “Procedure for Managing the Closure of a Care Home Providing Services for Adults” which will involve:

 Face to Face meetings on an individual basis or with a group of residents and families for each care home – these meetings will 
provide an opportunity to explain the reasons for the closure of the care homes, the options available for people to move to an 
alternative care home, the likely timescale for the potential closures and to understand the needs of each individual resident.

 Meetings with The Orders of St John Care Trust employees - these meetings will explain the reasons for the closure of the care 
homes and the likely timescale for the closures. The relocation of employees and any other employment matters will be a matter for 
The Orders of St John Care Trust and their employees.

 Briefings for local Councillors - these meetings will explain the reasons for the closure of the care homes, the options available for 
residents to move to an alternative care home, the timescales and the wider care home issues for their constituents.

 Care Providers – these meetings will discuss the wider Care Home Strategy implications and opportunities for local care providers 
as a consequence of the care home closures.

Workforce Not Applicable

Partners There will be consultation with care providers adjacent to Southfield House and Wyatt House and with Gloucestershire Care Providers 
Association.

There will be consultation with other local authorities who may fund placements at the two care homes.
External 
providers of 
services

There will be consultation with Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group who fund the Funded Nursing Care element of nursing 
care home placements and Continuing Health Care placements.

There will be consultation with the local GP practice that supports Southfield House and Wyatt House 

P
age 153



Equality analysis: Summary of what the evidence shows and how has it been used
This section will allow you to outline how the evidence has been used to show ‘due regard’ to the three aims of the general equality 
duty. It is important that this consideration is thorough and based on sufficient information. Consideration should be relevant and 
proportionate. 

 Eliminate discrimination 
 Advance equality of opportunity 
 Promote good relations..

 
Protected group Challenge or opportunity considered and what we did

Age(A)
The ASV Research Ltd. report and the Evolving Communities report specifically identified some key themes which 
residents and their families raised about the impact of the proposed closures, as set out above.

Southfield House – summary of key issues raised by residents and their families

 Concerns about adverse effects of moving to a different care home on health, both emotional and physical, for 
residents and families.

 Concerns about being separated from friends and family, both within the home and externally.
 Relationships within the wider community, including hairdressers, opticians, chiropodists and a clothes seller.
 Accessibility to the monthly church service.
 The emotional impact of changes in personal care home costs.

Wyatt House – summary of key issues raised by residents and their families

 Concerns about adverse effects of moving to a different care home on health, both emotional and physical, of 
residents  (especially those who are frail and those with dementia) and their families 

P
age 154



 The potential for anxiety levels of residents to rise in a new environment, leading to a possible care issue.
 Concerns about being separated from friends and family, both within the home and externally.
 Concerns about being able to identify suitable alternative care for residents with complex needs.
 Future provision of dementia care in Stroud given the predicted rise in dementia cases nationally.
 The potential for the loss of focus on person-centred care.

The Council will be mindful of the impact that the relocation of older people from one care setting to another may 
have on the health and wellbeing for those residents and families with the protected characteristics.  This will include 
consideration of the comments which have already been made by the residents of the two homes and their families, 
as set out in this Due Regard Statement. 

The Council will, as part of the proposed consultation programme, continue to assess the impacts on residents and 
their families with the protected characteristics.  .  The Consultation Institute suggested that the Council will need to 
balance best practice consultation with its duty of care and make the process as quick as possible to ensure that the 
Council reduces the impact on residents and their families, where this is possible.    Everybody will be offered regular 
one to one meetings to discuss the impact on them and the options for a new home. Independent advocacy support 
will be provided to residents.

The Council’s, “Procedure for Managing the Closure of a Care Home Providing Services for Adults” highlights best 
practice that will be followed, if the decision is taken to close the two care homes, to mitigate the key issues raised by 
family and residents regarding the impact on them as a consequence of the care homes closing.

These best practice issues are:

 Importance of placing customers needs and wishes at the heart of care plans and consulting properly with 
service users and their families/carers.

 Maintaining continuity of care and relationships with staff wherever possible. 
 Involving existing staff as far as possible under the presenting circumstances will do much to allay anxiety in 

residents. 
 Moving staff and residents together (to minimise disruption). Wherever possible residents should not be 

separated from long term friends and/or staff. 
 Paying particular attention to the needs of people with cognitive impairments. 
 Providing adequate support for care managers (who may experience complex and stressful demands) 
 Consultation and discussion to improve people's sense of autonomy. 
 Visits to new accommodation before transfer 
 Allowing the maximum possible time to select a new care home 
 Emphasising potentially positive outcomes 

P
age 155



 Trying to reduce the amount of environmental change (moving people to physically similar places or services 
with a similar atmosphere) 

 Where providers require additional staff to cover an increase in placements they should give consideration to 
employing staff from the closing home as this would offer residents some continuity. 

 Allocating a key worker to be responsible for each person's care (with scope to visit the person in their old care 
home, get to know them, talk to staff and greet the resident as they arrive in their new care home). 

 Moving as much as possible of residents' familiar furniture with them 
 Providing particular support on the transfer day itself (for example, with familiar staff, family and close friends 

accompanying the person, a key worker to greet the person as they arrive, new staff knowledgeable in advance 
of the person's routines, encouraging residents to unpack themselves or seeing where everything is put and 
encouraging residents to talk about how they are feeling) 

 Robust care planning and communication to support people's preferred lifestyles in the new home
 Care planning and goal setting for care staff to help residents adjust (including spending as much time as 

possible with a new resident). 
 Care managers should contact relatives and identify what support they need 
 Standards of care and staffing levels should be maintained in the care home that is closing, familiar routines 

should continue and existing staff should be employed throughout the closure period where possible. 
 Attention to information governance and protection/secure transfer of personal information between providers 

including ensuring disposal of computerised and paper records as necessary. 

Disability (D) Wyatt House is registered for nursing care and therefore it is likely that some of the residents at the home have a 
disability within the definition of the Equalities Act 2010.  The considerations set out above will also apply in relation 
to those residents and their families with this protected characteristic.

Consultation carried out through one to one meetings on the impact of the care home closures will consider and seek 
to address any issues in relation to disabled residents at the two care homes and their families.

Given the age profile of many of the residents in Southfield House, it is likely that some of the residents at the home 
have a disability within the definition of the Equalities Act 2010.  Again, the considerations set out above will also 
apply.  

Consultation carried out through one to one meetings on the impact of the care home closures will consider and seek 
to address any issues in relation to disabled residents at the two care homes and their families.

Sex (S) There is a higher percentage of female residents at both Wyatt House and Southfield House, meaning the closure 
could potentially impact on female residents more than male residents. Any specific impact identified for women, or 

P
age 156



men, in relation to the care home closures will be discussed through the one to one meetings.

Race (including 
Gypsy & 
Traveller)(R))

Any aspect of the care home closures that have an impact in respect of this protected characteristic will be 
considered through the one to one meetings.

For those people for whom race data is not currently known, this will be discussed during the one to one meetings to 
ensure robust data is captured in relation to this protected characteristic.

Gender 
reassignment(GR)

Data about this protected characteristic in relation to residents of the two care homes service is not recorded. During 
the one to one meetings any potential impact of the care home closures on this protected characteristic will be 
discussed.

Marriage & civil 
partnership (MCP) Any impact of the care home closure that may affect a person’s marital or civil partnership position will be considered 

through the one to one meetings.

Pregnancy & 
maternity (PM)

Not applicable

Religion and/or 
Belief (RAOB)

During the engagement exercise with [Southfield House] residents and their families/representatives, accessibility to 
the monthly church service was highlighted.  

Any impact of the care home closure that may affect a person’s religion or belief will be considered through the one 
to one meetings.

Sexual 
Orientation(SO)

Data about this protected characteristic for residents of the two care homes is currently not recorded for most people. 
Discussion about this protected characteristic will form part of the one to one meetings and any impact identified will 
be discussed.

Strengthening actions: Planning for further improvements

P
age 157



Please outline here what actions are required for further improvements to address challenges or opportunities, for example:

 Arrangements for continued/new engagement with stakeholders, staff, service users
 Plans to close data gaps across any of the protected characteristics through reviewed contract management arrangements
 Identify other plans already underway to address the challenges or opportunities identified in this statement
 Share findings with partner organisations.

If none, state ‘none’ below.

Action Plan

Action Who is accountable Time frame
For those residents of the two care homes 
whose religion and beliefs and race and sexual 
orientation are not known, this will be discussed 
with them during the  meetings to ensure robust 
data is available in relation to these protected 
characteristics.

James Cawley 
1st August to 1st November 2019

Data pertaining to gender reassignment and 
marriage and civil partnership will also be 
discussed as part of the meetings to ensure 
robust data is available.

James Cawley  
1st August to 1st November 2019

The consultation should include the gathering of 
data in relation to the protected characteristics 
of those residents at both of the homes whose 
care is not funded by the Council.

James Cawley 1st August to 1st November 2019

Gloucestershire County Council’s Adult Social 
Care service will also look at ways to mitigate 
potential gaps in data relating to some of the 
protected characteristics for all future service 
users 

Kim Forey 6 month period –  onwards

P
age 158



Advocacy for individuals during consultation 
phase – additional general advocacy capacity 
will be commissioned to support all residents 
and their families to fully contribute to the 
consultation process.

This will involve additional advocacy spend to 
ensure advocacy to support those who cannot 
independently contribute to the consultation.

James Cawley 1st August to 1st NovemJuber

Monitoring and Review
Please indicate what processes/actions will be put in place to keep this ‘activity’ under review. For example will progress be 
monitored/ reported to a board, scrutiny committee, project board etc

A report will be presented to the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning on the feedback from residents, families and employees of The 
Orders of St John Care Trust regarding the potential impact on them as a consequence of the two care homes closing.

To monitor and review the Due Regard Statement during the consultation exercise to consider any further impacts on those with the protected characteristics.

Sign off and Scrutiny
By signing this statement off as complete you are confirming that ‘you’ have examined sufficient information across all the protected 
groups and used that information to show due regard to the three aims of the general duty. This has informed the development of 
the activity 

P
age 159



Senior level sign off:

Date: 19 July 2019

I am in agreement that sufficient information and analysis has been used to inform the development of this ‘activity’ and that any 
proposed improvement actions are appropriate and I confirm that I as the decision maker have been able to show due regard to the 
needs set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. 

Name of relevant Portfolio Holder/Cabinet Member: Cllr Roger Wilson

Signed by Portfolio Holder/Cabinet Member 

Date: 19 July 2019

Publication

If this statement accompanies cabinet paper it will be published as part of the cabinet report publication process. Statements 
accompanying cabinet reports are also published on our website. If this statement is not to be submitted with a cabinet paper 
please maintain a copy for your own records that can be retrieved for internal review and also in case of future challenge.

P
age 160



The Council will ensure that:
  Social workers and officers from the Council work with residents, families, friends and advocates to engage and hear their 

views and to understand the needs of each individual.
 Residents’ communication needs and an assessment of mental capacity will be taken into account.
 Easy read consultation documents will be available
 The consultation process is accessible to all those who want to participate.
 Staff member(s) are identified to take the lead role in supporting and providing relevant information to the residents and 

those who attend to ensure consistency in the change process.
 Social workers work with residents, families, friends and advocates to identify suitable alternate care homes and that meet 

the care needs of each resident. 
 Each resident will receive a revised needs assessment if requested.

 

P
age 161



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Call-in of Cabinet decision
	Call in notice
	Decisions Wednesday 24-Jul-2019 10.00 Cabinet
	Decision Report - Future Provision of Care Homes
	Annex 1 GCP Estate May 19 2
	Annex 2 Southfield Care Home CQC report august 2017
	Annex 3 Wyatt House CQC report July 2018
	Annex 4 Southfield and Wyatt House Resident and Carer Engagement Report
	Annex 5 Evolving Communities Engagement Report EC Final2
	Annex 6 Stroud Care Homes Data 01.07
	Due Regard Statement Future provision of Care Homes


